Learning How Older People Form Sense of Coherence through an Interpretation of Their Experiences of Decline and Serious Illness during a 30-Day Readmission:

An Interpretive Description

Rebecca Gagne Henderson Bachelor of Science in Nursing Master Degree in Nursing

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The candidate has already achieved 180 credits for assessment of taught modules within the blended learning PhD programme

August 2021

Faculty of Health and Medicine Lancaster University

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted for the award of a higher

degree elsewhere.

Acknowledgements

To my husband, Joseph Henderson. Without your love, wisdom, support, patience, and nagging I never would have been able to finish this thesis. You complete me.

To my daughter, Betsy Henderson. You have sacrificed having a mother who was not fully present for a long time. I love you and am proud of the woman you are becoming.

To my adult sons, daughters-in-law, and grandchildren. This marks our ability to have a normal family life. It will be fun.

To my late husband, Eugene Gagne. You helped me find my self-worth and potential. Your love will always be with me.

To my academic supervisors and mentors, Catherine Walshe PhD, and Carol Holland PhD. Your support and advice will be forever remembered and valued.

Finally, to Sally Thorne, Eric Cassell, Betty Ferrell and Aaron Antonovsky.

Your contributions and pioneering work in End-of-Life care and research have inspired me and untold thousands across the globe.

Abstract

Learning How Older People Form Sense of Coherence through an Interpretation of Their

Experiences of Decline and Serious Illness during a 30-Day Readmission:

An Interpretive Description

Background: Older people with multiple comorbidities and frailty are frequently and repeatedly readmitted to acute care hospitals within 30 days of their previous discharge from the hospital. This phenomenon takes a takes a toll upon their physical reserves and emotional stamina. These losses become serial at this time of life. As one ages there are experiences of serial losses of friends, family, other social support and physical independence. Such serial losses have been conceptualized by Antonovsky's "General Resistance Resources" and may also affect how one views the world as predictable and manageable, a so-called "Sense of Coherence". Understanding this Sense of Coherence in these patients may help prevent negative changes and help design appropriate interventions.

Literature Review: A systematically constructed literature review using an integrative design was conducted to understand the characteristics of older adults who are readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of their las discharge. PubMed, Embase and CINAHL were searched for peer reviewed published studies investigating 30-day readmissions of people aged 65+. Found studies (n=24) primarily used quantitative cohort designs (n=23). Frailty, co-morbid conditions, and polypharmacy were common. The single qualitative study (n=3 interviews) identified that lack of communication between healthcare providers may be a concern. Further qualitative enquiry is needed to explore this phenomenon in more depth.

Empirical Study: The purpose of the empirical study was to examine how 30-day readmissions, physical decline and serial losses may affect older people's Sense of Coherence. Using an Interpretive Description design, a purposive sample of people aged 65+ at the time of a current 30-day readmission to an academic U.S. hospital was recruited. Data were collected using semi-structured interviews. Directed Content Analysis was used to evaluate and interpret the data, using concepts from Sense of Coherence as *a priori* codes, supplemented by inductive coding.

Two new concepts were identified: Incomprehensibility and Devolving Sense of Coherence. These are new contributions to the theory of Salutogenesis and the construct of Sense of Coherence.

Sense of Coherence near the end-of-life differs greatly from Sense of Coherence for those who are healthy or living with mild illness. Participants who have Comprehensibility as a result of forthright communication appear to have better manageability than those with Incomprehensibility and poor communication regarding their disease processes and prognoses. When participants suffer serial losses with Incomprehensibility it may result in a Devolving Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background and Overview	1
1.2 Prevalence, Economics and Policy of 30-Day Readmissions	5
1.3 Palliative Care in the United States	8
1.4 Overtreatment at End of Life	9
1.5 Access and Payment for Palliative Care	10
1.6 Significance of the Research	11
1.7 Theoretical Framework and Methodology	11
Chapter 2. Literature Review	14
2.1 Introduction	14
2.2 Problem Identification and the Review Questions	14
2.3 The Integrative Review	15
2.3.1 Literature Search	16
2.3.2 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	17
2.4 Data Evaluation	20
2.5 Data Analysis	23
2.5.1 Data Reduction	23
2.6 Presentation of the Results	24
2.6.1 Sociodemographic Factors	26
2.6.1.1 Gender	26
2.6.1.2 Age	26
2.6.1.3 Ethnicity	26
2.6.1.4 Socioeconomics	27
2.6.1.5 Living Situation	27

2.6.1.6 Experiences	
2.6.2 Systemic Factors	28
2.6.2.1 Utilization	29
2.6.2.2 Length of Stay	29
2.6.2.3 Discharge Location	30
2.6.2.4 Insurance	30
2.6.3 Physiological Factors	31
2.6.3.1 Disease	31
2.6.3.2 Frailty	32
2.6.3.3 Comorbidity Factors	33
2.6.3.4 Nutrition	33
2.6.3.5 Mental Illness	33
2.6.4 Pharmaceutical Factors	34
2.6.4.1 Polypharmacy and High-Risk Medication Exposure	34
2.6.5 What is Missing: The Qualitative Data	34
2.7 Interpretation	35
2.7.1 Sociodemographics	35
2.7.1.1 Gender	35
2.7.1.2 Living Situation	36
2.7.1.3 Ethnicity, Socioeconomics, and Systemic Interrelated Factors	37
2.7.2 Physiological Factors	
2.8 Importance of Data	
2.8.1 United States Compared to International Data	
2.9 Discussion	40
2.9.1 Comparison of U.S. to International Results	41

2.9.2 Strengths	41
2.9.3 Limitations	42
2.10 Conclusion	43
Chapter 3. Theoretical Underpinnings	44
3.1 Introduction	44
3.2 Underpinnings	44
3.2.1 Paradigmatic and Philosophical Underpinnings	44
3.2.2 Qualitative Research as a Paradigm	44
3.2.3 Epistemological Perspective	45
3.2.4 Ontological Perspective	45
3.2.5 Theoretical Perspectives	46
3.2.6 Theory, Methodology or Method	47
3.2.6.1 Paradigm	47
3.2.6.2 Theory	47
3.2.6.3 Methodology	
3.2.6.4 Method/Approach	
3.3 Interpretive Description	49
3.3.1 Flexibility	51
3.3.2 Critique of Interpretive Description	
3.3.3 Use of Interpretive Description in the Literature	53
3.3.4 The Disciplinary Question	54
3.3.5 Interpretive Description Analysis	55
3.3.6 Palliative Care and Goals of Palliative Care Nursing	56
3.3.7 Acquiring Knowledge	57
3.3.8 Adequate Knowledge	

3.3.9 Enhancing Credibility and Trustworthiness	59
3.3.10 Knowledge Integration and Transferability	60
3.3.10.1 The Use of Outcomes	61
3.4 Theoretical Framework	62
3.4.1 Expansion of Sense of Coherence	64
3.4.1.1 Researching the Development of Sense of Coherence	65
3.4.1.2 Researching Change in Sense of Coherence	65
3.5 Summary	66
Chapter 4. The Auditable Logic Design	68
4.1 Introduction	68
4.2 Purpose of the Research	68
4.3 Research Question	68
4.4 Objectives	69
4.5 Sample	70
4.5.1 The Sample Universe	70
4.5.2 Sample Size	71
4.5.3 Strategy for Recruiting the Sample	71
4.5.4 Sample Sourcing – Non-Researcher Recruiter	73
4.5.5 Consent	73
4.6 Data Collection	74
4.6.1 Semi-structured Interviews	74
4.6.2 Demographic Data	76
4.7 Sorting, Organization of the Data and Data Analysis	77
4.7.1 Sorting and Organizing the Data	77
4.7.2 A Priori Codes from Sense of Coherence, Overarching Themes, Sub- Themes, and Associated Codes	80

4.7.3 Writing the Findings and Interpretive Description	
4.8 Ethics and Institutional Approval	83
4.8.1 Vulnerable Population Risk and Minimizing Risk	83
4.8.2 Interview/Risk and Minimizing Risk	83
4.8.3 Capacity	84
4.8.4 Confidentiality	84
4.9 Representative Credibility	85
4.10 Institutional Research Approval	86
4.10.1 Yale University Institutional Review Board	
4.10.2 Lancaster University FMREC	86
4.11 Summary	
Chapter 5. Findings	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Participants	
5.2.1 Physical Characteristics	
5.2.2 Pharmacological Factors	90
5.3 Study Findings	
5.3.1 Overarching Themes, Sub-Themes, Associated Codes and New Unique Theme	92
5.3.2 Findings from Interview Content Analysis	
5.3.3 Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility	
5.3.4 Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of the Overarching Theme of Comprehensibility	101
5.3.4.1 Directed Communication Comprehensibility and Associated Codes	101
5.3.4.1.1 Continuity in Message	

5.3.4.1.2 Big Picture Conversation	103
5.3.4.1.3 Intellect/Education	104
5.3.4.2 Intuitive Comprehensibility and Associated Codes	105
5.3.4.2.1 Acceptance	106
5.3.4.2.2 Getting Weaker/Sicker	107
5.3.4.2.3 Treatment Failure	108
5.3.4.2.4 Insight	109
5.3.5 Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of the Overarching Theme of Incomprehensibility	110
5.3.5.1 Directed Communication Incomprehensibility	110
5.3.5.1.1 Big Picture Conversation: Unclear	111
5.3.5.1.2 Low Health Literacy	111
5.3.5.1.3 Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine	112
5.3.6 Intuitive Incomprehensibility	113
5.3.6.1 Avoidance	114
5.3.6.2 Denial	115
5.3.6.3 Lack of Insight	116
5.4 The Relationships Between Themes	117
5.4.1 Manageability, Meaningfulness and the Overarching Themes	117
5.4.2 Associated Codes for Manageability and Comprehensibility	118
5.4.2.1 Being Cared for with Comprehensibility	118
5.4.2.2 Resources	119
5.4.2.3 Lack of Resources	119
5.4.2.4 Caring for Others	120
5.4.3 Manageability and Incomprehensibility	121
5.4.3.1 Being Cared for with Incomprehensibility	121

5.4.4 The Theme of Meaningfulness	121
5.5 The Overarching Theme of Devolving Sense of Coherence	122
5.6 Summary	125
Chapter 6. Discussion	126
6.1 Introduction and Important Findings	126
6.1.1 Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility at the End of Life	126
6.1.2 Devolving Sense of Coherence at the End-of-Life	127
6.2 Existing Literature Regarding Sense of Coherence and End-of-Life	127
6.2.1 Antonovsky, Sense of Coherence and Growing Old	128
6.3 Implications and Recommendations	130
6.3.1 An Extended Interpretation of Sense of Coherence and Devolving Sense of Coherence at the End-of-Life	130
6.3.2 Incomprehensibility and Comprehensibility	130
6.3.3 Bioethical Implications	131
6.3.4 Policy	131
6.4 Clinical Practice and Academic Curriculum	132
6.4.1 Increased Resources for EOL Communication by Skilled Clinicians	132
6.4.2 Interventions to Move from Incomprehensibility to Comprehensibility	133
6.4.3 Palliative Nursing and Sense of Coherence—A New Model for Nursing	133
6.5 Strengths and Limitations	133
6.5.1 Limitations	133
6.5.2 Strengths	134
6.6 Reflexivity and Interpretive Description	134
6.6.1 Overtreatment and Crossing the River Styx – An Observation	136

6.7 Summary	
References	
Appendix 1: PubMed and CINAHL MeSH Terms	
Appendix 2: EMBASE Keywords	
Appendix 3: CASP Checklist	
Appendix 4: CASP/Whittemore Quality Table	
Appendix 5: Data Extraction Form	
Appendix 6: Literature Review All Data Table	
Appendix 7: Capacity	
Appendix 8: Participant Information Sheet	
Appendix 9: Consent Form	
Appendix 10: Interview Guide	
Appendix 11: Pro Forma	
Appendix 12: Analytic Process	
Appendix 13: Yale IRB Protocol Application	
Appendix 14: Yale Letter of Approval	
Appendix 15: FHMREC Letter of Approval	
Appendix 16: Full List of Codes	
Glossary	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria.	. 18
Table 2.2. Integrative Review Quality Criteria	21
Table 2.3. Data Display	. 24
Table 3.1. Credibility and Trustworthiness Criteria	60
Table 4.1. Process of Purposive Sampling	. 70
Table 4.2. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	.71
Table 5.1. Demographic Characteristics of Sample	. 91
Table 5.2. Results of Deductive Analysis with Code Frequency	. 92

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. PRISMA	20
Figure 3.1. Paradigm hierarchy 4	7
Figure 3.2. The interplay between Resistance Resources (Mittelmark, Bull, & Bouwman, 2017; Mittelmark, Bull, Daniel, et al., 2017)	53
Figure 4.1. Recruitment process using Joint Data Analytics Team Report (JDAT)7	'2
Figure 4.2. Step model of deductive category application (Mayring, 2000)	19
Figure 5.1. Results of recruitment for interviews	<i>•</i> 0
Figure 5.2. Comprehensibility	13
Figure 5.3. Incomprehensibility)4
Figure 5.4. Devolving sense of coherence)5
Figure 5.5. Relationships between overarching themes with Manageability and Meaningfulness	.8

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Background and Overview

My recent observations as a palliative care nurse practitioner in an acute care hospital sparked an interest in the area of study for this thesis. There I observed very sick older people coming into the hospital with frailty and chronic progressive diseases. These patients frequently received what I perceived to be overtreatment, sometimes referred to as overdiagnosis (Armstrong, 2018; Jenniskens et al., 2017). Overtreatment are "instances in which the diagnosis is correct according to current standards but the diagnosis and associated treatment has a low probability of benefitting the patient, and may instead be harmful" (Armstrong, 2018). This overtreatment would often result in further physical decline. This decline results in the patient becoming more deconditioned then when first admitted to the hospital. These same individuals were then often readmitted to the hospital within a very short period of time. It was apparent that further exploration of this phenomenon was needed to learn the effect on patients from the patient perspective, and potentially find ways to avoid the phenomenon of frequent readmissions to the hospital. This thesis endeavours to help further understanding of this problem.

Early in my career during my first year as a hospice nurse, I went to admit a patient who lived in a skilled nursing facility in the long-term care unit. This was a 96-year-old woman with advanced dementia. She was non-ambulatory, incontinent, with severe lower and upper limb contractures, and had a parenteral feeding tube in her abdomen. She had tested positive for resistant strains of Staph Aureus in her urine and E.coli at her feeding tube site. Over the course of the previous three months the patient had two hospitalizations which included a three-week Intensive Care Unit stay whilst being treated for Methicillin-Resistant Staph Aureus Pneumonia. She was returned to her facility and returned to the Intensive Care Unit less than a month later with Vancomycin Resistant Enterococci sepsis. She returned to her facility and the next day whilst receiving incontinence care during positioning an attendant heard and felt a snap in her hip. The staff sent her to the emergency department where it was determined she had suffered a hip fracture. The emergency doctor refused to admit her and sent her back to the hospital with a referral to hospice.

At that time, I conducted a goals of care discussion with the husband who agreed it was time to stop artificial nutrition and hydration. When I told the nurse in charge, she frantically blocked the door and loudly told me that I was murdering the patient. After some amount of discussion through tear blurred eyes, she said "I guess the best thing would have been to never start the tube feeds"

I once had a patient with end stage renal disease who was frail and had congestive heart failure and had refused haemodialysis. She requested to go home with hospice. A young and zealous nephrologist convinced her that she would benefit from the dialysis. When asked "What do you think you accomplished by changing her mind?", his response was "I saved her life". So, we find ourselves in an environment of overtreatment which oftentimes is accompanied suffering (Armstrong, 2018; Druml & Druml, 2019; Hoffman, 2017; Jenniskens et al., 2017). I have no idea how the patient faired after the start of haemodialysis, but we do know the average life expectancy after the start of dialysis in this population averages 2.5 years. We also know that such patients report a significant decrease in quality of life and functional status (Ifudu et al., 1994; Wong et al., 2012)

This thesis arose from this, and similar experiences, as I witnessed the result of overtreatment of very sick older patients who receive procedures and treatment that are unlikely to make them physically whole and will probably decrease their quality of life (Casarett et al., 2020; Hoffman,

2017). These same patients were discharged only to return with a subsequent infection or other complications within days to weeks.

As an inpatient palliative care provider, I perceived resistance from other providers and nurses regarding the de-escalation of care for such patients. There seemed to be a failure to reflect upon the meaning of this furthered weakness, and so, the cycle repeated. This is a phenomenon that Hillman dubbed "The Western Medicine Conveyor Belt" (Hillman et al., 2015). Often regardless of the patient's advanced illness or frailty they are provided the care based on the "standard of care" without considering the risks and benefits to the seriously ill or frail patient.

In addition, I was greatly influenced by the writings of Eric Cassell. He has written many insightful books and articles regarding the relationships between providers and the very sick (Cassell, 1976, 2004; Cassell, 2005; Cassell, 2009; Cassell et al., 2001). These writings include the power structure of such relationships. Also, he muses regarding the differences in communication abilities of the very sick. His work has formed my practice and ideas that led to this thesis (Cassell, 1985; Cassell, 2005; Cassell, 2009; Cassell, 2012, 2016; Cassell et al., 2001).

Many of these patients are suffering, vulnerable, and lack insight regarding their circumstances (He et al., 2016). Frequent hospital admissions take a toll upon the patients' physical reserves (Timmer, 2014). Also, these admissions affect the patients' ability to manage and cope with their circumstances. There is variability in how these sick and older patients respond to serious illness in regard to a loss of function, symptoms, frequent encounters with the medical system, and changes in how they engage with the world based on the amount of social support received, socio-economic status, level of anxiety, depression, and countless other factors.

The seriously ill older population often require frequent hospitalizations prior to the realization of the healthcare team or the patient and family realizing the need for palliative care. Frequent hospitalizations are referred to as 30-day readmissions in the United States (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2012, 2016). This thesis focuses upon 30-day readmissions and their effects on the older and seriously ill. It is important to note that frequent readmissions of the seriously ill older population is an international problem. However, this thesis and study are decidedly U.S. centric as the healthcare financing and punitive policy for 30-day readmissions are largely unique to the U.S. (He et al., 2016; Mather et al., 2015).

These patients consent to such treatment because they are often unaware they have other choices (Thorsteinsdottir et al., 2013). These choices are consideration of accepting these treatments in total, or to partially accept certain parts of the recommendations from the healthcare team. The patient may choose comfort care, which is to live with their condition and accept only treatment that will improve their comfort and quality of life, and to allow a natural death (Chen & Younger, 2008; Keleman & Groninger, 2018).

There are contributing factors as to why the conveyor belt phenomenon occurs. The least cynical of these is that providers believe they are behaving benevolently (Fried et al., 2003; Jeffs et al., 2014). One such factor includes an asymmetry of power within the patient provider relationship (Cassell, 2005; Ploug & Holm, 2015), and consent is often obtained without any exploration of the patient's values and wishes for their lives (Chavez et al., 2018; Dilworth et al., 2012). Overtreatment will be discussed further in this chapter.

This chapter includes a review of the history of 30-day readmissions, and the associated economics, prevalence, policy and the systemic and demographic issues affecting 30-day

readmissions. In addition, a brief review of palliative care and hospice in the United States is presented. This is for the purposes of describing how palliative care and hospice is different than many other models internationally. It will also discuss the theory and methodology chosen for this thesis.

1.2 Prevalence, Economics and Policy of 30-Day Readmissions

The policies regarding 30-day readmissions to the hospital and the prevalence of these readmissions are discussed in this section The chapter includes a presentation of how economic and healthcare policy influence systemic issues regarding 30-day readmissions of older adults. Whilst the phenomenon of frequent and early readmissions has been occurring within the older population for decades and intensive efforts to decrease this phenomenon have been mildly successful, the likelihood of these numbers increasing in the United States are good. This will be further examined.

The prevalence of thirty-day readmissions for older people has decreased over the last two decades. The Readmission Reduction Program incited many interventions, and healthcare delivery changes in an attempt to avoid penalties. In the year 2013, the rate of older adults who were discharged from an acute care hospital were readmitted to an acute care hospital within 30 days in the United States for this population was 16%. Five years later, in 2019 this number decreased to 15%. annually (Arias-Casais et al., 2019). These are many of the very sickest patients in the U.S. Whilst at first glance this seems to be an improvement, it is known that older adults with multiple comorbidities have the greatest number of frequent readmissions which drives more than half of all health care costs in the United States and these costs continue to grow (Meier, 2015).

In the United States this population of older adults is expected to be larger than the population of children by 2030 (Vincent & Velkoff, 2010). Between the years 2010 and 2050 there is an anticipation of a growth of 42 percent in the U.S. (Vincent & Velkoff, 2010). A population of those over 65 years was 310 million in 2010, to a prediction of 439 million worldwide by 2030 (Vincent & Velkoff, 2010). With the anticipation of a population of people over the age of 65 years reaching 61 million in the U.S. by the year 2030. the U.S. health care system must address the problem of 30-day readmissions (Knickman, 2002). These are important data, as the driving force of U.S. policy are frequently financial concerns. Left unchecked, the number of these 30-day readmissions will grow in proportion with the increase of the ageing population. The United States ageing population increase is consistent with predictions regarding the world population. The number of older people is expected to increase by 60% over the next 10 years (He et al., 2016). Understanding how we can better care for and manage this onslaught of an ageing population is necessary to meet the populations needs in a sustainable manner.

This study will focus on the experiences of serious illness of older people during a 30-day readmission in the United States. The healthcare system in the United States has a unique and convoluted payment system with penalties, benefits and access that differs from most of the world. In 2010, as part of the passage of the Affordable Care Act, the Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Services began to study the ramifications (McIlvennan et al., 2015). Understanding how we can better care for and manage the anticipated onslaught of an ageing population is necessary to meet this groups needs in a sustainable manner.

In addition to these systemic issues, there are other contributing factors to 30-day readmissions which are beyond the control of the patients. These issues include insurance, utilization of services, as well as disease burden, frailty, socioeconomic class and ethnicity (Enguidanos et al., 2012;

Whitney, 2016). This information is important as the U.S. Medical System relies upon fiscal outcomes to determine policy.

The social and demographic issues regarding 30-day readmissions are intricate. The policies which affect healthcare access and resources are controlled by many separate bureaucratic institutions, such as health care settings, third-party payers (private insurance companies), the Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Service regulations, housing authorities, and other resources.

As an example, the type of insurance an older person has provides insight as to the amount of access the participant has to healthcare. Those with dual coverage have Medicare, which is the "socialized" medical insurance for older and disabled Americans, as well as Medicaid, which is a "safety-net" healthcare insurance provided to low-income individuals. Medicare insurance requires co-payments from individuals for their health services, whilst Medicaid does not require such co-payments. Medicare-advantage is a managed care program which older patients may choose to decrease or eliminate their co-payments for their regular visits than if they have "feefor-service" Medicare.

There is a great deal of literature on the underutilization and lack of access to palliative care (Enguidanos et al., 2012). Also, there is evidence of inadequate prognostication and communication, which is an area of speciality of palliative care (Chang et al., 2014; Enguidanos et al., 2012; Hancock et al., 2007). There is also evidence of positive outcomes for patients who receive palliative care who have a serious illness which includes a reduction in 30-day readmissions (Gagne-Henderson et al., 2017). The following section further discusses palliative care in the United States.

1.3 Palliative Care in the United States

In 1981, the Medicare Hospice Benefit was written and passed by the U.S. Congress and signed into law (Conner, 2007). This allowed Medicare beneficiaries to elect hospice services in exchange for their hospitalization benefits. Hospice is an active choice and must be elected by the patient or the family if the patient does not have capacity. This means that beneficiaries must agree not to return to the hospital. Hospice is not provided in the hospital as hospice is paid for by the hospital benefit. Some hospices lease beds from hospitals so as not to have to precariously move the imminently dying. Most hospice care in the U.S. is provided in the patients' homes.

In 2018 only 53.8% of all eligible individuals elected the hospice benefit (National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization, 2020). Many people continued to spend the end of their lives in the hospital setting. We know that approximately 80% of Americans would prefer to die at home (Stanford, 2020), yet only 30.7% achieve this goal (Cross & Warraich, 2019). Other sites of death include skilled nursing facilities (20.8%), hospice facilities (8.3%), and hospitals (29.8%. In the U.S. there is an axiom that "hospice is a program, not a place". There are very few hospice facilities and most hospice is delivered in the patient's home or nursing facility. The term palliative care entered the U.S. medical lexicon as a response to the need for alternatives to hospice (Meghani, 2003). Hospice is intended only for patients in the last 6 months of their lives as attested to by two physicians (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2008). Palliative care may be received at any time during the trajectory of an illness (Center to Advance Palliative Care, 2011). Inpatient hospital-based palliative care programs were established with the recognition that few patients were opting for hospice and that patients were dying with overtreatment and a high symptom burden in the hospital (Center to Advance Palliative Care, 2011; Meghani, 2003). Many of these patients were those who received aggressive, overtreatment until their deaths (Armstrong, 2018;

Druml & Druml, 2019; Handforth et al., 2014; Hoffman, 2017; Ifudu et al., 1994; Jenniskens et al., 2017; Thorsteinsdottir et al., 2013).

An additional benefit to those who are referred for hospice is that they are mandated to receive access to a full interdisciplinary team as well as access to a 13-month bereavement programme (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2008). Frequently, patients do not die in their preferred place is due to the lack of planning and end-of-life discussions (Agar et al., 2008). These additional benefits are not typically available through palliative care whilst they are mandated in the hospice regulations (Centers for Medicare and Medicare and Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2008).

1.4 Overtreatment at End of Life

Overtreatment is considered treatments and interventions that have little to no benefit to the patient. It is also associated with treatment which are performed upon the patient to which the patient is not fully informed (Noah & Feignson, 2017). Amongst the lack of information include values, quality of life and goals of the patient. If fully informed consent is achieved it may be learnt the patient would not choose such interventions for themselves (Armstrong, 2018; Druml & Druml, 2019; Hoffman, 2017). Overtreatment is closely associated with what is known as overuse of medical services (Brownlee et al., 2014). As well as treatments and interventions, the concept of overuse of medical services also includes polypharmacy and hospitalizations. It is important to clarify that patients often receive overtreatment with full consent which is their right. More work regarding the offering of such treatment to patients needs to be done on the bio-ethical level as well as the more utilitarian aspect of wasted resources.

These circumstances are manifested to the greatest extent in Intensive Care Units, where most patients are sedated and placed on artificial life. These are the very sickest patients in the hospital (Cassell, 2005; Druml & Druml, 2019; Hoffman, 2017). In addition, it is known that being very ill in and of itself impairs the ability to communicate (Cassell et al., 2001). In turn, this inability to communicate leaves surrogate decision makers to make choices without the patient's involvement or consent (Verceles & Bhatti, 2018). It is known that surrogate decision makers frequently do not understand the wishes of the patient and this may create a greater risk of overtreatment (Perkins, 2007; Whitlatch et al., 2009).

1.5 Access and Payment for Palliative Care

There is greater access to non-hospice palliative care during the time the patient is in the hospital. As of 2019 in-patient palliative care is currently available at 72% of all U.S. hospitals (Morrison, 2013). There are increasing numbers of outpatient services available in the form of ambulatory care clinics at large academic centres and large non-profit medical centres (Meier & Beresford, 2008; Rabow et al., 2013). The remaining gap in care for the palliative specialty in the United States are those services which are delivered in the community in the home of the patient (Kamal et al., 2013). Currently, Medicare will pay for visiting nursing services in the home for patients requiring skilled nursing needs who are not hospice patients. If the patient continues to elect aggressive treatment and does not have a skilled nursing need and does not choose hospice, they lose their home nurse. Medicare does not provide specialized home palliative care other than for those who elect to forego curative measures and choose the hospice benefit. There is no specialized palliative care routinely available to patients in their home (Kamal et al., 2013).

With the recognition of the millions of homebound patients who would benefit from palliative care there are efforts to increase access to palliative care in the home (Landers, 2016; Leff et al., 2015). Currently, there are estimates that four million Americans are homebound and unable to leave their

place of residence to seek primary or palliative care (Leff et al., 2015). There have been some efforts to provide palliative care to nursing home residents (Lima & Miller, 2018; Stone et al., 2019). This is likely because of the ease of seeing more than one patient at a time in a facility. Whether in their own homes or in nursing homes, access to palliative care remains a challenge in the U.S. for these patients.

1.6 Significance of the Research

There is a paucity of evidence describing the experiences of older adults facing 30-day readmissions which will be discussed further in Chapter 2. Understanding the perspective of older adults' experiences of 30-day readmissions may lead to better interventions to improve outcomes. There is a need for qualitative inquiry regarding this phenomenon. Asking older adults what they have experienced, feel and need regarding 30-day readmissions will prove valuable, not only in the possible prevention of 30-day readmissions but also in the prevention of the emotional, physical and psychological costs this population currently endures. The next section will discuss the adaptation of the theoretical framework of the thesis.

1.7 Theoretical Framework and Methodology

The thesis is focused upon how factors related to 30-day readmissions may affect one's Sense of Coherence as they experience a loss of function, independence and other General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987).

As such, Antonovsky's construct of Sense of Coherence is the theoretical framework for this thesis (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). This study will seek to learn about how older people form their Sense of Coherence in the presence of serious illness and increasing debility. This is accomplished

through listening to experiences during a 30-day readmission and their lives outside of the hospital. From the perspective of palliative care, the primary approach to understanding circumstances is achieved by qualitative interviewing and listening to patients' perceptions and experiences. This is the theoretical thread which binds this thesis together. The results of this thesis may inform clinicians of how they might better help older people gain an understanding of what is happening to them and to intervene in a manner that will help prevent the phenomenon of 30-day readmissions and form a healthy Sense of Coherence.

As a palliative care nurse, it is difficult to disregard prior knowledge from the perspective of the discipline of palliative care nursing. The selected methodology of Interpretive Description encourages the use of prior knowledge from one's discipline. In her methodology, Thorne describes nursing as an integration of the social sciences and the biomedical sciences (Thorne, 2008, 2016). Palliative Nursing's *raison d'etre* is the "amelioration of human distress, the accommodation of frailty, to counter personal vulnerabilities, and to make meaningful sense of the indignities which are caused by the failures of our bodies and minds" (Thorne, 2008, 2016). These palliative nursing goals support the use of Sense of Coherence as the theoretical framework of this thesis.

How these frameworks, methodologies, and concepts relate to this study and one another will be more fully developed in Chapter 3, as it addresses the methodology and the theoretical framework. The framework, Sense of Coherence, was chosen to explore the participants' strengths and needs through their own words to help learn more about the experiences of those encountering 30-day readmissions. Asking older adults what they have experienced, feel and need regarding 30-day readmissions may prove valuable. Valuable, not only in the possible prevention of 30-day readmissions, but also in helping this population avoid the emotional, physical and psychological perspectives distress of serious illness by understanding how they form their Sense of Coherence. Without the inclusion of their voices, effective interventions that are patient centred cannot be effectively accomplished. This thesis will address the lack of qualitative data regarding older Americans experiencing 30day readmissions.

This study does not seek to provide an intervention, rather it will lead to evidence and insight of why these readmissions occur. This is accomplished by learning more about the experiences of the older population with serious illness as they are interviewed during a 30-day readmission and seeks to learn of the ways the participants form their Sense of Coherence.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

The literature review is presented in this chapter. This review is the result of a search to capture a comprehensive and diverse range of studies examining 30-day readmissions in older adults. The purpose of this review was to learn as much about this subject that was available about older adults and 30-day readmissions. The intent was to learn the characteristics of such patients, why they were being readmitted, what led to the readmission and how they coped with being readmitted to the hospital within 30-days of their last discharge. This information was sought to inform the empirical study of this thesis.

The first section includes a description of the problem and the review questions. An explanation of the integrative review approach and how it was employed is presented in the second section. The third section will be a presentation of the results. An interpretation of the findings follows in the fourth section. A discussion of the strengths, limitations, and implications of the review for the empirical study concludes the chapter.

2.2 Problem Identification and the Review Questions

The purpose of problem identification is to present an issue that requires investigation (Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005). This section shows the problems explored in this review and the questions posed.

The Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Services defines a 30-day readmission as an unplanned admission for any reason to any acute care hospital within 30 days of discharge (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2016). As described in the first chapter, older people readmitted to the hospital often results in further physical decline and suffering (Druml & Druml, 2019; He et al., 2016; Ifudu et al., 1994; Timmer, 2014; Wong et al., 2012). This phenomenon is known as "Hospital Associated Deconditioning" (Falvey & Stevens-Lapsley, 2015; Kortebein, 2009). It has been established that the cost of readmission of this older population is overwhelming the healthcare system and is unsustainable (Meier, 2015). The study of the factors associated with 30-day readmissions may lead to understanding and prevention of this phenomenon.

As described above thirty-day readmissions have been recognized to be of concern and a problem to health care system stakeholders and the patients which the system serves. One of the purposes of this review is to understand overarching themes related to 30-day readmissions of older persons in order enter the research field with a comprehensive knowledge of the issue. Another purpose of the review is to validate and assure that the thesis study is grounded upon existing knowledge of the phenomenon and that the thesis study sample is appropriate.

The question for this literature review is "What factors contribute to readmission to a hospital within 30 days of discharge for people who are over 65"? This question informs the thesis study by identifying the reasons for 30-day readmissions and shedding light upon the characteristics of who these patients are, and their needs to prevent further readmissions. This question aims to reveal the continued unmet needs of this population and justifies further investigation. In addition, this question may give insight as to how the health care system may intervene earlier with palliative care or other interventions to better serve this population.

2.3 The Integrative Review

The Integrative Review method was chosen as it allows consideration of data using varying research methods, as well as an interpretive analysis of the findings (Whittemore & Knafl, 2005).

The use of diverse forms of knowledge is important to not just interpret quantitative data in the review but to also include the qualitative experiences of the person affected by the 30-day readmission. Without this diverse knowledge it is not possible to fully understand the significance of this phenomenon, not just to the health care systems' stakeholders, but equally important, to the patient experiencing the 30-day readmission.

This review design was informed by the work of Cooper (1984) and Whittemore and Knafl (2005) regarding the integrative review. There are five stages in the creation of an integrative review. The process for the integrative review involves a problem formulation stage, a literature search stage, a data evaluation stage, a data analysis stage, and a presentation stage. The first of these is problem identification, which is described in the previous section of this chapter. The remaining steps of the integrative review will be explained further as the chapter progresses (Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005).

2.3.1 Literature Search

The second stage in the integrative review is the literature search stage (Cooper, 1984; Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005). The literature search began with the development of a search strategy which included the following components:

- Determine the type of literature to include
- Determine inclusion/exclusion criteria
- Determine search keywords, terms, and MeSH terms
- Determine databases to be searched
- Review collected articles and apply criteria

A search for all peer-reviewed journal articles related to 30-day hospital readmissions of adults over the age of 65 was conducted. The decision to limit data to peer-reviewed journals was made to ensure that only primary evidence applicable to the association and causality of readmissions were captured. While grey literature was considered, it was ultimately excluded as there is the possibility of political and social agendas that may influence the data presented therein.

This search included research for the years of 2010 to the present. This range was chosen as 2010 was the first year the U.S. Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Services began piloting and developing the Hospital Readmission Reduction Program (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2016).

2.3.2 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion and exclusion criteria for the literature review are presented in Table 2.1. Specific diseases were excluded as they may be planned admissions for surgery, or unforeseen accidents occurring within 30 days of the last discharge. Also, the review purpose was to examine non-disease specific reasons for 30-day readmissions and sought broader data.

The age of 65 and older was decided upon as this is the age that older people become eligible for the Medicare benefit in the U.S.A. The relevance of 30-day readmissions in the U.S.A. becomes most concerning for this population as patients over the age of 65 years have a 1.5 odds ratio of being readmitted to the hospital (Berry et al., 2018). Also, the Healthy People 2020 report published by the Centre of Disease Control uses this age to identify define older people (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). Also, 65 years is the age used to describe older people in the report by The Common Wealth Fund describing the high cost of care in the U.S.A., and the International Report describing world trends in aging (Hayes, 2016; He et al., 2016). The

United Nations uses the age of 65 years to report on aging trends internationally (United Nations,

2020). The decision to use this age for the literature review was made as there is evidence that this

is an accepted classification of old age, and it is relevant to the empirical study population.

Table 2.1

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
Research from peer-reviewed journals	Research regarding readmission due to specific disease or procedure (i.e., All hip Surgeries, All Congestive Heart Failure patients) as they relate to 30-day readmissions.
All research designs	Evaluation or validation of interventions or tools related to 30-day readmissions
Research regarding people 65 years and older with a 30-day readmission	Abstracts for conferences
English language articles	Abstracts for presentations
Reports dated 2010 to present	Studies that include all ages not disaggregated for 65 years or older.
	Articles recommending or evaluating policy
	Reports
	Systematic Reviews

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

2.3.2.1 Databases. The databases searched were PubMed, CINAHL, EMBASE. PubMed was chosen as it is the most extensive database and would result in the most considerable number of articles. CINAHL was searched to retrieve a higher number of nursing and allied health perspectives, creating a more interdisciplinary perspective. EMBASE was chosen to ensure that articles regarding high-risk drug exposure and polypharmacy articles would be included.

A list of medical subject headings (MeSH), subject terms, and keywords were established and documented for each database searched (Appendices 1, 2). PubMed and CINAHL were searched using variations of the MeSH terms for "older adults, debility" using OR and the second MeSH term and variances on "30-day readmissions" (Appendix 1). As EMBASE and Cochrane do not accommodate MeSH subject terms the search consisted of keywords such as geriatrics, older, frailty, 30-day readmissions (Appendix 2). Terms and keywords were chosen for the breadth of their applicability to all types of data.

The PRISMA Diagram (Figure 2.1) was used to record the process of the pursuit of relevant literature to illustrate decisions during the search (Moher et al., 2009; Whittemore, 2005). The search resulted in a total of 2581 articles after duplicates were removed. Once the inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied, 24 items remained for inclusion in the review.



Figure 2.1. PRISMA.

(*Emergency Department, **Intervention, ***Program, *Non-Peer-Reviewed **Opinion Piece)

2.4 Data Evaluation

After the literature search was completed, there was an evaluation of the quality of the data. The Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) checklists are used, as they have been piloted and provide assessments for diverse types of studies (CASP, 1993; Young & Soloman, 2009) (Appendix 3). Each of the included quantitative studies are Cohort studies of one type or another.

The Cohort CASP checklist facilitates the task of determining if each article includes the minimal expectations that are included in a quality study or review. The three categories in the checklists include 1) Are the results valid? 2) What are the results? 3) Are the results useful locally? The one included qualitative study was judged using the Qualitative CASP checklist (Appendix 3). The overarching questions in the qualitative checklist coincide with the cohort list items: 1) Are the results valid? 2) What are the results useful locally? Using the CASP checklist all articles appeared of high quality and were included.

In addition, the articles were scrutinized using the criteria set out by Whittemore adapted from Lohr and Carey (1999) and West et al. (2002). This extra layer of evaluation was to confirm the previous method of evaluation and were selected as these criteria are suggested in the existing literature regarding the integrative review method (Whittemore, 2005) (Table 2.2). Neither the CASP nor Whittemore criteria called for numerical scoring. In the final analysis, when using these tools and criteria the decision for inclusion is left to the reviewer.

The analysis of this scrutiny is displayed in a side-by-side two-column table (Appendix 4). All articles evaluated through these processes met the preponderance of the criteria of the Whittemore and CASP standards of quality and were included in this review.

The next section will be a description of the data analysis using the integrative review.

Table 2.2

Study Construct	Example
Sample	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate
	Health, demographic, socioeconomic status, and other confounding
	characteristics considered
	Sample size justification
Study Protocol	Study procedures systematic and well specified
Measurement	Choice of outcomes appropriate
	Data collection specified and systematic
	Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity
Threats to Validity	Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled
Statistical Analysis	Statistics appropriate and well described
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data
Discussion	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations
	considered
Intervention	Detailed information about treatment, setting, and interventionist provided
	Efforts undertaken to ensure treatment integrity
	Blinding (of patients, investigators, data collectors, and care providers) as appropriate
	Randomization of subjects to treatment and control group
	Evidence of study group comparability at baseline provided

Integrative Review Quality Criteria

Note. Adopted by Whittemore (2005) from Lohr and Carey (1999) and West et al. (2002).
2.5 Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted using the integrative approach (Cooper, 1984; Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005). The integrative approach includes ordering the data through data reduction, and an unbiased interpretation and synthesis of the data (Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005). The process of data reduction will be presented in this section.

2.5.1 Data Reduction

The purpose of data reduction in the integrative review is to process the collected data from the multiple methods presented in the articles into a meaningful classification system and framework (Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005). Data reduction began with data extraction using a coding form (Cooper, 1984). A form was developed for data extraction (Appendix 5) (Cooper, 1984; Taveres de Souza et al., 2010). The review resulted in two types of research methods. The papers included various Cohort studies and a Qualitative study. A commonality between all coding forms includes data for references, methodology, country of origin/setting, and sample size. Results for each article were documented in the coding forms (Cooper, 1984). Data were extracted and coded with constant comparison (Whittemore, 2005; Whittemore & Knafl, 2005) to reveal the overarching factors reported in the included studies (Table 2.3).

The data reduction resulted in the following factors and subgroups:

Table 2.3

Data Display

Factor 1 Sociodemographic	Factor 2 Systemic	Factor 3 Physiological	Factor 4 Pharmacological
Gender	The utilisation of Health Resources	Disease Process	Number of Prescriptions
Age	Length of Stay	Frailty Characteristics	High-Risk Drug Exposure
Living Conditions	Discharge Location	Comorbidity/ Complexity	
Ethnicity	Insurance Coverage	Nutritional Status	
Socioeconomics		Mental Illness	
Marital Status			

The data resulting from the analysis has been placed into a table by the author, the four themes, and their subgroups along with results (Appendix 6). This table was created to help clarify the data for the reader and the researcher.

The interpretation and synthesis will be shown in the next section.

2.6 Presentation of the Results

The synthesis of the data will now be presented. The review found 24 articles. The articles two methodologies which included varying quantitative cohort designs and one qualitative study.

These studies represent knowledge obtained from Australia, France, Italy, New Zealand, Norway, Spain, and the U.S.A. Seventeen of the 24 articles originated from the U.S.A.

There were no notable differences in the findings from international studies when compared to U.S. studies in the review. The exceptions are the study concerning New Zealand (Robinson & Kerse, 2012) and Australia (Islam et al., 2014). This is addressed in the Socioeconomic section of this section and later interpreted in the interpretation section (2.7).

Two of the included articles studied samples from the U.S. Veteran Administration population. One of the two studies closely resembled the other articles' results. The only obvious difference from other samples being the sociodemographic category of gender. This factor and other differences were carefully controlled in the design and analysis of the study (Pugh et al., 2014).

The other veteran study did not control for gender differences. The sample did adequately represent ethnic diversity which is similar to the population in the U.S. Also, there is difficulty in generalizability as it is the only article considering alcohol use and adopts a Veteran's Administration specific tool for measuring alcohol use. This article met the greater part of both the CASP and Whittemore criteria. Also, the findings of the article are valuable as it considers the use of alcohol in this specific population in relation to 30-day readmissions. This is an important area deserving more attention (Chavez, 2016).

It is important to note that all studies were analysed to determine statistical significance. Those where analyses found not to have statistical significance are reported as such. All studies' data were reported regardless if analyses found statistical significance to protect against bias and strengthen the review. This is indicated in the narrative of the results section and the All-Data Table (Appendix 6).

2.6.1 Sociodemographic Factors

Sociodemographic factors play an essential role in who may be at risk for 30-day readmissions. A description of these factors is in the following sub-sections. The interpretation section will include an exploration of these findings.

2.6.1.1 Gender. Women are readmitted more frequently within 30 days of discharge with a range of 52% to 68% (Berges et al., 2015; Fisher, 2016b; Fisher et al., 2013; Goldenheim et al., 2014; Islam et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Navarro et al., 2012; Sattler et al., 2015; Traissac et al., 2011). Two articles included in the review identified males as having a higher number of 30-day readmissions (Chavez, 2016; Pugh et al., 2014). One study taking place in Israel had males being readmitted more frequently at a rate of 61% (Tonkikh, 2016)

2.6.1.2 Age. Being over the age of 65 is an indicator of early readmission when compared to other age groups (Barnett et al., 2015). The data show the mean age for patients being readmitted to the hospital within 30-days is 77.3 years with a range of mean ages between 74.5 - 80 years (Goldenheim et al., 2014; Hain et al., 2012; Pugh et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 2012).

2.6.1.3 Ethnicity. Ten articles addressed the topic of ethnicity. Prevalence of 30-day readmissions was reported to be between 60.9% - 84.2% for Caucasians. Two articles found that patients of African descent were less likely to be readmitted with a prevalence of 40.9% - 47.4% (Goldenheim et al., 2014; Whitney, 2016).

When looking at the relative risk of a population of U.S. Veterans it was found that using those who are Caucasian as a reference, Hispanics have a risk ratio of .93 and African descent a risk ratio of .90 (Pugh et al., 2014). Recall the definition of relative risk: the ratio of the probability of

the exposed group over the probability of the non-exposed group. Here the exposed group is membership of a minority group over the non-exposed group. The non-exposed group is the Caucasian group. Therefore, with a risk ratio below one, Hispanic and African American veterans are consequently less likely to be readmitted than Caucasian veterans. Conversely, the New Zealand research found that the indigenous group has a risk ratio of 1.79 when compared to Caucasians who have a risk ratio of 1.0 (Robinson & Kerse, 2012).

2.6.1.4 Socioeconomics. It was found that Australians who had more economic advantages and living in a skilled nursing facility were more likely to be readmitted at 38.9% compared to those who were disadvantaged at 9.8% (Islam et al., 2014). The opposite was true of those living at home (Islam et al., 2014). This may be explained partially by other sociodemographic and systemic realities to be examined in the interpretation section of this chapter.

Robinson and Kerse (2012) report that indigenous people (Maori) were more likely to be, both disadvantaged and to be readmitted within 30 days in New Zealand. Those who were disadvantaged had a 1.15 risk ratio for a 30-day readmission than others (Robinson & Kerse, 2012).

2.6.1.5 Living Situation. "Living situation" describes where and with whom the participant lives. Marital status is included in this subgroup. More than half of people who are readmitted to the hospital within 30 days are unmarried at 59% (Berges et al., 2015; Fisher, 2016a). This data does not inform us of how many are widowed, divorced, or never married, nor if being unmarried is associated with readmissions.

Regarding the living situation, the majority of people being readmitted within 30 days live with friends or family (71.1%) (Fisher, 2016b). Those who live alone are the next largest group at 27.7 -34% (Fisher, 2016b; Islam et al., 2014). Living alone is not a risk factor for readmission (Traissac

et al., 2011). It is reported that those living in skilled nursing facilities for long-term care are readmitted at a rate of 24.4% (Islam et al., 2014). A study that followed patients living at home with private caregivers (511) found that 105 of the group were readmitted to the hospital; a rate of 21% (Fisher, 2016b). Early readmissions in this group may be explained by a myriad of factors including, but not conclusively, greater health literacy, better insurance (Navarro et al., 2012) and entitlement and advocacy by the family for the economically advantaged patient (Islam et al., 2014).

2.6.1.6 Experiences. For this review, experiences denote the psychosocial aspects and the emotional state of the patient. As there was only one qualitative article, there is minimal data regarding the experiences of patients with a 30-day readmission.

The qualitative themes of "Being Left Out", "Feeling Let Down", and "Being Cared For" were identified in the research (Dilworth et al., 2012). Patient's described "being left out" as it pertains to not being heard, being disregarded, being dismissed, and excluded from decision making. "Feeling let-down" was described as disappointment with the healthcare system, such as poor planning during transitions, gaps in care, and long waits for follow-up appointments. Whilst in the hospital descriptions of "being cared for" were mixed. There were descriptions of loss of autonomy, medication errors, and length of stays which were longer than initially anticipated. However; these feelings of disappointment were contrasted by feelings of gratitude for the good care received by nurses and the quality of the food (Dilworth et al., 2012).

2.6.2 Systemic Factors

Systemic factors include issues beyond the control of the patient. The subgroups include the utilisation of health services, length of stay, discharge location, and insurance coverage. These are

factors that are almost solely controlled by the healthcare system. These results are presented in the following sub-sections.

2.6.2.1 Utilization. Utilisation refers to the exposure the individual has to the health system, within the hospital, and in community settings. Such exposures would include services received by the individual; the number of primary care visits one has before a 30-day readmission and the number of hospitalisations or emergency department visits of the individual prior to a 30-day readmission.

Findings show that patients who have two to four visits with a primary care provider within the first 30 days of discharge were admitted more frequently (50%) than those with fewer or more visits (Pugh et al., 2014). In addition, it was found that patients who were on home hospice and contacted their primary care provider within the first week had a RR of 2.4 for a 30-day readmission (Goldenheim et al., 2014).

Those patients who had two or more visits to the emergency department experienced 30-day readmission 40.7% of the time (Sattler et al., 2015). It was also learned that patients who had 2.2 hospitalisations the prior year were at the greatest risk for a 30-day readmission (Tonkikh, 2016). Also, patients who were exposed to palliative care during their last hospitalisation were readmitted only 10% of the time (Enguidanos et al., 2012). This indicates that inpatient palliative care may reduce the incidence of 30-day readmissions (Gagne-Henderson et al., 2017). It may also be indicative of better inclusion in planning and more skilled communication to prevent the patient from "Feeling Left Out" (Dilworth et al., 2012).

2.6.2.2 Length of Stay. A long length of stay is a predictor of a 30-day readmission. The mean length of stay for the 30-day readmitted patient's last hospital admission was 6.7 days (Navarro et al., 2012). Regardless if a patient was discharged from an acute hospital or skilled nursing facility,

those who had a length of stay 6-9 days have the highest number of 30-day readmissions (Islam et al., 2014; Navarro et al., 2012). Similarly, patients with a length of stay of greater than six days have an OR of 1.9, which implies a probability of 65.5% (Traissac et al., 2011). Those with a prior hospitalisation length of stay of greater than 13 days had a hazard ratio of 2.67 which implies they have 2.67 times the chance of being readmitted within 30-days (Morandi et al., 2013). Without adequate time for recovery when admitted to a short-term rehabilitation facility patients discharged from rehabilitation with a LOS of fewer than 9.5 days are readmitted to the hospital at a rate of 69% (Fisher, 2016b).

2.6.2.3 Discharge Location. Those discharged to a skilled nursing facility have the highest risk of a 30-day readmission (25% - 41%) when compared to those sent home with visiting nurses (Hain et al., 2012; Navarro et al., 2012). Those sent home from the hospital with visiting nursing services were readmitted between 28 to 34% of the time (Hain et al., 2012; Navarro et al., 2012). These sent home without services were readmitted 25% to 39% of the time (Hain et al., 2012; Navarro et al., 2012). Navarro et al., 2012).

2.6.2.4 Insurance. The data regarding insurance coverage is of interest only to several U.S.A. studies. There were diverging results for this sub-group. There may be explanations for these differences which will be presented in the interpretation section. All patients in the U.S.A had Medicare insurance. Goldenheim et al. (2014) showed that of the 30-day readmission population, 21.1% had Medicare only, while 78.9% had Medicare and Medicaid (dual coverage). The sample for the Goldenheim et al. (2014) study were all home hospice patients, which will be addressed in the interpretation section. Contrary to these findings, Navarro et al. (2012) found that 70.8% of 30-day readmission patients had Medicare alone. Dual coverage patients experienced 30-day

readmissions at a prevalence of 26% (Navarro et al., 2012). Similarly, Whitney (2016) established that patients who have dual coverage have a decreased risk for a 30-day readmission.

2.6.3 Physiological Factors

Physiological factors include disease diagnosis, frailty syndrome diagnosis, the number of comorbidities, nutritional status, and mental illness. These findings are presented in the following sub-sections.

2.6.3.1 Disease. The data were examined to determine the three most common primary diagnoses associated with 30-day readmissions. Data were collected from 16 of the included articles which addressed this sub-group theme (Albrecht et al., 2014; Fisher, 2016a; Fisher et al., 2013; Goldenheim et al., 2014; Hain et al., 2012; Islam et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Navarro et al., 2012; Robinson & Kerse, 2012; Sattler et al., 2015; Tonkikh, 2016; Whitney, 2016; Yoo et al., 2015). Two articles found that malignancy was the most common factor leading to readmission (41.9% - 63.2%) but, both of these study samples were patients on home hospice service (Goldenheim et al., 2014; Whitney, 2016). These two articles were not used in the data synthesis as malignancy is overrepresented in the hospice population in the United States, with Cancer representing 30.1% of all admissions with Circulatory/Heart Disease following with 17.6% (National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization, 2015).

The data indicate that congestive heart failure (CHF), including all other cardiac conditions, is the most common disease process associated with 30-day readmissions (Albrecht et al., 2014; Fisher, 2016a; Fisher et al., 2013; Hain et al., 2012; Islam et al., 2014; Robinson & Kerse, 2012; Sattler et al., 2015; Whitney, 2016). The median rate of readmissions for cardiac patients is 35%.

Respiratory conditions, including COPD, were found to be the second most common condition for which patients were readmitted with 30-days (Fisher, 2016a; Hain et al., 2012; Islam et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Navarro et al., 2012; Robinson & Kerse, 2012; Sattler et al., 2015; Tonkikh, 2016; Whitney, 2016). Respiratory conditions account for between 6% and 39.5% of 30-day readmissions (the median percentage is 17.8%). As many of the data were reported as "all respiratory conditions", it is difficult to determine if pneumonia or other infectious processes were included in the diagnoses. The third most commonly reported condition related to 30-day readmissions is renal disease with a range of 24.3% - 58.8% (Sattler et al., 2015; Tonkikh, 2016; Whitney, 2016).

2.6.3.2 Frailty. Half of the research included in this review found that frailty characteristics were more significant than disease processes as they related to 30 – day readmissions (Albrecht et al., 2014; Fisher, 2016a, 2016b; Fisher et al., 2013; Islam et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Navarro et al., 2012; Pugh et al., 2014; Tonkikh, 2016; Traissac et al., 2011). A reduction in the ability to perform activities of daily living resulted in the largest number of patient's being readmitted 31.0% - 61.54%. Dehydration is an associated condition which accounts for a high number of 30-day readmission of older adults (32%) (Navarro et al., 2012). Navarro only examined participants with frailty, which may have put the sample at a higher risk for readmission. Fall syndrome is also found to have an association with readmissions that range from 25% - 32% (Albrecht et al., 2014; Islam et al., 2014; Traissac et al., 2011). A decrease in mobility resulted in a readmission rate of 16.7% - 26% (Fisher, 2016a; Fisher et al., 2013; Islam et al., 2014), as well as a decrease in activities of daily living (Albrecht et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Tonkikh, 2016; Traissac et al., 2011).

2.6.3.3 Comorbidity Factors. Comorbidity is associated with an increased risk for readmission (Albrecht et al., 2014; Fisher, 2016b; Fisher et al., 2013; Islam et al., 2014; Navarro et al., 2012; Pugh et al., 2014; Sattler et al., 2015; Traissac et al., 2011). Of those readmitted within 30 days of discharge, 69% had one or more comorbidities (Fisher, 2016b). The average number of comorbidities of those with a 30-day readmission is four comorbidities. Patients with six to ten comorbidities were most frequently readmitted (29%) of all those with comorbidities (Fisher, 2016b).

2.6.3.4 Nutrition. Malnutrition or risk for malnutrition increases the incidence of readmission (Robinson, 2015; Tonkikh, 2016). Those diagnosed as being malnourished are readmitted at a rate of 14.4% compared to a similar population of older adults without malnutrition, who were readmitted at 4% (Robinson, 2015). Serum albumin levels were lower for those readmitted (Tonkikh, 2016).

2.6.3.5 Mental Illness. Depression was the most common mental health issue found in this population. In one study where 19% of the patients were readmitted within 30 days, and where the prevalence of depressive symptoms was also 19% (n=750, age>65) they found depressive symptoms were not significantly associated with hospital readmission (Albrecht et al., 2014). However, the study also concluded that depressive symptoms were related to other poor outcomes and maybe under-diagnosed during hospitalisation of older adults (Albrecht et al., 2014). Another study showed that those with depressive symptoms had an OR of 1.66 of being readmitted within 30 days, but in the end, confirmed that the readmission rate was not statistically significantly higher (Berges et al., 2015). Readmitted patients have depression between 8.4% - 15% of the time (Albrecht et al., 2014; Berges et al., 2015; Navarro et al., 2012; Whitney, 2016). Any mental illness

places older patients at risk for a readmission with an OR of 0.92, which implies a probability of 48% (Pugh et al., 2014).

2.6.4 Pharmaceutical Factors

2.6.4.1 Polypharmacy and High-Risk Medication Exposure. The two pharmaceutical factors are 1) the number of prescriptions and 2) the risk of readmission and the association of exposure to high-risk medications with readmissions. These factors are described in this section. Patients who have a greater number of prescriptions have an increased risk of a 30- day readmission. Those patients with seven or more prescriptions are readmitted at 59.3% while those with twelve or more prescriptions are readmitted 51.5% of the time (Pugh et al., 2014; Sattler et al., 2015). These findings seem to imply more prescriptions lead to a reduction in the probability of readmission. This is likely explained by the ordinary variability seen in these studies. Also, of note, there was an association between exposure to certain high-risk medications and readmissions (Pavon et al., 2014) (Appendix 6).

2.6.5 What is Missing: The Qualitative Data

What is missing in the data is the voice of the patient. Interestingly, there are so many policies and interventions that have been developed without the inclusion of the patients' perceptions (see PRISMA excluded articles). Without the patient's voice, the determination of what is needed to prevent 30-day readmissions is only uninformed guesswork, and patient-centred care will elude our efforts. There was only one qualitative study that met the inclusion criteria. This qualitative study was conducted in Australia in 2012. They studied the experiences of older adults who were in the hospital after being readmitted shortly after their last discharge. The sample included three

interviews asking older people affected by this phenomenon of an early hospital readmission to share their experiences (Dilworth et al., 2012).

The authors concluded that the causes of the readmissions were potentially preventable (Dilworth et al., 2012). They identified gaps in planning for appropriate resources after discharge. The authors implied the need for further qualitative studies to find the voice of the patient to include shared development of a plan of care and shared decision making (Dilworth et al., 2012). The empirical study of this thesis will be a start in furthering qualitative knowledge regarding older adults with a 30-day readmission.

2.7 Interpretation

This interpretation will include topics that warrant further consideration. The first part of the interpretation will explore the explanations for why some of the factors influence 30-day readmissions and how they may be interrelated. The second part of this interpretation is an examination of the single qualitative study found during the literature search.

This review provides the common characteristics, or factors, within this population. Unfortunately, it is unsuccessful in clearly describing how these factors may be interrelated as none of the included articles examined relationships between the factors. Without interpretation, this quantitative data does not explain why the phenomenon of 30-day readmissions occurs.

2.7.1 Sociodemographics

2.7.1.1 Gender. The findings within the included studies in this review show that women patients are at a higher proportion than men for 30-day readmissions. The additional frequency of readmission found for females was significantly higher in studies with smaller samples (<1000)

compared to those with larger samples (>1000). Women comprise 55% of the world's population, this number rises in the older population as the life expectancy for women is higher (He et al., 2016). The studies in the larger samples were closer to the world population figure. A factor putting some older females at higher risk of readmission may be related to inadequate availability of primary caregivers in the home (Schulz & Eden, 2016). With the cultural and economic changes regarding women in the workplace, there may be fewer caregivers available to provide the full-time care provided in earlier generations who are female. This is essential in the prevention of rehospitalisations for this group as well as their male counterparts (Schulz & Eden, 2016). Women have historically been caregivers and have longer life expectancies than men which may be an explanation for this difference in readmission proportion. Older women may be caring for their male counterparts, protecting them from a greater number of readmissions.

Two of the articles contradicted the results regarding gender. These articles were limited to samples, including U.S. veterans. The U.S. military currently has an active force which is 84.5% male (National Center for Veteran Analysis and Statistics, 2017). This would explain the discrepancy from the other studies as the populations were skewed towards male participants.

2.7.1.2 Living Situation. The data regarding marital status in the literature review shed little light upon marital status across the older population. The United States Census Bureau released two reports in 2016. One report was An Ageing World: 2015 International Population Reports, surprisingly, there were no data regarding global marital status (He et al., 2016). The other is Ageing in the United States (Mather et al., 2015). These reports found that in older people in the United States women are widowed at 34%, and their male counterparts are widowed at 12%. The report shows that women are divorced at a rate of 13% and men at 11%. Those with intact marriages are women at 48% and men at a rate of 72%.

The same report also found that 96% of people age 65 and older live in their private dwellings. The percentage of those living in institutions increases with age. The number of women age 80 – 89 no longer living in their homes and living in facilities increases to 7%. This number increases to 19% for those women aged 90-99 (Mather et al., 2015).

2.7.1.3 Ethnicity, Socioeconomics, and Systemic Interrelated Factors. Ethnicity and Systemic Factors are interrelated. Those from minority groups tend to be of a lower socioeconomic status than those who are Caucasian (Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 2015; National Centre for Social and Economic Modelling, 2013). In the United States, this results in a higher number of people of African descent having better access to health insurance (dual coverage). When looking at readmission and ethnicity, it would be essential to state that, in general, people of African descent are reluctant to utilise hospice services in the United States for cultural, spiritual, and historical reasons (Yancu et al., 2010). Mistrust of the healthcare system may account for higher 30-day readmissions rates for people of African descent from hospice other groups.

Others, who are more affluent or middle class, have Medicare only insurance alone. Some in these two groups also have a privately paid supplement insurance (Atherly, 2002). The CMS will pay a skilled nursing facility fully for the first 20 days (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2015). A skilled nursing facility stay is partially paid for up to 100 days before the full burden of cost is placed upon the patient and family (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2015). Skilled nursing facility cost is extremely burdensome for the average family. Such costs can be between \$90,000 and \$100,000 annually (Levine, 2020). To re-establish coverage for a skilled nursing facility, a patient must return to the hospital and have a length of stay of at least three days, after which they may return to the skilled nursing facility for an additional 100 days (Centers for

Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2015). This may explain why people who have Medicare insurance coverage alone are readmitted to an acute care hospital more frequently.

Patients who live in skilled nursing facilities for long term care are frailer and have increased ADL deficits than those who are sent to their homes which puts them at risk for readmission (Cohn et al., 2018; Fisher, 2016a, 2016b; Fisher et al., 2013; Pearl et al., 2017). Another reason older adults who live in skilled nursing facilities are at higher risk for a 30-day readmission may be due to understaffing in these facilities (Maas, 2008). Those in poverty who are readmitted from their home are unlikely to have resources to pay for private duty healthcare workers compared to their more affluent counterparts (Landers, 2016) which may partially explain their readmission rate. Privately funded caregivers would afford one on one care in the home, but Medicare Insurance will only pay for skilled nursing (Landers, 2016), which is the more expensive option (Chappel et al., 2004).

Furthermore, for those in a country with a fee-for-service system, as is Australia and the United States, those who are on the verge of being impoverished must pay for part of their care and part or all of their medications (Madden, 2008). With these patients having so many prescriptions and having fewer monetary resources, this interferes with the ability to purchase their medications, which may lead to cost-related nonadherence and readmissions (Madden, 2008; Sattler et al., 2014).

2.7.2 Physiological Factors

The articles showing malignancy as the most common reason for readmission may be explained as people with chronic illnesses are underrepresented in the hospice population. At the same time, those with Cancer are overrepresented (National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization, 2015). The studies finding malignancy as the most common readmission diagnosis were samples of hospice patients.

2.8 Importance of Data

What the physiological and pharmacological themes have shown is that the patients who are readmitted are the very sick and frail. Also, many of the readmitted population have multiple chronic comorbidities. At this time, there is little we can change regarding medical interventions, other than assuring routine advanced disease management. The review did not provide data that could be applied in a clinical setting, rather only provided commonalities within the population.

The thematic area where we can make a difference in 30-day readmissions for older adults is through systemic change. This would require a more in-depth study and more knowledge of the inter-relation of systemic issues, followed by a societal willingness to make a policy change.

The most salient issue revealed by the literature review is the glaring gap in the knowledge base of what the patients understand and think about their situation. With only one study addressing qualitative issues for this group, there must be further research following this literature review with a focus on learning more from the patient regarding the experiences of 30-day readmissions. Although the one study only included three interviews, it provided insight into the need to include the patients' voices in order to determine the needs of older people with early readmissions.

2.8.1 United States Compared to International Data

Whilst the physiological data gathered in this review are congruent and virtually identical, the same cannot be said of the systemic and sociodemographic data. All of the physiological data, regardless of country, points to fragility, chronic disease and comorbidity are associated with 30-

day readmissions. The types of diseases with which patients were diagnosed were the same irrespective of their geographic location.

The sociodemographic data were dissimilar in some countries when compared to the United States. For instance, in Australia, the poor and in New Zealand the indigenous poor were less likely to be readmitted than their counterparts in the U.S. (Islam et al., 2014; Robinson & Kerse, 2012). For those in Australia, the study offered an explanation that the financially affluent in that country feel more entitled to services and are more demanding about receiving services (Islam et al., 2014). Regarding the indigenous poor in New Zealand it is surmised that poor health and lack of access to resources accounts for the high rate of readmission (Robinson & Kerse, 2012). In the U.S. this can possibly be explained by looking at the relationship between the ample insurance coverage to which the poor have access in the U.S. if one is over 65. In the U.S., this dual coverage of having Medicare insurance and Medicaid insurance allows patients to remain in place, whilst those with Medicare alone must be readmitted to an acute hospital for three days every 120 days to restart the skilled nursing facility benefit (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2015, 2017b).

The international studies varied only slightly from the U.S. studies in the area of socioeconomic and systemic issues. However, the review did show the similarities of this population in developed countries as far as frailty, comorbidities and pharmaceutical issues are concerned.

2.9 Discussion

The studies all had similar findings regarding the factors related to 30-day readmissions. The socioeconomic results were similar, except for the study in New Zealand (Robinson & Kerse, 2012) which is discussed later. These similarities may indicate a high likelihood for

generalizability for the findings of this literature review and its usefulness in the forthcoming research.

2.9.1 Comparison of U.S. to International Results

The studies not conducted in the U.S. included in this review varied only slightly from those studies from the U.S. These differences are in the area of socioeconomic and systemic issues. The differences lay in the variances of government payment schemes. However, the review did show similarities in European countries and the United States. This assures that the results of this literature review will help with the identification of a homogeneous sample for the thesis study. The homogeneity of the review results may help with the generalizability of the thesis results regarding the participants' experiences.

2.9.2 Strengths

This review has provided a great amount of knowledge about the physical, socio-economic, systematic and pharmacological characteristics of older people who have 30-day readmissions. This information is important for understanding characteristics that can alert clinicians to the risks for this population.

Finally, the search was appropriate for the review. The review contributed to the thesis by providing an understanding of the factors that the sample possesses almost universally. This provided the knowledge and expectations as the researcher entered the field. It also guided how, and which questions would help to gather the data required from participants to answer the thesis research question.

2.9.3 Limitations

The review fails to describe how these factors may be interrelated. Quantitative data alone cannot explain why the phenomenon of 30-day readmissions occurs. The body of knowledge requires more qualitative data to help our understanding of 30-day readmissions.

The greatest weakness of the qualitative study is its sample size. The study included only three participants. In defence of the small sample, the author references Holloway and Wheeler (2002). Holloway and Wheeler (2002) state that when critiquing a study, one must take into consideration the researcher's resources and time.

Initially, this review intended to find all information regarding older people and 30-day readmission. The search terms were very broad to avoid omitting any study design. In a re-examination of the process, it was thought it might have been advantageous to include the word "experience" in the MeSH term search. The MeSH database was then searched for the heading "experience". No such heading exists as a unique term. The MeSH database was used to ensure a systematic and repeatable search to achieve the greatest number of results (U.S. National Library of Medicine, 2020).

EMBASE and Cochrane do not use MeSH terminology, so the word experience potentially could have been used; however, using any other keywords not included in the MeSH search was thought to change the search into a non-systematic review lacking discipline and rigour.

Since the keywords and MeSH terms were very broad, it was thought this would produce all available data. In retrospect of the finished thesis study, it may be that a review which included different keywords would have garnered more qualitative data. This a limitation of this review. Still, the review aimed to obtain all data regarding older people experiencing 30-day readmissions, which remains important to the thesis.

2.10 Conclusion

The subjects of the review are the sickest and frailest patients in the population. This review characterizes the thesis study sample and validates the selection of the thesis study participants. In this case, it may be that many of these 30-day readmissions are unavoidable; however, the systemic and demographic factors appear to be interrelated and are as important as the physiological factors. While complicated, and challenging to address, systemic issue changes may be the only way to successfully impact the number of patients being readmitted to an acute care hospital within 30-days of discharge.

There is strong evidence of an important gap in the literature. This gap is the lack of qualitative data regarding 30-day readmissions for the older population. Quantitative data gives us a great deal of understanding, but it is incomplete. Further qualitative query is needed to enhance knowledge of 30-day readmissions in older people. The study for this thesis contributes to this endeavour. There is an absence of the patient voice, experience, understanding of their life circumstances, and coping mechanisms concerning 30-day readmissions. This will be addressed in the empirical research, from the theoretical perspective of Sense of Coherence (Antonovsky, 1987). Such data may contribute to how clinicians can assist this population in confronting their challenges and improving their outlooks and hopes for the future. This is the endeavour of this thesis.

Chapter 3. Theoretical Underpinnings

3.1 Introduction

Included in this chapter are the descriptions of the paradigmatic, philosophical, theoretical, methodological, and the theoretical framework which formed this thesis. Included in the overview of Interpretive Description will be the relationship between knowledge and nursing, the goals of palliative care nursing, the acquisition of knowledge, adequate knowledge, credibility and trustworthiness. The fourth section will include a discussion of the theoretical framework, Sense of Coherence, and how this construct has influenced the epistemological and ontological basis of this study. Finally, there is a presentation of the relationship between the theoretical framework and Interpretive description, and why the two are synergistic as the scaffolding for this study.

3.2 Underpinnings

3.2.1 Paradigmatic and Philosophical Underpinnings

This thesis is written from the paradigmatic perspectives of Qualitative Research as the research paradigm. The epistemological positioning of the thesis is Constructivist. Post-Positivism and Naturalism are the ontological postures of the thesis. These will be described more fully throughout this chapter.

3.2.2 Qualitative Research as a Paradigm

Qualitative research is more than a method to obtain knowledge. In the not too distant past, qualitative research was a great departure from the only existing research paradigm of quantitative research. Qualitative research is a world view of the nature of knowledge and reality. Rather than

relying on "hard" numbers and facts, the qualitative paradigm relies on the common experience of the individual (Legard et al., 2003; Morse, 2016). The qualitative paradigm recognizes the expert to be the person who experiences an examined phenomenon (Coyle & Tickoo, 2007). This research has been approached from this perspective.

3.2.3 Epistemological Perspective

The epistemological positioning for this study is based on Constructivism, Interpretivism and Objective Hermeneutics (Andrews, 2012; Porter & Robinson, 2011; Schwandt, 2011; Woolfolk, 1992). This positioning claims that reality is constructed by each individual through cognitive processes which are continually evolving and are an interpretation derived by the researcher (Twosmey-Fosnot, 2005; Woolfolk, 1992). More importantly, is the idea that knowledge and truth is in constant change with each new experience. This stance acknowledges that a definitive truth is unattainable (Woolfolk, 1992). This knowledge is directly related to the ontological positioning of this thesis as perception and interpretation of knowledge is dependent on the individuality of the subject (Clark, 1998; Montero, 2002; Rockmore, 1997).

3.2.4 Ontological Perspective

The ontological positioning for this thesis is Post-positivism and Naturalism. The Post-Positivist recognizes the importance of the inclusion of varying methods of research when searching for knowledge and that qualitative knowledge brings new and more complete understanding. This also comes with the understanding that all methods fall short of perfection (Clark, 1998; Thorne, 2016).

Post-positivism aims toward understanding within a given context rather than a factual knowing (Fox, 2008).

The naturalist understands that reality is multi-factorial. A naturalist accepts that reality is reliant upon contextualization and must be examined wholistically (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Schwandt, 2011). This understanding, within a given context, lends itself to fit within the constructivist paradigm. Heidigger professes that being in the world cannot be separated from our past experiences, history, or culture (Nellhaus, 1998). For the researcher, as one cannot separate oneself from their being, it is impossible to completely discard previous experience and knowledge. This experience and knowledge could be personal or professional. The ontological positioning will be further illustrated in this chapter whilst discussing the theoretical framework and methodology.

3.2.5 Theoretical Perspectives

The theoretical perspectives given consideration throughout the writing of the thesis are Salutogenesis and Interpretive Description. Salutogenesis is a theory of what well-being "looks like". In the writing of this thesis two constructs were adopted from Antonovsky's theory of Salutogenesis: Sense of Coherence, and General Resistant Resources. Sense of Coherence is utilised as the theoretical framework, whilst the construct of General Resistance Resources helps to identify the elements present or not present to older people as they develop their Sense of Coherence. These constructs will be more fully discussed in the theoretical framework section.

Interpretive Description (Thorne, 2008, 2016) is the chosen methodology for the development and design of this thesis. Interpretive Description is a new qualitative methodology. Interpretive Description entered the qualitative research arena as a new methodology in 2008 (Thorne, 2008). It could be argued that Interpretive Description is a theory unto itself. A theory must be constituted of four properties:

- definitions of concepts used by the theorist.
- identifies a domain to which it applies
- Proposes a set of relationships with variables
- makes specific testable claims

Interpretive Description fits these criteria. (Wacker, 1998). All methodologies meet these criteria. This is what separates a methodology from a method. This will be further described in the next section. Interpretive Description will be more fully explained in section 3.3 of this chapter.

3.2.6 Theory, Methodology or Method

3.2.6.1 Paradigm. Qualitative research is an all-encompassing paradigm unto itself. Within this paradigm there is an hierarchy (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Paradigm hierarchy.

3.2.6.2 Theory. Theory is a set ideas and interrelated concepts and constructs which the theorist explains and defines. With these defined constructs and ideas the theorist makes assertations

regarding the implications of the theory related to certain human experiences (Collins & Stockton, 2018; Kerlinger & Lee, 2000; Kivunja, 2018). Theory displays the values and beliefs that inspire the research (Collins & Stockton, 2018). A theory is a philosophical epistemological stance.

3.2.6.3 Methodology. Theory of method, and methodology are terms which are used interchangeably (Collins & Stockton, 2018). This differs from theory in that methodology is a manner in which we obtain and understand knowledge (epistemology). A methodology is the incorporation of a philosophy of how a study should be conducted (Lessem & Schieffer, 2011; Silverman, 2010). This philosophy helps the researcher to understand the choices that need to be made throughout the research endeavour as the research study is designed (Collins & Stockton, 2018). The implementation of methodology must be evident from the beginning to the end of the research (Collins & Stockton, 2018).

3.2.6.4 Method/Approach. A method, or approach, is a choice of how one treats each step turn during the research (Lessem & Schieffer, 2011; Thorne, 2016). This differs from a methodology as a method or approach is the techniques chosen for conducting the research (Lessem & Schieffer, 2011; Silverman, 2010). An example of a method or approach is Framework Analysis which is a method of analysing data (Gale et al., 2013).

As an illustration of how one method was used in this thesis, semi-structured interviews were the approach applied for the data collection of the study (Galletta, 2007; Siedman, 2013). Semi-structured interviews allow for directed questioning yet allows for a narrative flow based upon the participant's experience. The approach used for analysis was Directed Content Analysis (Assarroudi et al., 2018; Hsieh & Shannon, 2005; Mayring, 2000). Directed Content Analysis is

an analytical approach in which a priori codes may be considered. All of the approaches used in this thesis will be described in Chapter 4.

3.3 Interpretive Description

Interpretive Description is a methodology situated within a full explanation of its ontological, epistemological and theoretical girding. This is similar to other traditional methodologies such as Ethnography, Interpretive Phenomenology Analysis, Narrative Research, Grounded Theory and others (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Mills, 2014).

Some qualitative researchers do not believe that Interpretive Description is a new methodology. Rather, they argue, Interpretive Description is a type of Grounded Theory (Berterö, 2015). Thorne does not claim that Interpretive Description is a new methodology. Interpretive Description names and provides theory to what is already occurring in the realm of qualitative study (Thorne, 2008, 2016).

Interpretive Description lends an organizing logic and theory to what has been occurring in research as more clinical scientists in the domain of health found a need to depart from conventional qualitative research traditions to answer their discipline specific questions, by producing purposeful description which is applicable to the clinical arena. Sally Thorne lent an auditable logic and theory which coincides with this "moving away" from the more traditional methodologies of Ethnography, Phenomenology and Grounded Theory (Thorne, 2008, 2016).

Sally Thorne laid claim to the dilemma of method slurring and has attempted to assuage critics of borrowing approaches from varying methodologies by developing a complete methodology which is a theory of qualitative research. Interpretive Description provides an explanation of and a rationalization for this "slurring" by lending a name to an auditable logic which provides validity to a study. This is what Thorne refers to as "departure and diversification" (Thorne, 2016).

Some may ask where the boundaries of Interpretive Description lie. It could be argued that there are no boundaries as long as the researcher can provide evidence within an auditable logic which is philosophically Constructivist and Naturalistic (Thorne, 2016). The auditable logic provides rigour and a cogent choice of methods in the construction of a study which departs from conventional methodologies. Interpretive Description lends the qualitative paradigm a flexible method in a way that Ethnography, Grounded Theory, Phenomenology and other qualitative methods do not provide. Interpretive Description breaks away from the rigidity of these traditional methodologies, or as Sandelowski says, the "tyranny of method" (Sandelowski, 2000). This flexibility is beneficial to the discipline conducting the research in order that the design is conducive to the specific needs of the clinician.

By adopting the Interpretive Description paradigm, the knowledge produced by the logic design will come closer to probable answers to the research question. In addition, the knowledge gained meets the purposes of the question being asked from the ontological and epistemological position of the discipline. Interpretive Description endorses that knowledge and methodologies are imperfect, so researchers are limited to work within these confines. Researchers, therefore; rely on probable truths (Thorne, 2008). Whilst objective and subjective realities are polarized concepts it is necessary for the applied science of nursing to bestride both forms of reality by drawing from factual material and social construct (Thorne, 2016).

3.3.1 Flexibility

As mentioned in the previous section, the flexibility allowed by Interpretive Description is its greatest strength. It may also be argued that it is also its greatest limitation. This is due to the potential of scepticism of other scientists not comfortable with this flexibility. Interpretive Description counters this argument with the call for a strong auditable logic. Interpretive Description allows the flexibility within an auditable logic so that specific approach choices can be made which target the aims and purposes of the research (Thorne, 2016). The flexibility allowed by Interpretive Description is the very characteristic of the methodology that may be the strongest point of criticism as discussed in the next section.

Whilst this lack of comfort with the flexibility of Interpretive Description may linger, it is important to recognize the need to name and describe the way clinicians are performing qualitative research when they do not rely on conventional methodologies. The traditionally accepted methodologies do not provide the ability to use varying means of developing knowledge (Thorne, 2016). For instance, most qualitative methodologies have been only inductive. In the methodologies of Grounded Theory, Phenomenology, and Ethnography all analysis is inductive (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Glaser & Strauss, 1965; Morse, 2016; Sandelowski & Barosso, 2007; Smith et al., 2009). The inductive approach does not allow for the use of data from previous qualitative research or theories as foreknowledge, or a priori themes. Interpretive Description does allow for deductive approaches in the presence of rigour within the auditable logic (Thorne, personal communication, 2007). This allows the use of approaches which incorporate deductive a priori themes such as Framework Analysis or Directed Content Analysis (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005; Mayring, 2000; Srivastava & Thomson, 2009), both of which are acceptable by the Interpretive Description methodology.

The next section reviews existing critiques of the methodology. It will include some of the challenges encountered by researchers selecting Interpretive Description to design a study.

3.3.2 Critique of Interpretive Description

The first criticism noted by Hunt (2009) is the lack of specificity of the methodology. This criticism includes a perceived lack of guidance from a procedural and protocol standpoint (Hunt, 2009). His criticism is related to the use of Interpretive Description as a student. Whilst it is true that one cannot locate a full procedural prescription, the whole purpose of Interpretive Description is that each design utilizing an auditable logic is unique and dependent upon the needs of each study. Each study employs varying approaches within the auditable logic. This may prove to be disconcerting to some researchers, even those from a naturalistic inquiry tradition. The study using Interpretive Description as a methodology is bound by two elements. The study must have an auditable design, and the research must be reproducible. This is the standard of rigour for this methodology.

In addition, as a student, few academic researchers are familiar with the methodology. This lack of familiarity leads to uneasiness and sometimes confusion for the student and supervisor (Hunt, 2009). Employment of Interpretive Description may prove risky for the novice researcher who is dependent upon those very supervisors and mentors who lack the familiarity with the methodology.

Whilst the aforementioned critique notes novelty as a drawback, some criticize that the methodology is not new. It has been said that Interpretive Description is "old wine in a new bottle" (Berterö, 2015). Bertero claims that Interpretive Description is a type of Grounded Theory. This is not the case, especially in that Interpretive Description grants the flexibility to use deductive

approaches if it helps to answer the research question. Interpretive Description is a unique methodology.

These criticisms may be assuaged as Interpretive Description becomes more widely employed and the qualitative culture becomes more familiar with the methodology. With the increased use of the methodology, there will be further critiques of its limitations, guidance with the procedure, and familiarity with the terminology within Interpretive Description. The use of Interpretive Description in the current literature is discussed in the next section.

3.3.3 Use of Interpretive Description in the Literature

The articles included in this overview of Interpretive Description use in the literature was unsystematic. One of the articles combined Interpretive Description with Appreciative Inquiry (Bettle et al., 2018). The article describes the design as using Appreciative Inquiry as its theoretical framework and Interpretive Description for data collection, analysis and to ensure rigour (Bettle et al., 2018). This approach of combining two methodologies is encouraged by Interpretive Description as long as it fits the need of the researcher to answer the research question (Baker et al., 1992).

Some articles were found using Interpretive Description only as an approach to analysis (Chan et al., 2017; Håkanson et al., 2012; Karageorge et al., 2018; Mejdahl, Schougaard, Hjollund, Riiskjær, & Lomborg, 2018; Mejdahl, Schougaard, Hjollund, Riiskjær, Thorne, et al., 2018; Strachan et al., 2018; Utley, 2017). These variances in the use of Interpretive Description may be due to Thorne's allowance for flexibility. It may also be related to the continued struggle for rigour and uniformity in a qualitative design.

It was evident that Interpretive Description was the underpinning methodology used in some studies (Burnett & Corlett, 2017; Damilola et al., 2018; Freeman et al., 2018; Karageorge et al., 2018; Lasiuk et al., 2013; Miciak et al., 2018; Nkulu Kalengayi et al., 2012). Each described a constructivist orientation and had an evident auditable logic. In addition, these articles described the importance of their disciplinary orientation and the need to have usable information for the clinician within the findings. Ontologically, Interpretive Description is situated from a decidedly disciplinary perspective, which is one of the distinctive characteristics of the methodology (Thorne, 2014). The use of data derived from these studies will be discussed in the section describing transferability. These studies are similar to the empirical study of this thesis as they all adapted Interpretive Description as a full Methodology. The use of all aspects of Interpretive Description was present in the mentioned articles as well as this empirical study.

3.3.4 The Disciplinary Question

Interpretive Description encourages the consideration of the researcher's disciplinary frame of reference during the investigation. Over time, clinician-researchers began to realise that social researchers sought out the essence of experience. The need for answers to the clinicians' questions were different. There was a realisation by nurses for the need for more pragmatic knowledge which could lead to application in the clinical setting (Thorne, 2016). Nurses had been attempting to make existing methodologies fit their more clinically based research questions. Often these methods were ill-fitting to their purposes. Clinicians needed a methodology which would allow new qualitative knowledge to be applied to clinical problems which are complex and multifaceted (Thorne, 2008, 2016).

Each discipline has developed its own unique knowledge base. Each discipline has distinct needs to build and write curricula and scholarly projects. There may be overlap and value of the work between disciplines, but there is an intentionality of these efforts within each discipline (Thorne, 2016).

Thorne (2008) realized that current methodologies required a recasting to conform with the theory of any clinical discipline. In her writings, she uses nursing as an example of how a discipline, in and of itself, is theory. She argues that nursing theory is the lens from which a nurse views the world (ontology) and knowledge (epistemology). As nursing uses applied science and naturalistic inquiry, its goal is to further apply both types of knowledge to improve the care and outcomes of the population served.

3.3.5 Interpretive Description Analysis

The goal of Interpretive Analysis (Thorne, 2016) is to develop new constructions of the collected data to answer the pragmatic aspects of the research question for future clinical application. In this case, it is applied to determine the clinical and personal ramifications of those experiencing 30-day readmissions. This approach borrows from other analytic methodologies to process the data, but in the end, it is unique as it does not simply report the data, but rather uses interpretive authority to prescribe meaning to the data (Thorne, 2016). Interpretive authority requires the researcher to build-in systems to assure that claims made from the data are subjective truths, rather than simple bias. This obligates the researcher to support claims with direct evidence from the data. Thorne (2016) describes an analysis process which thoroughly deconstructs that which seems obvious and to reconstruct these into new ways of interpretation of the text to reveal the new meanings of these reconstructions.

3.3.6 Palliative Care and Goals of Palliative Care Nursing

Palliative care is a philosophy that guides the support and existential healing of patients with serious, and often, life limiting illnesses. The term healing differs from cure (Egnew, 2005). The meaning of healing will be discussed further in this section. Palliative Care is an interdisciplinary practice which includes nurses, physicians, social workers, and chaplains as the core team members (National Consensus Project for Quality Palliative Care, 2018).

The nature of "being" is multi-dimensional. Palliative care's ontological positioning is that of "integration" of the self (Cassell, 1976) and is based on life experience (Antonovsky, 1979). Integration refers to the physiological, mental and spiritual aspects of the self (Cassell, 1976, 2004, 2009). Nursing is an integration of the social sciences and the biomedical sciences (Thorne, 2008). This positioning is what drives the methodological direction which nurses take in research. As described by Thorne (2008), Nursing's *raison d'etre* is the "amelioration of human distress, the accommodation of frailty, to counter the personal vulnerabilities of illness and sickness, and to make meaningful sense of the indignities which are caused by the failures of our bodies and minds" (Thorne, 2008). Sally Thorne agrees that these goals are the goals of palliative care nursing (personal communication, December 7, 2018). This thesis is written from the perspective of palliative care nursing and corresponds to these core values and goals. Palliative care nursing aligns with the chosen theoretical framework in that palliative care nursing attempts to increase Sense of Coherence which will be further addressed in the discussion chapter (Chapter 6).

Nursing concerns itself with the sick rather than the pursuit of disease and cure. There is a difference between illness and being sick (Antonovsky, 1987; Cassell, 1976, 2009; Kleinman et al., 1978). This difference is that a person has an illness, which is a biological disruption to one's

physiology, whereas; when a person is sick there is an embodied feeling of un-wellness which includes symptoms and a level of fear, dependence and loss of self (Cassell, 1976). This episode of sickness may include an element of danger to life (Cassell, 1976). The mounting symptoms of sickness threaten the integration of the individual, creating an increasingly smaller world (Cassell, 1976, 2009).

The disciplinary orientation of nursing includes physiology, spirituality, humanity, psychology, medical science, the observation of patterns in care and behaviour, establishing standardized practice and hands-on care; in other words, whole-person care. Nursing is integrated and holistic. It is the meshing of science, humanity and art. Thus, it is based upon the interplay between the subjective and objective (Thorne, 2016). Interpretive Description allows the clinician to *be* their own discipline, in the ontological sense, while utilizing newly discovered empirical evidence, both quantitative and qualitative, through structure and logical design.

3.3.7 Acquiring Knowledge

Phenomenology, ethnography and grounded theory are methods which call for the researcher to acknowledge their positioning, but to enter the field attempting to disregard this positioning (Creswell, 2007; Madden, 2017). This is not effective in forming further usable knowledge in a clinical discipline. For applied health disciplines, knowledge is built on the foundation of earlier scientific discovery. Interpretive Description understands that the discipline has an acquired base of knowledge which is built upon with further inquiry (Thorne, 2008, 2016). The methodology of Interpretive Description allows for the flexibility required for the analysis.

Interpretive Description is theoretically agnostic but acknowledges that elements of theory are often applied to the methodology to answer the question being asked. The first element in "identifying the theoretical fore structure is the researcher acknowledging their own "theoretical allegiance" (Thorne, 2016). This framework allows for the contextualization of a phenomenon based on the individual's unique history, experiences and circumstance.

Thorne (2008) argues that one must clarify to oneself the basic tenets of the "burning question" of the discipline. Nursing is a very complex endeavour. As earlier described, Thorne (2008, 2016) beautifully illustrates the purpose of palliative care nursing. The question is how to accomplish these purposes. Interpretive Description requires the researcher to explore the relationship with the ideas the researcher holds and how the researcher is positioned within these ideas (Thorne, 2016). The researcher must identify their "complex selves" within the discipline and within the concerns and experiences which have led them to the topic of the study (Thorne, 2016). This topic was decided upon after many years of witnessing elderly patients with multiple co-morbidities receiving very aggressive treatment and enduring suffering from the treatment only to be discharged from the hospital and return with the same problem, weaker, with a lower baseline of function and with, what the researcher perceived to be, a further decrease of Sense of Coherence (Antonovsky, 1979; Greyson et al., 2015; Hoyer et al., 2014). By allowing these individuals to explain their experiences their stories may shed light upon this and other issues concerning the population of these older patients.

3.3.8 Adequate Knowledge

The relationship between knowledge and qualitative research consists of both ontological and epistemological standings. These are garnered from the disciplinary perspective of the researcher and knowledge-seeking from a qualitative perspective. As there are multiple possible answers garnered from interviews relying upon reporting from individuals with differing illnesses, cultures,
life experiences, and biases; an absolute truth or knowledge is not possible. Although imperfect, we must work with probable truths (Thorne, 2016).

Interpretive Description is not a complete transformation from earlier qualitative approaches. Thorne acknowledges that this results in "tension between theoretical integrity and utility" of results (Thorne, 2016). Each researcher needs to explore their approach and develop a rigorous and defendable logic design. This is not methodological eclecticism, rather an approach that goes beyond description to the interpretation of questions asked by clinicians. It allows for careful dissection of what is known, and examination of what may be learned and applied from freshly collected data. In light of Interpretive Description's novelty, Thorne (2016) discusses the importance of credibility. This is presented in the next section.

3.3.9 Enhancing Credibility and Trustworthiness

Interpretive Description has developed a set of evaluation standards. Table 3.1 describes how the four evaluation criteria are used to produce credible, high-quality research using this methodology (Thorne, 2016). A more specific explanation of how these criteria were applied will be examined in Chapter 6 when discussing the strengths and limitations of the study.

Table 3.1

	Credibility an	d Trustwoi	rthiness	Criteria
--	----------------	------------	----------	----------

Criteria	Description
Epistemological Integrity	Epistemological Integrity is accomplished by maintaining a consistent approach to reasoning and assumptions within the study. An element of validity and quality is reached through the adherence to the methods and theoretical framework chosen to be used in the design and analysis of the study.
Representative Credibility	To claim representative credibility, it is necessary to show an alliance between the observed experience and the theoretical conclusions within the sample and the approaches undertaken in the study. The sample should also illustrate diversity.
Analytic Logic	This is achieved through a constant and coherent line of reasoning within the interpretations and claims produced by the study.
Interpretive Authority	To achieve interpretive authority there must be an adequate amount of information regarding the data. This information includes the reflexivity as well as reactivity occurring during the research process.

3.3.10 Knowledge Integration and Transferability

The findings as a result of the use of Interpretive Description are purposeful. There is no claim that the knowledge produced by other methodologies is inferior. However, knowledge for its own sake is not enough for the clinician-researcher. The ends of new knowledge must be purposeful to answer clinical and/or theoretical questions. Interpretive Description holds that the applicability of new knowledge is its' transferability (Thorne, 2016; Thorne et al., 2004). Within the methodology of Interpretive Description, this is referred to as "knowledge integration" and "knowledge transfer" (Thorne, 2016). Knowledge transfer is the expectation of Interpretive

Description research to affect policy or clinical intervention. Knowledge integration and transfer is an indication of the validity of the work.

The literature review in this thesis shows there have been many interventions and hospital policies implemented without adequate knowledge of the patient's experience. The majority of these interventions involved discharge planning, patient education and follow-up phone calls to the patient after discharge (Dedhia et al., 2009; Luke et al., 2011; Naylor et al., 1994; Steeman et al., 2006). This indicates practice without being informed by the population they are targeting with these interventions.

The knowledge accumulated in this study may also be integrated to contribute to the theory used in this thesis. The next section describes the knowledge integration of data found through the employ of Interpretive Description for pragmatic use.

3.3.10.1 The Use of Outcomes. One of Thorne's claims regarding Interpretive Description as a methodology is the ability to use findings to affect policy and practice. This is of great importance to argue for the use of Interpretive Description. Without proof of this, the result is knowledge as a means to no end or research as an intellectual exercise.

The transferability of knowledge derived from Interpretive Description is evident in research that exists in the literature. Several researchers were contacted to determine the transfer of knowledge using their findings. Some described their outcomes being used in clinician education. One author had findings used for continued education for health care professionals. In addition outcomes were used to improve guidelines for cross-cultural encounters (Nkulu Kalengayi et al., 2012). A researcher in the UK reports that her findings have resulted in Masters and BSc modules at the university and on an Infection Prevention and Control unit at an academic hospital (Burnett &

Corlett, 2017). Another researcher has plans for an intervention aimed at patients to improve their ability and willingness to share with clinicians their experiences with Asthma (Damilola et al., 2018). Unfortunately, there has been no funding for the intervention. The integration of knowledge gained from Interpretive Description research is useful and pragmatic. With a future breadth of adoption of the methodology the ability to integrate this new knowledge will become more evident.

There is a great amount of diversity in the disciplines using this methodology and the topics being studied. Some of these disciplines include Health Administration, Nursing, Psychology, Pharmacy and Medicine. Notably, many of these studies were concerned with palliative care. This thesis will contribute to the growing utilization of this methodology.

3.4 Theoretical Framework

In 1979, Aaron Antonovsky, a sociologist and anthropologist whose work was focused on public health research, created the "Salutogenic Model" (Antonovsky, 1979). Salutogenesis is the acknowledgement that with better public health practices and the discovery of antibiotics Western medicine can largely contain diseases caused by microorganisms and environmental toxins. It also acknowledges that whilst of great import to learn how to prevent and moderate chronic illness, death cannot be thwarted (Antonovsky, 1979). Antonovsky (1979) argues that his theory of Salutogenesis acknowledges that the most important direction for social science and medicine is to learn how to make our lives better. Finally, and probably most important to this research is Antonovsky understands Salutogenesis as a state that begins at birth and is dependent upon life experience, socio-cultural aspects, and the historical context of the individual lead to the development of

General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979). General Resistance Resources include the Major Psychosocial General Resistance Resources and the Genetic and Constitutional General Resistance Resources. Major Psychosocial General Resistance Resources include material resources, knowledge/intelligence, ego identity, coping strategies, social supports, commitment, cultural stability, magic, religion/philosophy/art, and preventive health orientation. Each Individual has varying General Resistance Resources. The strength of one's Sense of Coherence is dependent on the level and how one is able to engage and use their General Resistance Resources (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. The interplay between Resistance Resources (Mittelmark, Bull, & Bouwman, 2017; Mittelmark, Bull, Daniel, et al., 2017).

In "Unravelling the Mystery of Health" (Antonovsky, 1987) there was greater attention paid to and written of Sense of Coherence. Sense of Coherence is composed of three concepts: Comprehensibility, Manageability and Meaningfulness (please see glossary). These three concepts will be key in this research as they will be used as a priori codes during the analysis, which is one reason why Interpretive Description is the best choice for this design. Sense of Coherence is the theoretical framework for this thesis. Its concepts will be used as a priori codes for the research. Sense of Coherence will be discussed further in the Results and Discussion chapters of this thesis.

3.4.1 Expansion of Sense of Coherence

Since Anotonovsky's death in 1994, his work continues to be significant to healthcare and social researchers. The construct, "Salutogenesis" has become a well-known term among researchers and many public health professionals as a new and holistic way to approach health. The acceptance of the word Salutogenesis into the Merriam-Webster dictionary in 2019 speaks to how important Antonovsky's work has become (Merriam-Webster, 2019).

There are numerous studies regarding General Resistance Resources. Another construct within Antonovsky's theory is Specific Resistance Resources, but little attention was paid, or research conducted regarding this concept until later (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987; Mittelmark, Bull, Daniel, et al., 2017). Specific Resistance Resources are related to societal and political activities which promote the health and well-being of people (i.e., public health, education, housing) (Mittelmark, Bull, Daniel, et al., 2017).

Prior to his death the World Health Organization held a conference and called for a new way to promote health on a societal level by diverging from the disease-wellness continuum and cited Salutogenesis as an approach to a new way of thinking when developing policy and interventions (Kickbusch, 2003). Since that time there have been many emerging thoughts about Salutogenesis and Sense of Coherence. The overarching themes of these emerging ideas are 1) How does a strong Sense of Coherence come to be for the individual, 2) Is it possible for a major change in one's Sense of Coherence to occur after early adulthood, and 3) Can one speak of a collective Sense of Coherence (Mittelmark, Bull, & Bouwman, 2017). The empirical study of this thesis will be a contribution to the expansion of Sense of Coherence as it relates to changes occurring in the seriously ill older population. Examples of how these emerging themes are being addressed is presented in this section.

3.4.1.1 Researching the Development of Sense of Coherence. An example of how the development of a strong Sense of Coherence occurs has been studied (Slootjes & Shaharso, 2017). This was a study of female immigrants from Middle Eastern and North African countries into the Netherlands. Data were drawn from interviews with the participants and traits of a weak and a strong Sense of Coherence were compared and examined. These results are convincing and congruent with the theory. This study is evidence of how a strong Sense of Coherence is formed in comparison to a weaker Sense of Coherence. It is also evidence that Sense of Coherence is dynamic dependent upon changes in one's General Resistance Resources.

Antonovsky wrote of a trait he called "general personality orientation". This orientation includes the characteristics of such things as an individual's locus of control, hardiness, and self-efficacy (Antonovsky, 1991). Antonovsky proposes that general personality orientation contributes to one's Sense of Coherence. The Slootjes and Shaharso (2017) study is provocative and begs for further research in this area. The empirical study of this thesis will extend this work, albeit in a different manner and approach.

3.4.1.2 Researching Change in Sense of Coherence. Another area of examination is testing the variability of Sense of Coherence over a lifetime. This emerging theme is the area of study within this thesis. This will be addressed later in the results chapter of this thesis.

There is a study examining constancy Sense of Coherence in older people (Nilsson et al., 2010). Amongst the findings is the claim that Sense of Coherence improves as one becomes older. The results of this study challenge Antonovsky's assumption that Sense of Coherence is mostly stable throughout a lifetime.

There are other studies that are just the beginning of research in this area (Hakanen et al., 2007; Lovheim et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2003). Further research is needed to determine if Sense of Coherence is, in fact, more a developmental construct, or if it remains a constant through the lifespan. If it is found that Sense of Coherence is a developmental construct it would be clinically significant. Such a finding would be evidence to build clinical interventions to affect and improve the strength of one's Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life. Whilst there have been interventions developed and published regarding Sense of Coherence in the health care literature, especially in the area of health promotion (Heggdal & Lovaas, 2018; Super et al., 2016; Wainwright et al., 2007), there is a need for such research and interventions at the end-of-life.

3.5 Summary

This chapter includes an overview of the paradigmatic hierarchy of research, methodology, theory and method. Also, included is a description of the epistemological and ontological premise for this thesis. It described how the discipline of palliative care nursing is compatible and can be integrated with the selected methodology, and the theoretical framework for this study. There was a discussion of Interpretive Description and how it encourages a more discipline-driven means to deriving new knowledge and applying it in the clinical setting. In addition, Interpretive Description provides the clinician with the freedom to design their own auditable logic using elements of other approaches, designs and philosophy that are better tailored to the purposes of the study.

There was a discussion of Antonovsky's theory and how it has been used in the thesis as the theoretical framework. There was discussion of the future of potential research of the theory. In the following chapter, a description of the study's auditable logic will be provided.

The theoretical framework of Sense of Coherence is an appropriate choice of this thesis as it is directly related to the subject being studied. It is adaptable with the premises of Interpretive Description. Both, Interpretive Description and Sense of Coherence are deeply compatible with the values and world view leading to this study. These are the threads which bind this thesis together.

Chapter 4. The Auditable Logic Design

4.1 Introduction

This chapter will provide an overview of the auditable logic design with a description of the study purpose, objectives, research question, sample, recruitment procedures, representative credibility, data collection, data analysis processes, ethical issues and the institutional research approval. These will be described using the methodological approach of Interpretive Description.

4.2 Purpose of the Research

There is an absence of qualitative study in the area of older people and 30-day readmissions. In addition, there is a lack of qualitative knowledge regarding Sense of Coherence of older people as they experience serial loss during progressing disease and 30-day readmissions. This study aims to provide further knowledge in these two areas.

4.3 Research Question

The question being asked of this research is "Do the experiences of older adults with a 30-day readmission affect the construction of their Sense of Coherence?" The concepts of Sense of Coherence consist of Comprehensibility, Manageability and Meaningfulness. This question will be explored considering all three concepts of Sense of Coherence (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987) as *a priori* codes. The answer to this is highly complex and multidimensional. It requires an approach that recognizes the interplay of a patient's physiological, spiritual, socio-demographic and psychosocial dimensions to achieve a holistic interpretation of the patients understanding of the Comprehensibility, Manageability and Meaningfulness of their experiences, or their Sense of Coherence (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). It is also a complex question that requires a methodology

which allows the researcher flexibility displayed through the use of an auditable and logical integrity (Thorne, 2008, 2016). The integrity and the credibility is assured by the auditable logic design of the study (Thorne, 2016).

4.4 Objectives

Interpretive Description suggests that objectives flow from the research question and the disciplinary perspective of the researcher. According to Thorne (2016), a qualitative social research approach helps to inform our understanding of the societal influences on the forming of our responses as human beings.

The objectives of this study are:

- 1. To allow the participant to describe the course and trajectory of their illness, and how their illness has affected their readmission(s) to the hospital, their quality of life, their relationships and their Comprehensibility of what has happened.
- To allow the participant to identify the information shared with, and resources provided to them upon their last discharge which helped with the Manageability of their condition outside of the hospital.
- 3. To elicit the participants to engage in describing past hospital admissions, any changes in functional status and present 30-day readmissions.
- 4. To allow the participant to share the Meaningfulness of these experiences and how they may affect their future.
- 5. To interpret the findings of the effects of the experiences of older adults with serious illness on their Sense of Coherence from the interview data collected during a 30-day readmission to the hospital.

4.5 Sample

Purposive sampling was adopted and is described below (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1

Process of Purposive Sampling

Process Title	Definition
Sample Universe	Indicates the characteristics that all participants will have in common in the sample. This is accomplished through inclusion and exclusion criteria.
Sample Size	Deciding on the size of the sample considering epistemological and practical purposes.
Sampling Strategy	The chosen strategy model (i.e., Random, Convenience, Stratified or Quota)
Sample Sourcing	The process approach to recruitment: advertisement, incentives, control for bias, and ethical concerns regarding consent.

Source: Robinson (2014), Silverman (2010), and Thorne (2016).

4.5.1 The Sample Universe

The Sample Universe allows the researcher to identify only participants that have had the experience in question. Table 4.2 describes the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study to assure the sample contained only appropriate individuals.

These criteria were chosen with the intent of identifying patients who had a 30-day readmission. We know from the literature review such participants are likely to have frailty and comorbidities (Mor et al., 2010).

Table 4.2

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
65 years of age or older	Admitted on Observational Status*
Readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of their last hospital discharge	Planned readmissions for interventions
English speaking	
Possesses capacity as described in Human Research Protection Program Policy 340 (Appendix 7)	

Note. * This refers to a person who returns to the hospital and is kept in the hospital for observation, rather than a formal readmission.

4.5.2 Sample Size

There is little qualitative data in the literature and that which does exist has much smaller samples regarding the issue in question (Dilworth et al., 2012). The goal was to enrol between 15 and 30 participants. This sample number was deemed to be adequate to determine patterns and to begin understanding the experiences of this population. This rationale is in accordance with Thorne's guidance regarding sample size (Thorne, 2016). Thorne advises that the choice of sample size requires sound reasoning and explanation. This study will begin to contribute to a better understanding of the experiences of 30-day readmissions in the context of Sense of Coherence for this sample.

4.5.3 Strategy for Recruiting the Sample

This section serves to explain the process of recruitment for the study. It will cover the recruitment design, the use of non-researcher recruiters, and the consent process. The process of recruitment

is illustrated in Figure 4.1. This strategy utilizes purposive and convenience sampling to meet the needs of the study. Purposive sampling was achieved with the use of the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Convenience sampling refers to non-randomization during recruitment. The hospital's Joint Data Analytics Team generated a daily report identifying all older adults admitted to the hospital. The report was screened to determine those who had an unplanned 30-day readmission from those who had planned readmissions for chemotherapy, surgery or other procedures.



Figure 4.1. Recruitment process using Joint Data Analytics Team Report (JDAT).

The hospital case managers were willing and agreed to approach those patients identified in the Joint Data Analytics report. There was variability in the numbers approached due to time constraints and other issues which will be discussed in the findings chapter. The case managers introduced the topic and asked the patient if they were willing to hear more about the research. If the answer was "yes", the case manager notified the researcher, and the researcher would attempt to contact the patient and determine their willingness to participate. There was inconsistency in the recruiter providing the Patient Information Sheet (Appendix 8). For this reason, all participants received the Patient Information Sheet when approached by the researcher for consent.

4.5.4 Sample Sourcing – Non-Researcher Recruiter

Non-researcher recruiters were utilized in this study. The purpose of this was to ensure that patients did not feel pressured to participate. The study enlisted the help of a group of registered nurse case managers. The Case Managers had already been interacting with the potential participant therapeutically and there was an expected level of familiarity. It was anticipated that this familiarity would elicit a level of comfort rather than having a stranger approaching. The case managers had no interest in the study, other than the recruitment of potential participants.

4.5.5 Consent

When the potential participant expressed they would like to learn more about the study, the care manager notified the researcher. The researcher approached the potential participant, introduced and briefly described the research. If the potential participant expressed interest their capacity was determined (Appendix 7). The participant information sheet was then reviewed (Appendix 8). The consent form which includes consent to research, the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act release https://www.cdc.gov/phlp/publications/topic/hipaa.html (Appendix 9)

were given to the potential participant. After the explanation was provided to the potential participant time was allowed for thoughtful agreement or disagreement to participate. If a potential participant asked to have time to consider they were approached again after each 24-hour period. If the patient had not affirmed consent for participation within 72 hours they were not approached again.

4.6 Data Collection

This section describes the activities surrounding the data collection. The data collection is consistent with Interpretive Description. Data collected included demographic data, interviews and field notes (memos and reflective journal). A description of preliminary thinking and modification from the initial plan for data collection has been included.

4.6.1 Semi-structured Interviews

Data was collected using an adaptation of Siedman's in-depth semi-structured interviews (Siedman, 2013). This approach to interviewing was selected as it is used to explore complex problems within the human experience. This method echoes the epistemological and ontological positioning of Sense of Coherence, the theoretical framework of the study (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). This will be explained in this section.

The overarching assumption of in-depth interviewing is that the approach allows participants to share the meaning of how an experience has affected their lives. This is associated with the definition of Sense of Coherence. Antonovsky argues that the three concepts of Sense of Coherence are intertwined with how the participants experience their lives and how those experiences contribute to their global orientation (Antonovsky, 1987).

There was an expectation that many of the participants may be debilitated and fatigue very easily. Therefore, shorter interviews were conducted whilst continuing to broach all three overarching topics suggested by Seidman. The length of interviews should not be constrained by the researcher's parameters, rather the length should be guided by the abilities, and reflect the needs of the participants (Legard et al., 2003). An interview guide was developed (Appendix 10).

Seidman describes the purpose of each interview segment to have a distinct focus. Each interview segment is related to a concept within the theoretical framework. The interviewer helped the participant focus on these areas:

- Focused Life History (Comprehensibility) The theme allowed the participant to tell the story of their health and life. This allowed the observation of the participants understanding of their circumstances. The participant was invited to reconstruct the history of their failing health and their understanding or Comprehensibility of their prognosis, the trajectory of their illness, previous encounters with the health care system and the events leading to this hospitalization.
- 2. The Details of the Experience (Manageability) The second theme concentrated on the details of the time after their last discharge including resources, care, met needs, unmet needs, symptom management, care access and emotions experienced. The participants were asked to describe their experience in the home or skilled nursing facility with a focus upon their expectations, perceived needs, resources, and quality of communication upon the last discharge, access to caregiving and health services, and functional status. They were asked to share how their needs were met through resources or independently. This line of discussion illuminated the ability of the patient to manage (Manageability) after the last discharge.

3. Reflection on Meaning (Meaningfulness) – The third theme examined the intellectual and emotional connections between the participants' illness experience and their lives. This final interview segment explored the older person's sense of meaningfulness of their past, current and future experiences and expectations. There were also questions about their expectations, goals and wishes for the future, and what brings meaning to their lives in the context of their diminishing health.

The interviews used the three focused *a priori* areas of Comprehensibility, Manageability and Meaningfulness as instructed in Directed Content Analysis when using previous theory (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). The interviews began with open-ended questions, moving towards more directed questioning as described in the interview guide (Appendix 10). These interviews covered all of the above-mentioned themes but were less rigid and were more conversational than the focuses appear.

4.6.2 Demographic Data

After the consent process and interviews were completed, data were collected from the Electronic Medical Record, and the participant. A *pro forma* was developed for this purpose (Appendix 11). The data on these forms included the randomized interview code, ethnicity, gender, living situation, place of residence (urban or suburban), utilization of the healthcare system, the number of comorbidities and prescriptions taken by the participant, as well as the participants' insurance status. This information served to draw comparisons between this population and the data in the literature review. It also lends insight into the sample's diversity. An aggregated table of selected data information is found in Chapter 5 (Table 5.1).

4.7 Sorting, Organization of the Data and Data Analysis

The three steps to the Interpretive Description analysis of the data include: 1) Sorting and Organizing, 2) Making Sense of Pattern, 3) Writing the Interpretive Description (Thorne, 2016). This process is consistent with all analysis using Interpretive Description (Thorne, 2016). However, the flexibility of Interpretive Description allows for varying approaches to achieve this process. A personal communication with Sally Thorne (2017) resulted in the agreement of the appropriateness of choosing Directed Content Analysis as it fits the purpose of the study in answering the research question.

The next sections will review the three steps of Interpretive Description analysis. This is a pragmatic way to organize and sort the data to begin the analysis, through the use of Cognitive Processing (Thorne, 2016).

4.7.1 Sorting and Organizing the Data

The first step in the analysis of the data when using an Interpretive Description approach is sorting and organization of the data. The decision was made to conduct the initial coding and analysis following a directed content approach as discussed by Thorne (2016) and described by Hsieh and Shannon (2005). The Directed Content Analysis method was chosen as it recognizes the potential for existing theory to direct a research question (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005) using deductive tactics with *a priori* codes. The goal of Directed Content Analysis is to contribute to a conceptual expansion of a theoretical framework. In addition, Directed Content Analysis provided a practical and orderly manner in the construction and management of the data.

Analysis was deductive, iterative and began at the time of the interview. The interviewer listened with intent to understand and follow up with questions to fill in gaps of understanding of the participant's experience. Once the interview was completed the recording was listened to and notes on inflexion and emotion were recorded. This is part of the interpretive process. An illustration of this process is provided in Appendix 12.

The recordings were sent to a professional transcriber through an encrypted and secure server belonging to Yale University. Once the transcripts had been transcribed, they were uploaded as documents into Atlas.ti. Once this was accomplished, initial deductive coding ensued.

Cognitive processing was used during the analysis. Thorne (2016) adapted Cognitive Processing for Interpretive Description analysis from Morse (1994). This includes four steps to help develop the supposition required to write the Interpretive Description. The first step is to comprehend the data and the research milieu. The second step is synthesizing the data to illustrate patterns within the interviews and determine what the important findings are that should be included in the results. The third step is theorizing. This is the process of developing "best guesses" of what the data means in consideration of other existing theory. The final step is analysis. Included in this analysis was re-contextualizing, which is the process of bringing the data back from the theoretical to a more pragmatic conclusion and interpretation.

The Directed Content Analysis approach is also referred to as "deductive category application" (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005; Mayring, 2000) (Figure 4.2). It allows for the ordered assignment of passages of extracted text to a well-defined conceptual category. As newly defined categorical concepts arise through interpretation, they are added to the existing theoretical coding framework. The final defined categorical concepts and coding tree arise after all coding has been completed.



Figure 4.2. Step model of deductive category application (Mayring, 2000).

After the initial analysis, the process moves beyond sorting and organization, which is part of the scaffolding of the study through Directed Content Analysis. To further the depth and meaning of the interviews there is an interpretation of the themes, patterns, commonalities and also interpretation of the individual variability within the human response (Thorne et al., 2004). This is accomplished through a critical examination of the documents and listening and relistening to the interviews to achieve an "interpretive explanation" of the data.

4.7.2 A Priori Codes from Sense of Coherence, Overarching Themes, Sub-Themes, and Associated Codes

The analysis of the interviews used the *a priori* codes of Comprehensibility, Manageability and Meaningfulness which led to subsequent Sub-Themes, Associated Themes and a Unique Theme. This analytical process is presented in this section, Figure 4.2, and Figures 5.2, 5.3, and 5.4).

The *a priori* codes were used as category headings. The codes associated with the Sense of Coherence *a priori codes* are included in a table along with any subsequent Sub-Themes and Associated Codes and will be more fully discussed in Chapter 5 (Figure 5.2). In addition, the table includes the frequency of each code identified and associated with each of the *a priori* codes, as is part of the method of Direct Content Analysis (Aveyard et al., 2016; Hsieh & Shannon, 2005; Mayring, 2000).

Deductive coding began at the first interview. The cognitive process begins at the first encounter with the first participant. The first cycle of coding was to obtain sub-themes associated with each *a priori* code. The process of interpretation formally began during the sub-themes identification.

The next step in the process was to begin identifying the sub-themes and how they were associated with each of the overarching themes. Subsequent coding for associated codes was accomplished inductively. This iterative process enhances the understanding of the implications of data (Thorne, 2016). The assigning of associations and relationships from the data using iterative reasoning and considerations of the overarching themes continued throughout the analysis. During this process, research notes were documented in Atlas.ti. These notes and memos transcended the organization of the data to the beginning of understanding the relationships and associations between the overarching themes, sub-themes and associated codes.

During this process it was found that in addition to the *a priori codes*, another code/concept was identified which is associated with Sense of Coherence specifically to this population. This code was closely related to Comprehensibility and of great importance in this study. Comprehensibility and the newly identified concept became the overarching themes for the study (Figures 5.2 and 5.3)

There was great reliance upon the reflective journal which was kept throughout the process (Thorne, 2008, 2016). The "journal" was written by hand in a notebook as well as notes kept in Atlas.ti during coding and analysis. The notebook portion of the journal was to recall thoughts, questions and the process of decision making throughout the analytic process so that query of the data was conducted in a structured and meaningful way. The contents of this journal served as a reference during the writing of this thesis and was an important part of the data analysis.

The sub-themes were identified, and the deductive process continued using the sub-themes as the "new" *a priori codes*. This step in the process was used to determine associated codes. The product of this endeavour is illustrated in flow charts (Figures 5.2 and 5.3).

It was during this process that there was recognition of a unique phenomenon which was seemed unique from the other themes. This theme/phenomenon was recognized during the iterative process of relistening to the recordings for inflexion, rereading the transcripts, rereading memos in Atlas.ti and referring to the reflective journals. This new theme/phenomenon was separated from the overarching themes and sub-themes as a unique theme (Figure 5.4). Further presentation and explanation of how this sub-theme was determined is found in Chapter 5.

4.7.3 Writing the Findings and Interpretive Description

The entire process of this analysis is iterative and concurrent, which will lead to continuous Interpretive Analysis occurring with the collection and the sorting and organizing of the data (Thorne, 2016), and then written in the discussion of the study's implications (Chapter 6, section 6.6). This process allows for the spontaneous process of analysis to begin and the development of ideas to be brought forth in subsequent interviews. It also allows for an early start of the process of comparing possible codes and patterns (Thorne, 2016). It was at this point that the newly discovered categorical concepts were considered in the context of the theoretical framework.

Using the notes and journal as a foundation, overarching conceptual claims were established based upon the data analysis and data integration (Thorne, 2016). An explanation of these claims as well as illustrative tables of the socio-demographic data and coding data and examples of the coded themes will be described in the results (Chapter 5).

The Interpretive Descriptive approach is to describe the findings and the meaning of the research. It will be shown that there is a distinction between subjective bias and what may qualify as probable truth (Thorne, 2016). In addition, there is a distinction between interpretation and description. As mentioned earlier, these processes are elements of interpretive authority. In addition, measures will be taken to assure trustworthiness. These measures were discussed in Chapter 3. The integrity of the auditability of the design lends to the credibility and trustworthiness of this approach.

4.8 Ethics and Institutional Approval

There are four ethical issues addressed in this study. This section will reflect upon the protection of this vulnerable population, risk reduction in the interview process, assuring capacity and protection of confidentiality. This section will also explain the ethics approval process.

4.8.1 Vulnerable Population Risk and Minimizing Risk

Society considers the population of this study to be a vulnerable population (Schroeder-Butterfill & Marianti, 2006). The conditions of frailty, end-stage disease and comorbidities make this a vulnerable population and puts them at risk. These conditions may affect the stamina of the participants to endure long, in-depth interviews due to fatigue. Safeguards were taken to protect participants. The following sections address those safeguards.

4.8.2 Interview/Risk and Minimizing Risk

Some participants were asked about experiences that may have been uncomfortable for them to recall and discuss. The participants were to be asked if they were able to continue if he or she showed signs of hesitance or fatigue. None of the participants asked to stop the interviews or showed any distress.

In addition, this protocol presented minimal risks to the subjects and Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others (UPIRSOs), including adverse events, were not anticipated. This protocol is specific to the institution where this study was conducted. Any Reportable Events, which are events that are serious or life-threatening and unanticipated (or anticipated but occurring with a greater frequency than expected and possibly, probably, or definitely related) or Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others that would cause temporary or permanent interruption of study activities would have been reported immediately. Fortunately, no such events occurred, and this was not necessary.

4.8.3 Capacity

Potential participants who met the criteria for the study were approached by the primary investigator and determined to have capacity before discussing the study details. They were assessed for capacity in conformity with HRPP Policy 340 (Appendix 7). A brief conversation ensued with each potential participant to determine if the patient was able to do the following:

- Ability to communicate a reasoned choice regarding participation;
- Ability to understand relevant information about the study, including consequences of participation for the participant's own situation (such as health condition) and consequences of the alternatives to participation.
- Ability to comprehend the nature of the situation and its likely consequences; and
- Ability to manipulate information rationally.

Once capacity was determined the consent form was explained and the participant then chose to consent or refused to be included in the study. All but two interviews took place at the same time the consent was signed. The two participants who were interviewed on a different day were re-evaluated to determine capacity.

4.8.4 Confidentiality

The identity of the participant was coded to protect privacy. Identifiers, such as names, medical record numbers or addresses were not documented in compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) procedures.

An encrypted audio recorder was used to collect interviews. These digital recordings were erased from the recorder once they were transcribed. Interview recordings and transcriptions are stored on a password-protected laptop with encrypted software.

All data (recordings, transcripts and consent forms) have been stored in the Atlas.ti are to remain stored for two years and maybe revisited for secondary analysis. The participant was notified of this in the consent procedure. After storing the data for 10 years as required by the University of Lancaster, all data will be destroyed. To ensure patient privacy interviews were conducted in a private space.

4.9 Representative Credibility

Representative Credibility is the term used within Interpretive Description to describe the trustworthiness within sample selection. It calls for the assurance of diversity within the sample and maintains that all participants have a shared experience. Also, an auditable logic with regards to the selection of the sample is maintained as illustrated in this chapter and in the Results Chapter (Chapter 5).

The researcher sought to recruit adults aged 65 years and older who were readmitted within 30 days of their last acute hospital discharge in the setting of a two-campus urban academic medical centre in New England, U.S.A. This institution was selected after a Joint Data Analytics Team (JDAT) report revealed this hospital had the highest numbers of patients meeting the study criteria (16%) within this large system of five hospitals.

4.10 Institutional Research Approval

To conduct this research institutional approval was required by the sponsoring institution and the institution where the research was conducted. The following is a description of the process of ethics approval from both campuses.

4.10.1 Yale University Institutional Review Board

As the study was being conducted at Yale University their Institutional Review Board (IRB) needed to approve the study. The protocol application Form 100 FR 28 (Appendix 13) was submitted to the Yale IRB and the study was approved to begin collecting data on September 23, 2016, and to be completed on September 22, 2017. The Yale IRB approval letter was received on September 23, 2016, and provided the Human Subjects Protocol number 1608018304 (Appendix 14).

4.10.2 Lancaster University FMREC

Upon approval from the Yale IRB, a second approval was required from the Lancaster University Faculty of Medical Research Ethics Committee. The Yale Protocol (Appendix 13) and Letter of Approval (Appendix 14) were submitted. The FHMREC Letter of Approval (Appendix 15) was received on October 17, 2016.

4.11 Summary

This chapter has outlined the design and processes undertaken to achieve a credible and highquality study. By following these steps, the reader can see an auditable trail of the design and methods. This will become more evident as the results of the research will be displayed in the next chapter.

Chapter 5. Findings

5.1 Introduction

The analytical process using Interpretive Description and the construct of Sense of Coherence is presented here. The results reported within this chapter provide evidence of how participants form their Sense of Coherence. It is important to understand that these results regarding Sense of Coherence are specific to a defined population (older people) within a specific context (in the presence of serious illness or near the end of life in a healthcare setting whilst being readmitted to the hospital within 30-days of the last discharge). The first section of this chapter is a description of the recruitment and characteristics of the research sample.

This is followed by a presentation of the data and an interpretation of the results from the study in the interview findings section. The findings regarding the overarching theme of Comprehensibility, along with the Sub-themes of Directed Communication Comprehensibility and Intuitive Comprehensibility, as well as the related associated codes for each Sub-theme will be presented along with interpretation. In addition, the theme of Incomprehensibility and the related subthemes of Intuitive Incomprehensibility, Directed Communication Incomprehensibility along with the associated codes will be presented along with an interpretation. Incomprehensibility is a new concept related to Sense of Coherence. These topics will be presented in this section.

An explanation and interpretation of a Devolving Sense of Coherence will be presented. Devolving Sense of Coherence is a new finding within the study which makes a new contribution to Antonovky's theory. Devolving Sense of Coherence and Incomprehensibility are specific to this study of Sense of Coherence as one ages and is near the final phase of life. Finally, an interpretation is offered of how Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility affect the other *a priori* concepts. There will be a sub-section regarding Manageability and Comprehensibility. There will also be a sub-section regarding Manageability and Incomprehensibility. This is followed by a brief discussion of Meaningfulness and the two Overarching Themes.

5.2 Participants

A total of 44 patients were approached to discuss the research. Consent was obtained from 28 participants, there was attrition of three participants (Figure 5.1). The mean duration of the interview is 26 minutes (range 9 - 46 minutes).

The sociodemographic characteristics and pertinent data for the sample are described in Table 5.1. The participant geographic and ethnicity characteristics of this study closely align with the general population of the older population of the hospital and the surrounding service area. This was confirmed using the U.S. Census data for 2018 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018).

5.2.1 Physical Characteristics

The results regarding comorbidities are contained in Table 5.2. Eleven of the participants had a diagnosis of "frailty" documented in their medical records. All but two participants had a history of falls, decreased functional status, weakness, multiple co-morbidities and frequent hospitalisations documented in their records. It is known that frequent hospitalizations are linked to progressive frailty (Oakland & Farber, 2014).



Figure 5.1. Results of recruitment for interviews.

5.2.2 Pharmacological Factors

Polypharmacy was found in all but one participant in the sample. Polypharmacy is an associated factor within this study sample as the mean number of prescriptions is 13.52 and the range of prescriptions was 4 - 24 (Table 5.2). For this study, polypharmacy is defined as the prescription of five or more medications to an individual (Viktil et al., 2006).

Table 5.1

Characteristics		Result		
	(N) Percentage	Mean	Median	Range
Age		75.3	75	65-95
Gender				
Female	(13) 52%			
Male	(12) 48%			
Ethnicity				
Caucasian	(19) 76%			
African Descent	(4) 16%			
Asian	(1) 4%			
Latino/Hispanic	(1) 4%			
Insurance Coverage				
Medicare Only	(7) 28%			
Medicaid Only	(1) 4%			
Dual Coverage*	(4) 16%			
Medicare Advantage	(5) 20%			
Medicare w/Private Supplemental Insurance	(8) 32%			
Physical Characteristics				
Frailty Documented in Chart	(11) 44%			
Number of Comorbidities				
Pharmacological Factors		3.08	3	2-5
No. of Prescriptions		13.52	13	4-24

Demographic Characteristics of Sample

Note. *Dual Coverage is indicative of low socioeconomic status and provides the greatest access to healthcare in the United States.

Table 5.2

Overarching Theme	Comprehensibility		Incomprehensibility	
Sub- Themes	Directed Communication Comprehensibility	Intuitive Comprehensibility	Directed Communication Incomprehensibility	Intuitive Incomprehensibility
Associated Codes	Continuity of Message (13)	Acceptance (13)	Big Picture Conversation: Unclear (24)	Avoidance (2)
	Big Picture Conversation (9)	Getting Weaker/Sicker (87)	Low Health Literacy (5)	Denial (39)
	Intellect/ Education (7)	Insight (8)	Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine (32)	Lack of Insight (2)

Results of Deductive Analysis with Code Frequency

5.3 Study Findings

A presentation of the findings is found in this section. This will include definitions of the Overarching Themes, Sub-Themes, and Associated Codes for the study findings as well as the New Unique Theme discovered in the analysis. This will be followed by a further interpretive description along with interview abstracts to act as evidence.

5.3.1 Overarching Themes, Sub-Themes, Associated Codes and New Unique Theme

The Overarching Themes are Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility. This section is a presentation of each Overarching Theme with their corresponding Sub-Themes, and Associated Codes. In addition, a Unique Theme and definition is offered as a finding. Also, the definition of

each is included. These definitions come from the interpretation of the findings. Figures 5.2 through 5.4 illustrate the relationships of each Overarching Theme and Unique Theme with Sense of Coherence, as well as any Sub-Themes or Associated Codes.

In Figure 5.2 there is an illustration of the relationships mentioned above. The associated codes are at the top of the figure and are contributing factors to whether the participant achieved Comprehensibility through events or General Resistance Resources. Directed Communication Comprehensibility was achieved either due to or a combination of Message Continuity, a Big Picture Conversation, or Innate Intellect/Education. Intuitive Comprehensibility was achieved either due to or a combination of Acceptance, Getting Sicker/Weaker, experiencing Treatment Failure or personal Insight. Having Directed Communication or Intuitive Comprehensibility leads to greater Comprehensibility of one's circumstances related to their health and prognoses. This Comprehensibility leads to better Manageability. The figure shows that there was no relationship between Comprehensibility and Meaningfullness. Comprehensibility led to an increase in Sense of Coherence.



Figure 5.2. Comprehensibility.

In Figure 5.3 there is an illustration of the relationships which lead to Incomprehensibility. The associated codes are at the top of the figure and are contributing factors to whether the participant achieved Incomprehensibility through events or a lack of General Resistance Resources. Directed Communication Incomprehensibility came to be either due to or a combination of an Unclear Big Picture Conversation, Low Health Literacy, or Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine. Intuitive Incomprehensibility came to be due to or a combination of Avoidance, Denial, or a Lack of Insight. Having Directed Communication Incomprehensibility of one's circumstances related to their health and prognoses. This Incomprehensibility leads to poorer Manageability. The figure shows that there was no relationship between Incomprehensibility and Meaningfulness. Incomprehensibility led to a decrease in Sense of Coherence.



Figure 5.3. Incomprehensibility.

Figure 5.4 is an illustration of a Devolving Sense of Coherence. The figure shows that there was no discernable evidence of the patients having any level of Meaningfulness or Manageability. It was not possible to recognize any level of Sense of Coherence.


Figure 5.4. Devolving sense of coherence.

The following is a definition of Comprehensibility and its Sub-Themes and Associated Codes.

Comprehensibility -- For this study in an expansion of Antonovsky's original thoughts and definition, Comprehensibility is considered in the environment of older people facing multiple losses, declining health and nearing death. It is specific to the understanding of their prognosis and how it affects their Manageability and Meaningfulness. Comprehensibility is an overarching theme within this study's findings.

• Directed Communication Comprehensibility- Directed Communication is a Sub-Theme of Comprehensibility. It is the delivery of purposeful and directed modes of communication. Directed modes of communication are conversations with providers during a hospital visit or office visit which are truthful and clear using direct language. It can also be written instruction or evidence. When effective prognostic communication occurs, it leads to Directed Communication Comprehensibility. Directed Communication is a sub-theme of Comprehensibility.

The following are the Associated Codes of Directed Communication Comprehensibility.

- **Continuity in Message** This refers to the consistency of the message being delivered. It refers to good communication between the healthcare team so that all members are delivering the same message. Continuity in Message is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Comprehensibility.
- **Big Picture Conversation** -- A big picture conversation includes a discussion of expectations from a disease trajectory and where the participant is upon that trajectory along with information about the prognosis. This conversation also may include a discussion of the risks and benefits of certain treatments as well as goals for their treatment. Big Picture Conversation is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Comprehensibility.
- Innate Intellect/Education This is related to Antonovsky's General Resistance Resources (1979). It refers to the individual's innate intelligence or level of health literacy which may support Comprehensibility. Intellect/Education is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Comprehensibility.
- Intuitive Comprehensibility Intuitive Comprehensibility is a Sub-Theme of Comprehensibility. This refers to the achievement of Comprehensibility regarding prognosis and ramifications without the benefit of adequate communication. These participants rely upon intuition to achieve Comprehensibility related to the following associated codes. Intuitive Comprehensibility is a sub-theme of Comprehensibility.

The following are the Associated Codes of Intuitive Comprehensibility

• Acceptance -- Part of acceptance is the receipt of stimuli and relating the stimuli to the task of understanding and assimilation. Achieving acceptance of decline in the very sick older population may provide a sense of relief and an ability to put

aside the worries of finding answers to perhaps the unanswerable. Acceptance is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Comprehensibility.

- Getting Weaker/Sicker -- The ability to perceive physical changes, such as the decline in one's function and weakness, lead some participants to understand that their health is waning and will not return. Getting Weaker/Sicker is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Comprehensibility.
- Treatment Failure Experiencing treatments that fail to improve health or cure is

 a powerful means of achieving Intuitive Comprehensibility. Participants who
 observe their treatment failures can associate the return or progression of their
 disease with the reality of their condition. Treatment Failure is a code within the
 sub-theme of Intuitive Comprehensibility.
- Insight This refers to understanding one's prognosis and circumstances through past experiences of watching others in failing health and self-awareness. Insight is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Comprehensibility.

The following is a definition of Incomprehensibility and its Sub-Themes and Associated Codes.

- Incomprehensibility This is a state in which the individual lacks understanding of their prognosis and the ramifications of the prognosis on their circumstances in the environment of serious illness and declining health. Incomprehensibility is a new concept and an overarching theme within this study's findings.
 - Directed Communication Incomprehensibility Directed Communication Incomprehensibility is a Sub-Theme of Incomprehensibility. This refers to Incomprehensibility which is related to the lack of effective Directed

Communication. Directed Communication Incomprehensibility is a sub-theme of Incomprehensibility.

The following are the Associated Codes of Directed Communication Incomprehensibility

- **Big Picture Conversation: Unclear** This code is defined as a participant who did not understand the Big Picture Conversation or those participants where it was unclear if a Big Picture Conversation took place. Big Picture Conversation: Unclear is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Incomprehensibility.
- Low Health Literacy This refers to the lack of General Resistant Resources in the area of understanding health information. Low Health Literacy is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Incomprehensibility.
- Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine Participants with this code either do not understand the limitations of Western Medicine, or they have unrealistic expectations for their conditions. Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine is a code within the sub-theme of Directed Communication Incomprehensibility.
- Intuitive Incomprehensibility Intuitive Incomprehensibility is a Sub-Theme of Incomprehensibility. Perception varies from one participant to the next. Some participants are resistant or unable to address and understand their circumstances, or simply perceive matters inaccurately. These perceptions and resistance often result in Intuitive Incomprehensibility. Intuitive Incomprehensibility is a sub-theme of Incomprehensibility. The following are the Associated Codes of Intuitive Incomprehensibility

- Avoidance -- A code related to Incomprehensibility which includes the avoidance of discussing issues related to one's mortality or dying. Avoidance is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Incomprehensibility.
- Denial -- Another component of Incomprehensibility is denial. In some cases, denial can be a defence mechanism that protects the individual from engaging with anxiety-provoking stimuli (Cramer, 1998). Denial in the presence of Incomprehensibility and serious illness is a temporary defence mechanism. The realities of disease progression make facing these stimuli inevitable. When one is in a state of denial one rejects the information that they have a serious or terminal illness. The state of Denial may hinder the individual from a state of acceptance and be a barrier to planning and reconciliation at the end of life. Denial is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Incomprehensibility.
- Lack of Insight This refers to a lack of awareness of self and lack of recognition of evident decline and serious illness. This results in an inability to grasp the peril of their circumstances and begets a state of Incomprehensibility. Lack of Insight is a code within the sub-theme of Intuitive Incomprehensibility.

The following is a description of the finding of a Unique Theme which emerged during the study.

• **Devolving Sense of Coherence** – The Unique Theme of Devolving Sense of Coherence describes an aspect of Sense of Coherence observed at the end-of-life among some of the participants. A Devolving Sense of Coherence is a state in which, over a relatively short period of time, the participant may have lost or had a decline in many of their General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979). Antonovsky describes General Resistance

Resources as a multitude of personal characteristics which determine individual response to crisis (Antonovsky, 1979). As people age and near death it is natural that the number of losses is serial and increase with time (Brown & Lowis, 2003; Erikson & Erikson, 1998; Hoyer et al., 2014). It is suspected that Incomprehensibility may contribute to a Devolving Sense of Coherence. Devolving Sense of Coherence is a unique and separate Unique Theme of the study and is nescient in its understanding.

5.3.2 Findings from Interview Content Analysis

This section includes an interpretation of the findings which are presented along with Interview abstracts. The abstracts are offered as support for the interpretations. The evidence suggests that Sense of Coherence may be unique at the end of life and justifies distinct consideration. In addition, consideration of the Overarching theme, Incomprehensibility, should be considered as a new concept of Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life. An interpretation is offered of how Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility affect the other *a priori* concepts.

5.3.3 Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility

Participants were found to fall somewhere between the theme of Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility. As a result of Interpretive Authority, and through deductive analysis, this study finds that Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility is limited to the participants understanding of their prognosis and the ramifications of their circumstances. This is not an "all or nothing" categorization. Some participants were nearing understanding; however, for varying reasons which will be described, could not or would not completely understand their prognosis and the ramifications of their conditions. These Overarching Themes led to the identification of Sub-Themes. It is important to know that the Sub-themes and Associated Codes which follow have subtle differences and are associated with communication and knowledge. The Associated Codes included in the results have a strong association with either Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility and are categorized under the Sub-Themes. This section will show the relationships of the Associated Codes to the Sub-Themes and provide interpretation of the findings, along with excerpts from the interviews to illustrate some of the evidence from the interviews. Figures 5.2 and 5.3 illustrate the relationships between the Overarching Themes, Sub-Themes and the Associated Codes. A full list of all codes is provided (Appendix 16).

Next is a description of the Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of the Overarching Theme of Comprehensibility. This will be followed by an explanation of the Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of Incomprehensibility.

5.3.4 Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of the Overarching Theme of Comprehensibility

There are two sub-themes of Comprehensibility. They are Directed Communication Comprehensibility and Intuitive Comprehensibility. This section provides a definition and description of these two Sub-Themes. These Sub-Themes represent two different ways that the participants obtained Comprehensibility. In addition, the Associated Codes for each Sub-Theme will be presented.

5.3.4.1 Directed Communication Comprehensibility and Associated Codes. Directed communication is achieved through several codes related to the information received. For this sample, these codes include Continuity in Message, Big Picture Conversation, and

Intellect/Education. The following is an extract demonstrating Directed Communication Comprehensibility.

Interviewer: So, can you tell me, um, what you were here for the last time that you came. Nelson: Blood pressure was low.

Interviewer: Did they tell you why that was the case? Nelson: Nope. They said it might have been from dialysis...and they say I might have came in, uh, dialysis and, uh, took too much fluid off.

Interviewer: So, has anybody talked to you about an infection or anything like that? Nelson: Yeah, that's all they're talking about is trying to find an infection.

Whilst it was a slow process, it is evident that this participant has had an effective Big Picture Conversation with at least one of his providers.

5.3.4.1.1 *Continuity in Message*. Receiving consistency in the messaging of information is important for the participant to gain knowledge from the healthcare team to make logical decisions. This is a very important element of achieving Directed Communication Comprehensibility. Continuity in messages minimizes mixed messaging and confusion for the participant. All members of the team must be able to deliver a message that is accurate and constant.

Researcher: What do you feel, how do you feel about the communication? Not necessarily just at Hospital X, but at Jersey, too, with the system? How do you feel about the . . .

Olivia: I thought it was aw--, I did not like the communication in Jersey at all. I think it's much better here. When I was up on Floor X it was great. I saw all kinds of people every day, and, um, you know, everybody had, you know, their own, put in their two cents worth, but everybody's told me what... everybody seemed to be pretty much on the same page and,

you know, there weren't a lot of, if any, discrepancies, and, um, you know, I got very clear written information when I left.

Other participants also described the importance of accuracy and the continuity of the message. Consistency in messaging is paramount to Comprehensibility. Without consistent messaging from the team the participant's decision making is likely to be based on disordered and incorrect information. The meaning and accuracy of the message may be lost. Other aspects of continuity will be discussed in the next chapter.

5.3.4.1.2 *Big Picture Conversation*. Whilst the Big Picture Conversation is the foundation of Directed Communication Comprehensibility, it may be undermined if there is a lack of continuity in the message.

Edward: And unfortunately, I get these, between the congestive heart failure and these, you know, somebody along the line, a doctor somewhere, I give you a list of doctors I see, you won't believe it, said to me, you know, I'm in frail health. And I know I'm in frail health. I have been for a long time. So that makes me more susceptible, I think, to picking up things.

Researcher: Because of your frailty?

Edward: Yeah.

Another participant shares a very direct and fruitful conversation discussing decisions regarding planning for her care when she goes into cardiac arrest or respiratory arrest. The participant was able to reiterate the conversation she had with her physician and the decisions she made for herself in the doctor's office in the absence of a crisis.

Receiving information from providers leads to an ability for cognitive organization and processing and allows the participant to understand his vulnerability. Understanding one's vulnerability allows for other processing, such as the ability to plan for the future which leads to Manageability. It also allows for one to evaluate their values and what brings meaning in their lives which strengthens Meaningfulness.

5.3.4.1.3 *Intellect/Education*. It is evident from the findings that patient education is very important to the attainment of Comprehensibility. Straight forward information and facts allow the participants to obtain Directed Communication Comprehensibility. This requires a previous level of education or innate intelligence. This innate intelligence and education are part of General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979). These General Resistance Resources vary from one individual to the next and are required to process the information into an understanding of the implications of their circumstances and achieve Comprehensibility. This will be further explained in light of clinician responsibility in the discussion chapter (Chapter 6).

Ursula: Really the more communication that we had was here, you know. That they really explain to you really clear what is going on. What I have, what I have to do and all that. There was things that I didn't even know. The doctor here is explaining to me a lot of thing really clearly.

Researcher: Do you think that makes a difference?

Ursula: Yeah. It makes a lot of difference.

Researcher: How does that make a difference?

Ursula: Communication the doctor and patient is, it make a lot of difference because you expect that the doctor tell you really what's going on without no holding back. You know, and that's what happen, you know.

Researcher: When, when, before you got here, did coming here and hearing all this information, do you think that you have a better understanding of your illness? Do you feel like you, how, how has that changed?

Ursula: Yeah, yeah. I got, yeah, I got more knowledge of things that's going on.

This extract illustrates how patient education regarding the disease and how one is to care for themselves makes a difference in Comprehensibility. It differs from the Big Picture Conversation as the information did not include prognosis, rather it contains educational information regarding her illness and how to care for herself. In other instances, with participants, it was evident that those with higher educational levels were better prepared to understand the information of their circumstances. An instance of this is from a participant who is a nurse practitioner. This participant could easily understand the message being relayed to her from her providers. Whilst it should be a given that medical jargon should not be used with laypeople, unfortunately this is not always the case (Dunlay & Strand, 2016).

Comprehensibility related to directed communication requires candid and thorough communication between the participant and the healthcare system, as well as continuity in the message from the healthcare members within the system.

5.3.4.2 Intuitive Comprehensibility and Associated Codes. Intuitive Comprehensibility refers to a type of understanding that occurs with or without effective Directed Communication. The participants who have Intuitive Comprehensibility can perceive the precarity of their circumstances without requiring formal and direct verbal communication from a provider or written information for understanding from the healthcare system or other sources. Rather, these

individuals use intuition effectively to observe and organize stimuli to come to terms with their circumstances. This leads to adequate problem solving which may lead to Comprehensibility.

Barbara: Well I've been sick since last April, you know with the pneumonia, I never really recovered from that, uh, I...I...I went to PT I uh went to the gym. I'm a gym person, and I thought I was doing very well and then I started getting tired again. All I wanted to do is rest. I couldn't wait to get into my favourite chair and fall asleep. And my husband started worrying about me, so we went to the doctor and he said "It's unusual for you to feel this way" so he said "I suggest you go to the hospital, get a complete work-up", and that's what I did, called 911 went in and here I am, and then I went home thinking my husband could take care of me, and it was just too much, uh, he didn't say it (Voice goes up) by I knew it.

The codes which lead to the sub-theme of Intuitive Comprehensibility are Acceptance, Getting Weaker/Sicker and Insight. The codes associated with Intuitive Comprehensibility within this group of participants include Acceptance, Getting Weaker/Sicker, Treatment Failure, and Insight. It is important to know that these codes may be interrelated. For some participants, there may be multiple factors which lead to Intuitive Comprehensibility. Each code will be described in this sub-section.

5.3.4.2.1 Acceptance. For some participants Intuitive Comprehensibility is obtainable.

Laura: I accepted [it] really graciously. I was very proud of myself because we had travelled. Once we got our kids through college, once we got the house fairly well paid off, we traveled extensively, and I would tell anyone, don't wait till you're 70 because you might get a big surprise like I did. This participant was referring to accepting her failing health and poor prognosis graciously. Acceptance of the inability to do the things one was once able to do in the past makes room for peace and enjoying the life they have now. Acceptance of one's mortality allows one to enter into the work of life review.

Part of the benefit of performing a life review is to come to a place of knowing and feeling one's life is well-lived and complete (Erikson & Erikson, 1998). By obtaining Intuitive Comprehensibility through acceptance, the individual can enter into life review, which also may contribute to Meaningfulness. Also, with acceptance, there may be the ability to begin to make plans for the future and complete unfinished business before the end of life. This can contribute to Manageability and Meaningfulness.

Hannah: My husband died 22 years ago, June 20. He was born on Dec 20 and died on June 20, 74 years after. Good guy. Pianist. Had 2 Diplomas. I loved it at night, summer night, he was sitting and playing and I in my nightgown going down my driveway...I had a long driveway...and the music come, just everybody are young at that time...you don't think forward what is going to happen.

The processing of stimuli which leads to acceptance of one's limitations and illness and a life well lived contributes to Intuitive Comprehensibility.

5.3.4.2.2 *Getting Weaker/Sicker*. Another factor of perception is the use of one's physical senses to become aware of one's decline.

Matthew: If I can get out of the hospital. I spent an awful lot of the holidays since, since uh, 2015, Christmas and New Year's, and uh, well, I've spent every holiday, at least one of the holidays every year in the hospital, Easter, Thanksgiving, Mother's Day, Father's Day, you know all of that stuff. I've been in the hospital. But when I'm out, uh, I have, uh, it's not bad, so, you know. Am I doing everything I want to do? No. Uh, am I doing everything I can do? Yeah.

This participant described how he is no longer able to directly engage in activities he found important in the past due to becoming weaker but has since learned new ways to enjoy these activities. This is partially due to his ability to adjust and accept his physical changes. To reach acceptance one accurately perceives and confronts the changes and challenges of a serious illness. This too is part of Intuitive Comprehensibility.

5.3.4.2.3 *Treatment Failure*. For the following participant, the absence of direct communication in the environment of mixed messaging for the participant hampers her Comprehensibility.

Zelda: And I talked to Dr.X last week about stopping the meds for a while, the chemo for a while. At first, he was resistant to it, and I said, well, I am extremely tired, I need to get back on my feet, I need to rest because I've been sleeping all the time.

Interviewer: So, are you now off of the chemotherapy?

Zelda: Yes. For almost a week now.

Interviewer: What did he, what was his resistance to it? You said the doctor was resistant. Did he say why?

Zelda: Because I think because he found a new one. Because yesterday he came in with another trial paper to read and it's like, 'are you kidding me?' It's draining. He's not the type to give up, so. When a provider continues to offer treatment in the presence of advancing disease it is a barrier to the patient being able to fully understand their prognosis. This same participant said that she did think she was nearing the end of her life and that she had recently discussed what she would want if her heart stopped with her niece. Using commonsense and association, coupled with the knowledge of the limitations of Western medicine allows some participants to accept their circumstances to attain a level of Intuitive Comprehensibility. This patient died during this hospitalization.

5.3.4.2.4 *Insight*. The following excerpt demonstrates how insight contributes to Intuitive Comprehensibility.

Hannah: I keep telling myself, my children, it can happen any time, any day.
Researcher: so, you know that then?
Hannah: Of course, I realize and I think mother died the way, heart...
Researcher: Did your doctor ever tell you that you could go at any time?
Hannah: No.
Researcher: He never said that to you?
Hannah: No, never...that's what I realized

This participant has the insight to understand her mortality despite the vague and ineffective communication received from her providers. At one point during the interview, this participant thought that her physician was complimenting her that she had a large heart. She has determined a poor prognosis for herself based on prior experiences with her mother, which she describes in another part of the interview. She believes her mother died of the same condition and recalls seeing similar symptoms.

Another participant describes an ability to recognize when she is not doing well and is becoming dehydrated due to the change of taste in her food. The ability to recall past experiences increases insight and the capability to make associations with current stimuli. This leads some participants to Intuitive Comprehensibility...

5.3.5 Sub-Themes and Associated Codes of the Overarching Theme of Incomprehensibility

5.3.5.1 Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. The other Sub-Theme related to Incomprehensibility is Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. When Directed Communication is absent or inadequate it leads to Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. It must also be acknowledged that individuals may not receive communication messages effectively due to the stress of hearing bad news, medical jargon, and the use of euphemistic language.

Ike: I started shaking all over in the middle of the night. I couldn't stop.

Interviewer: You couldn't stop? You started shaking in the middle of the night and you couldn't stop? ...And now I came back and I go downstairs and got over there and I just stood and shook again.

Interviewer: Huh. What did they say was the problem? Ike: They don't know.

This participant's medical record reflected that he had syncope and dehydration. The participant has a long history of heart disease which included a myocardial infarction. This participant has likely been exposed to information regarding his diagnosis, but it is likely the Big Picture Conversation was unclear.

Directed Communication Incomprehensibility occurs in the absence of a "Big Picture Conversation". Rather, these participants have the factor "Big Picture Conversation: Unclear" in common. This means that the participant does not have a big picture understanding of the reality of their circumstances. Other elements associated with these interviews include: "Low Health Literacy" and "Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine". The following is an example of having Big Picture Conversation-Unclear.

5.3.5.1.1 Big Picture Conversation: Unclear.

Researcher: do you feel like the doctors and nurses are telling you everything you need to know?

Frank: To be honest with you, I don't think they know.

Researcher: okay

Frank: I mean, they don't give me any increase of medicine, you know, I mean, I'm just here.

In actuality, the team knows the patient's health problems. What is unclear is if he ever received an explanation or he did not understand the explanation. The quote "They don't know" or "They can't figure it out" occurred repeatedly within those with Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. The factor "Big Picture Conversation: Unclear" is common to each participant who has Directed Communication-related Incomprehensibility. This is true regardless of if the participant has the other factors associated with Incomprehensibility.

5.3.5.1.2 Low Health Literacy. The factor of low health literacy is associated with some participants with Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. Even with health education, we

cannot be certain if the participants' intellectual abilities are adequate to receive, process or retain the information.

Researcher: Why were you taking muscle relaxers?

Frank: pain in my neck. I stopped taking one and um, that morning I two or three o'clock in the morning they told me I got up, the last I remember, I got up and I called my son, and the next thing I know I was in the hospital, and they said I had been in a coma for a couple of weeks, and um, they traced it back to this muscle relaxer. Evidently, it was the type of deal when you don't stop taking it all of a sudden, but nobody had said anything. Well that was the beginning of it, and I have been going downhill ever since Researcher: After that, you had some other problems, didn't you? Frank: No

Researcher: what about your lungs?

Frank: That was all tied into that.

The participant is unable to differentiate his chronic illness of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease from complications of his abruptly stopping a muscle relaxer. This leads him to misunderstand his condition. Those with low health literacy also have Incomprehensibility related to Directed Communication Incomprehensibility. Another participant shared that she does not know how to get better and is incapable of recognizing when her condition is worsening to seek timely assistance. Those participants with low health literacy may have Incomprehensibility.

5.3.5.1.3 Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine. Another code that was associated with Incomprehensibility is Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine. This is not a common phenomenon. Advances in technology and the mechanization of the human body have blurred the

line for realistic expectations from patients and society. A gentleman with multi-system failure and sepsis questions the competency of the healthcare team.

Aaron: You know, you know...that's what I can't figure out...here I am at Hospital X, and they can't figure out what I got going and it's because it's a combination of things. You know the liver, the ah, what's that thing called? Alcohol-related?

Researcher: Cirrhosis.

Aaron: Cirrhosis, that's right. Kidney. So there trying to weigh everything all at the same time.

This participant is in multi-system failure and cannot appreciate that there are some things which medicine cannot remedy, regardless of how prestigious the doctors or hospital. Another participant described a notable height change due to age and osteoporosis. She describes being frightened by it and believes that the doctors will be able to reverse this natural course of the ageing process. These factors are evidence of the sub-theme "Not Understanding the Limitations of Medicine" which support the theme of Incomprehensibility.

An analysis of the factors of Incomprehensibility have driven an interpretation that the sub-themes of "Intuitive Incomprehensibility" and "Directed Communication Incomprehensibility" lead to the theme of Incomprehensibility

5.3.6 Intuitive Incomprehensibility

As intuitive factors vary from one subject to the next based upon life experience and personality, or as Antonovsky describes, General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). Some participants are recalcitrant or unable to address and understand their circumstances, or simply

perceive matters differently from the healthcare culture. This leads to the sub-theme of Intuitive Incomprehensibility with the overarching Theme of Incomprehensibility within this sample.

Interviewer: Okay. So when you left the hospital, did you feel as strong? Grace: Yes! Really good! Really good! But what really gettin' to me the medicine they givin' me in the hospital – good. And the medicine don't get not a . . . Interviewer: And you're not getting what you need to keep you that way. Grace: That's right, like in the hospital.

Rather than recognizing her own behaviour as relating to her exacerbations, she identifies the need for the stronger intravenous diuretics to be available at home. Later when asked about her non-adherence to fluid restrictions she admitted that this may be the case. This could be described as selective Incomprehensibility.

5.3.6.1 Avoidance. Culturally, Westerners tend to avoid the topic of death and our own mortality (Becker, 1973; Lonetto & Templer, 1986; Robben, 2018). This extract is evidence of avoidance in this exchange with a participant during his interview.

Researcher: What does this all mean to you? Quincy: It means (chuckles) I don't know, I just try to do the best I can. Do you know what I mean? Researcher: Does it make you think about your own mortality? Quincy: No, not really. Researcher: Not really? Quincy: No. Researcher: OK.

Quincy: No, it doesn't, no.

After relaying information about a terminal illness, the participant was adamant that he has not thought about his own mortality, which indicates an unwillingness to face his circumstances and a lack of insight. This patient had several comorbidities, frailty, dysphagia and has been in the hospital 18 times in the past 12 months. Another participant shares that whilst his mortality occasionally comes to mind, he avoids thinking about it to preserve a positive attitude. Avoidance prevents planning and self-reflection which are important to the development of Sense of Coherence and Comprehensibility and the developmental life task of life review (Haber, 2006).

Many of this sample welcomed the discussion as would be expected as people grow older, sicker and near the end of life. In Erikson's Human Developmental Stage of older adulthood, the developmental task is ego integrity vs. despair. A part of this process is life review which includes a discussion of one's experiences with death and mortality (Haber, 2006).

5.3.6.2 Denial. This is evident during an interview with a participant who has been diagnosed with hepatic cirrhosis, renal failure, sepsis and gallstones which he earlier explained in his interview. He concentrates upon the least lethal of his conditions.

Aaron: Well there were a lot of things in play when I came here because I thought it was strictly a, um, gallbladder issue and they found all sorts of different problems with the liver, kidneys a "bacriol" that goes through my blood

Interviewer: a what? A bacteria in your blood?

Aaron: A bacteria, yeah. It goes through my blood, and they're working on all of it. As of today, all of the vitals, as of this morning all of my vital signs are perfect, including my

liver, including my kidneys, everything except for ... they're still trying to figure out that last piece of the puzzle to be able to complete the process. Interviewer: And what piece of the puzzle is that? Aaron: The gallbladder.

Another participant describes months of deterioration, falling, shaking and frequent hospitalizations and nursing home admissions. He currently has no resources in his home to help with his ability to manage, cope and accept much-needed help and resources. When asked if he would benefit from extra help in his home he became angry and stated he did not need help. This shows a lack of understanding of his circumstances.

5.3.6.3 Lack of Insight. This participant who is in multi-system failure describes continuing to return to work but refused to recognize his limitations. On two occasions his employer was forced to tell the participant to go home. On the second occasion, he was told not to come back, but that if he were to get well he could return.

Aaron: So, I was home for a week, and then my regular...I went to work on Monday and uh, they called my wife and said "Come pick your husband up, he's not driving home" 'cause they could see I was sick and didn't have the enthusiasm or voice that I had going in there. So, they did that and I and went back Tuesday and they said we have to put you on a leave of absence for medical until your better and come back. Whenever you're ready to come back you've got a job.

This patient cannot read between the lines of what his providers tell him or how he is feeling. He is unable to gauge his abilities through his physical senses. Everyone around this patient can

recognize that he is seriously ill, but the patient does not have the insight to recognize his circumstances. This participant died during his hospital admission.

Similarly, another participant has many co-morbidities. He is been experiencing increased hospitalizations and increased debility. He is unable to recognize that his co-morbidities are interrelated.

5.4 The Relationships Between Themes

The evidence shows that Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility affect Manageability and Meaningfulness. There was an attempt to find connections between Manageability and Meaningfulness, however; no such relationship was evident in this sample. When studying the relationships between Incomprehensibility and Comprehensibility with the *a priori* theme of Meaningfulness there were differences in the tenor of the meaningfulness found by the participant. Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility may affect the other two concepts. The following sections will describe these relationships.

5.4.1 Manageability, Meaningfulness and the Overarching Themes

The analysis found that there were differences in Manageability dependent upon the Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility of the participant. These relationships are illustrated in Figure 5.5. The main difference is that those with Incomprehensibility have less awareness of their reduced level of Manageability. Whilst those with Comprehensibility are better able to identify and access resources. There were no obvious associations between Meaningfulness to the Overarching Themes.



Figure 5.5. Relationships between overarching themes with Manageability and Meaningfulness.

5.4.2 Associated Codes for Manageability and Comprehensibility

There is evidence that some participants with Comprehensibility were managing better at home, despite their level of functionality, and had acquired more resources for support for themselves than some of those with Incomprehensibility. Some completely dependent patients were able to find Manageability through external sources. The codes associated with Manageability and Comprehensibility are Being Cared For, Resources, Lack of Resources and Caring for Others.

5.4.2.1 Being Cared for with Comprehensibility.

Edward: My wife, we have been married 59 years, she has been absolutely positively unbelievable. She has been there for me every minute, 24/7. She cooks, she cleans, she does bills, banking, chequebooks, she does the grocery shopping, the cooking. She takes care of all my pills and she knows everything, what they are. I don't...she does so much, it's just incredible.

Other participants similarly were being cared for by family members who help improve their lives by providing care for them and for the things that bring meaning to their lives. **5.4.2.2 Resources**. Some with Comprehensibility who live alone are able to acquire needed resources that allow them to maintain independence in their own homes. This is true despite having a great deal of debility and a lack of functionality.

Researcher: So how do you handle your, your incontinence at home?

Karen: I use Pull-ups when I go out, that's for sure, but I've been doing really good with doing different kind of exercises that I do. And it's been helping me so I go from my, usually, I have a chair similar to this, but it's electric.

Researcher: And do you stay in that most of the day?

Karen: I use that most of the day. And then, um, I have a hospital bed. My bathroom has plenty of bars all around wherever I need them. And, um, everything is set. We set everything up

Researcher: And you have help at home?

Karen: Yeah. I got a aid that comes in, like I say, 5 days a week, Tuesday to Saturday. She helps me wash. You know. Get to the areas that I can't get into. You know because I get very upset about not being clean...And so, she helps me with that and then one day a week I have a nurse.

Other participants with Comprehensibility speak of the help they receive at home from food delivery services, home nurses and home physical therapy.

5.4.2.3 Lack of Resources. It is important to note that even in cases when participants have Comprehensibility some, due to lack of resources or not being cared for, did not fare as well. For those with greater functional debility, their choices were limited by finances and insurance.

Valerie: And so that time I went to Skilled Nursing B. Skilled nursing A didn't want me back. I think because it was within the 30 days probably.

And I can't remember how long I was at Skilled nursing B, maybe, oh, because I was running out of insurance because I have a total of 100 days counting Medicare and what my primary covers. Um, and so I was running out of insurance. I'd left when I ran out and ...

Researcher: Where did you go?

Valerie: Home.

Some participants are living with others who are also in need of resources and care. This makes Manageability difficult to obtain, as they are also caregivers in the presence of their own vulnerability.

5.4.2.4 Caring for Others.

Sal: And I was pretty sick. So, they shot me back in here to the same department, to ah, with the same group. I had left a day or two too early. I didn't fulfil the total program. I wanted to get home. My wife was ill. She had two strokes. It's a long story. I had to get home. And it didn't work out, I had to come right back.

There were other participants who expressed similar circumstances in which they were caring for others when they are sick and require help themselves.

5.4.3 Manageability and Incomprehensibility

Those participants with Incomprehensibility were unable to manage well without external sources. The one code linked with increasing Manageability for those with Incomprehensibility is Being Cared For.

5.4.3.1 Being Cared for with Incomprehensibility. Whilst this participant has Incomprehensibility, he has a strong advocate in his wife who not only advocates and watches out for him but also provides all of his physical care at home.

Aaron: Yeah, my wife knows all that.

Researcher: ok, so you didn't know what was going on, but your wife did?

Aaron: She knows everything...She talks to the doctor (clears throat) on my behalf, and the nurses. She knows all the lingo, all the antibiotics, all the medications, all that. So, she's...

Researcher: And I did watch her with the nurse looking at all of your laboratory work.

Another participant spoke of his daughter coming to the hospital and taking over all of his care and demanding things for his care when he was unable to do this for himself.

5.4.4 The Theme of Meaningfulness

Whether a patient has Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility did not affect the ability to find Meaningfulness in their lives and experiences. However, there was a difference in the tone and depth of the meaningfulness for those who have Comprehensibility compared to those with Incomprehensibility. When analyzing the coding of participants who are identified with the concept of Meaningfulness the related codes included Family/Love/Relationships, Spirituality, Life Review and Hopes/Goals. This was true despite their level of Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility.

5.5 The Overarching Theme of Devolving Sense of Coherence

Within this sample, two individuals died within 48 hours of their interviews. Their words were less important than the tone and desperation of their words. They were very emotional and seemed to have a sudden and unspoken awareness of their impending death. The interviews illustrating a Devolving Sense of Coherence displayed a sense of loss of self, autonomy, and power that may not be possible to obtain or regain. This led to further examination of Antonovsky's theory of Salutogenesis and Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life. Offered are two extracts from the reflection notes and extracts from the interviews as evidence of a Devolving Sense of Coherence.

Journal Extract from Interview with Barbara:

The participant was eager to speak. She did most of the talking without questions. When a question was asked she answered it quickly following it up with much-added detail, which was not related to the question. She seemed desperate to get her words out. She spoke about God punishing her, time flying by and her apathy about the things she used to care about, and being "petrified" about her illness. She worries about being a burden to her husband as she can no longer do for herself. She mentioned how he once said, "you're killing me". This is of concern as he is her sole caregiver. The interview ended quickly as she needed to go for a procedure. I returned to continue the interview yesterday, but she was too ill to speak. She died last night.

Interview Extract with Barbara:

Barbara: Um, then there's three of us that hanged together since high school. We're like friends for 60 yrs, and um the one we rely on all the time had a major, major heart attack. They think she was going to make it. So, that kinda really blew me away, and uh, hmph. (Pause) After that, I uh, (pause) I said what's there to live for, we are only living to die, you know? We go to Pompano Beach, and you see all these old people just about, walking on a walker, and I wasn't like that. I was very rambunctious, and I would say "This is God's waiting room" you know, and I got more and more depressed. It got to a point when I didn't like Florida

Journal Extract from Interview with Peter:

This gentleman was hypervigilant and hypersensitive. I accidentally brushed against his hand and he yelled out. He was agitated. At the beginning of the interview he seemed reticent, but as it progressed his words and emotions seemed to gush forth in tone and tenor. He had so many crises and changes in these last three months as his health has greatly deteriorated and he is overwhelmed. It is difficult to imagine how anyone going through these changes could be anything but overwhelmed. He has been living in CT for three months and has been in the hospital for as many times. He moved across the country, sold his house, and just lost his son during these three months. These last three months have been very chaotic. His son died during this hospitalization.

Addendum: This patient died in the hospital. I can't imagine the grief his wife must be feeling as she buries her son and husband in such a short period of time.

Interview Extract with Peter:

Peter: But anyway, when I was coming home they released me from the hospital, but before that happened on Thursday morning of that week my son from, ah, West--, Southport came into the hospital at 9:00, 9:30 in the morning and said to me, 'I got bad news'. He said, 'Rick, (sobbing) Rick died'...(sobbing) The first time I went into the hospital . . . The first time I went into the hospital he was also taken to the hospital and I didn't know it. He was upstairs and I was downstairs at Yale-New Haven. He had severe pains in his stomach. 1: And they had to do an emergency operation. They discovered his can--, cancer (sobbing). Researcher: I'm so sorry.

Peter: (sobbing) The second time I went in the hospital, my son showed up again to tell me he died (sobbing). And here I am now back in the hospital and they're still working to find out what's really, really wrong. There's a problem with my kidneys. There's this fluid situation. I'm diabetic. I have a million things wrong with me. I'm taking medication, there must be 30 different medications a day, 30 a day, and they're attempting to make some...

A person with a Devolving Sense of coherence exhibited an inability to establish coping, reconciliation, retention of dignity, and may not be able to resolve death anxiety for lack of time. All of these elements are required to develop Manageability or Meaningfulness and a strong Sense of Coherence. Devolving Sense of Coherence occurs at a time when the patient is near death and overwhelmed with symptoms, lack of time and personal loss to regain or develop a Sense of Coherence. This Unique Theme will require further exploration and study. Devolving Sense of Coherence will be discussed further in the next chapter.

5.6 Summary

In summary, the results of this study are the identification of a new Overarching Theme derived from Sense of Coherence known as Incomprehensibility. The results also find that there is some association between Manageability with the Comprehensibility themes of and Incomprehensibility. The results show both those with Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility are able to obtain Meaningfulness. Also, there was a presentation of the New Unique Theme of Devolving Sense of Coherence. The next chapter will include further discussion and interpretation of these findings.

Chapter 6. Discussion

6.1 Introduction and Important Findings

The results of this study include an expansion of the concept Comprehensibility and two new concepts as they are related to Antonovky's construct of Sense of Coherence at the later stages of life. One of the new concepts has been labelled Incomprehensibility. The other new concept is a state of Sense of Coherence which is specific to the participant who is nearing death which is called Devolving Sense of Coherence. These conclusions are the most important findings within the study. This section provides a summary and discussion of these findings. In addition, this chapter includes a comparison of the findings with existing knowledge, implications of the study, the study's strengths and limitations, and concludes with a summary of the thesis.

6.1.1 Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility at the End of Life

It is important to discuss what is meant by the two overarching themes of Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility. They are not meant to indicate that one who has Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility understands or does not understand all matters concerning their condition. Rather patients may or may not have a great deal of understanding regarding the pathology of their disease process. They may or may not have a good understanding of the mechanisms of the pharmacotherapy and the medication schedule. In this study, the focus is upon whether one has Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility explicitly regarding their understanding of where they lay on the trajectory of their disease, their prognosis, and the ramifications of this information upon their future. In other words, do they understand they are nearing the end of their lives? Whether the participant has Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility is multi-factorial and dependent upon what Antonovsky refers to as General Resistance Resources. These resources will be further described and discussed later in the chapter. The only claim being made in this thesis is that Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility may affect how older, very sick individuals form their Sense of Coherence.

6.1.2 Devolving Sense of Coherence at the End-of-Life

As mentioned, Antonovsky describes Sense of Coherence, as a mostly fixed state during one's life time with periods of dynamism; however, as people age and near death it is natural that the number of experienced losses become serial and increase with time (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987; Brown & Lowis, 2003; Erikson & Erikson, 1998). Antonovsky offers an analogy of an individual's Sense of Coherence being much like a tightrope walker. He describes how certain events occur that shake one's Sense of Coherence but, by using our General Resistance Resources the tight ropewalker can regain his balance. Antonovsky states that this may happen many times over the course of one's life until eventually the individual cannot regain his balance and falls to his own destruction, which I take to mean "dies" (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). It is this final phase of life when one "falls to his own destruction" which Antonovsky has failed to consider in his theory (Antonovsky, 1993). A Devolving Sense of Coherence is possibly this final phase in an environment of serial loss of General Resistance Resources and Incomprehensibility of the circumstances surrounding one's disease and/or prognosis.

6.2 Existing Literature Regarding Sense of Coherence and End-of-Life

There were no articles found specifically addressing Sense of Coherence or Salutogenesis at end of life. There were many articles which examined Sense of Coherence of caregivers of chronically or terminally ill patients (Alpuente et al., 2018; Ekwall et al., 2007; Potier et al., 2016; Pretorius et al., 2009; Wennerberg et al., 2012). Another study examined Sense of Coherence of nurses

caring for the dying (Hall-Lord et al., 2018). There are a few articles which looked at Sense of Coherence near the end of life, but all subjects were cancer patients and many were experiencing untimely deaths (Friedrichsen & Strang, 2001; Winger et al., 2016). The lack of evidence in the area of Sense of Coherence in the older population at the end of life provides a great deal of opportunity for further study.

6.2.1 Antonovsky, Sense of Coherence and Growing Old

During a lecture, at the University of California, Berkeley, Antonovsky spoke to a group of Gerontologists where he acknowledged that he believed the theory of Salutogenesis is applicable to the ageing person. In addition, he acknowledged that there is a great deal to learn, and he does not have the answers to all of the questions regarding ageing. It is evident from the transcript of this talk that Antonovsky had become aware that there was much more to study, think and write about regarding this phase of life (Antonovsky, 1993). It is unfortunate that he died just one year after this talk before he could make further contributions to the end-of-life knowledge base.

Antonovsky agreed that ageing is a phase of human development, echoing Erickson's Theory of Human Development. Specifically he referred to this phase as holding the possibility of older people to continue developing "social-psychological factors" as they age (Antonovsky, 1993). This claim undermines what he had said in his original work, that being, Sense of Coherence is mostly fixed by the age of 30 years (Antonovsky, 1987).

Antonovsky's overarching theme in *Health, Stress, and Coping* (1979) and his subsequent work *Unravelling the Mystery of Health* (1987) is Salutogenesis. In his work, Antonovsky seeks to understand the cause of health rather than the cause of disease (Lindstrom & Erickkson, 2006). Antonovsky sees Sense of Coherence as a mostly stable state maintained throughout the lifetime, with times of dynamism. He does not investigate how Sense of Coherence changes during the unique life stage of growing old, experiencing loss of independence, the loss of the ability to drive, declining functional status, cognitive decline, worsening health, and also isolation and loneliness as a result of family and friends dying and the facing of their own mortality (Antonovsky, 1979; Brown & Lowis, 2003; Erikson & Erikson, 1998; Holland & Rabbitt, 1992; Hoyer et al., 2014; Hubbard et al., 2014; Pinquart & Sorenson, 2000; Wang et al., 2020; Wang, 2016). The subject of these losses are what Antonovsky describes as General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). These losses most frequently continue to mount as one nears death unless one dies suddenly (Brown & Lowis, 2003; Erikson & Erikson, 1998). At this late stage of life, General Resistance Resources may never be regained. This begs the question of how one gains Sense of Coherence as one dies. Interventions resulting from this study's findings may decrease Incomprehensibility and move the patient towards Comprehensibility. This holds potential for a stronger Sense of Coherence and a more healthful dying process for some. This would require further interventional study.

Whether the participant has Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility is determined by how one receives, perceives and processes stimuli and is reliant upon the participants' life experiences, personality, perception and intelligence/knowledge, social support, also known as General Resistance Resources (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987; National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, 2016; Schulz & Eden, 2016). As everyone has a unique set of these resources this thesis cannot claim a complete understanding of all factors affecting the themes of Comprehensibility or Incomprehensibility.

6.3 Implications and Recommendations

Implications and recommendations for this thesis are in several areas. These areas include implications for future research, biomedical hospital and legislative policy, educational policy, and clinical interventions.

6.3.1 An Extended Interpretation of Sense of Coherence and Devolving Sense of Coherence at the End-of-Life

This study asserts that Sense of Coherence, and Salutogenesis at end-of-life may be a unique life phase worthy of examination independent of other life phases. Dying and end-of-life is unique from every other phase of life. Whilst Antonovsky examined Sense of Coherence throughout the life span and what creates "health", the theory of Salutogenesis, the framework of Sense of Coherence and the findings of this study point to the need for further examination of Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life. How might an individual avoid a Devolving Sense of Coherence and have a "healthy" death? Further study in this area may lead to findings which help answer this question and understand how to promote a "healthy" Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life and a "healthy" death. This study will be a contribution to the "good death" "healthy death" knowledge base.

6.3.2 Incomprehensibility and Comprehensibility

A "Big Picture Conversation" intervention should be studied to determine if patients move toward Comprehensibility using "Directed Communication". Tools will need to be developed for evaluation and reassessment of Incomprehensibility and Comprehensibility. These tools will need
to be developed to identify the type of Incomprehensibility or Comprehensibility the patient has and to determine if changes occur with intervention.

6.3.3 Bioethical Implications

The discovery of Incomprehensibility implies an ethical obligation for providers who engage in discussions with older, very sick patients. The provider owes their charge a "Big Picture Conversation" (Hancock et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2015; Numico et al., 2009). This conversation should be direct and exclude euphemisms. At the end of the conversation the patient should be evaluated for Comprehensibility. Without a "Big Picture Conversation" intervention the provider has contributed to the patient's Incomprehensibility and is derelict in their duty to the patient. This is an area which deserves further exploration in the future regarding duty and bioethics.

6.3.4 Policy

Currently, in the United States legislature there is debate regarding two bills in the house and senate named Palliative Care and Hospice Education and Training (H.R. 647 and S.2080). These bills would grant nursing, medical, social work and chaplaincy schools \$15,000,000 annually from 2020 to 2040 for Palliative Training Centers. The results of this study serve as additional evidence of the need to increase such funding through these bills and to promote the development of end-of-life communication skills within all specialties in generalist palliative care.

These results also serve as evidence of a need to create policy which increases access to palliative care. The results point to potential to decrease 30-day readmissions which is an incentive to increase access to palliative services. In addition, the evidence of this study could be used in conjunction with other mounting evidence to support educational policy and mandates for formal

education in Medical Schools, and Nursing Education. Hospital policies could also be bolstered by these results. New policy could be accomplished through the Joint Commission of Hospital Accreditation by mandating expert communication education for end-of-life communication earlier in a terminal or chronic diagnosis with mandatory palliative consultations for patients meeting predetermined criteria. Currently, in the United States, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network has set out guidelines which network members must meet to be a member (National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2019). These guidelines require palliative care be integrated as a component of usual and comprehensive cancer treatment. Similar guidelines could be developed for geriatric patients.

6.4 Clinical Practice and Academic Curriculum

6.4.1 Increased Resources for EOL Communication by Skilled Clinicians

There is a gap in knowledge regarding the results of clear communication in discussions regarding prognosis and life-limiting illnesses. This study provides evidence of the need to provide hospital clinicians with the tools to be forthright and unequivocal in their communication. Patients and families come to professionals for their knowledge and experience. Often the clinician fears they will dash patient hope. Our job is not to provide hope, rather it is to help to reframe hope and empower patients with the knowledge of their circumstances and all of their available options. These findings can provide evidence of the need and the request for further resources to educate hospital clinicians properly.

6.4.2 Interventions to Move from Incomprehensibility to Comprehensibility

Educational modules could be implemented with primary care and hospitalist providers. The providers would be equipped with appropriate language to use with patients when having a "Big Picture Conversation", absent of euphemisms. This type of communication is "Directed Communication". Further, a method for evaluation of the patients understanding considering Comprehensibility could be included. Comprehensibility would be evaluated then reassessed at the next patient visit in the primary setting.

6.4.3 Palliative Nursing and Sense of Coherence—A New Model for Nursing

During the research there was a glimmer of the potential for a new Palliative Care Nursing Model. This model is nascent and will require further thought, study and testing. By amalgamating the goals of palliative nursing, the domains of palliative care and the framework of Sense of Coherence there may be potential to guide nurses to care for their patients at the end of life to insure their best Sense of Coherence under the circumstances.

6.5 Strengths and Limitations

6.5.1 Limitations

A limitation of the study is the size of the sample recruited. The number of participants recruited for this study was small. This limits the ability to generalize these findings beyond this small sample. However, this sample size is considered an acceptable size for an Interpretive Description study. Another limitation is that the study would have benefitted from a longitudinal course. Identification of these participants earlier in the trajectory of the illnesses would have shown changes to their Sense of Coherence over time. However, this presents an opportunity for further study.

6.5.2 Strengths

This study has begun to fill a gap in the literature in two ways. Up until now there has been no further work exploring Salutogenesis in the very old nearing death. This study begins to do this through identifying further concepts related to Sense of Coherence. The new concept of Incomprehensibility furthers investigation of Sense of Coherence and contributes knowledge in end-of-life care for the old and very sick who are nearing death.

In addition, the new theme of Devolving Sense of Coherence contributes a new area of investigation as it relates to Salutogenesis. Devolving Sense of Coherence occurs in the environment of serial loss as very sick older people face their own mortality. This occurs without the time or opportunity to ever regain one's Sense of Coherence and implies we are studying the time which Antovsky refers to as "falling to one's destruction". This area will require a great deal of research to further knowledge.

6.6 Reflexivity and Interpretive Description

This section will include some of the reflexivity which occurred regarding and during the iterative analysis and interpretation. The hope is to show that reflexivity is a part of the iterative and interpretive process. Throughout the entire time working on this study and thesis, interpretation and reflexivity occurred. Thorne sees reflexivity as a means to bolster validity through reflexive accounting. Reflexivity allows one to recall the thought processes during analysis which lead to conclusions. Interpretive Description acknowledges that the clinical researcher approaches research from the origin of one's discipline (Thorne, 2008, 2016). As such, this thesis, study and reflexivity are decidedly viewed through the prism of the discipline of palliative care nursing.

It is known that the researcher brings a part of themselves into the field in qualitative research, so it is with the clinician researcher bringing their disciplinary selves into the field. Thoughtful reflexivity increases the credibility of the work (Dodgson, 2019). Interpretive Description acknowledges that all researchers have prior knowledge. Rather than viewing this knowledge as bias it may enhance the credibility of the research product. This is especially true as the goal of Interpretive Description is to produce pragmatic findings that can be applied in the clinical arena.

Upon beginning this study there was an expectation the findings would reveal how 30-day readmissions affect the participants Sense of Coherence. By sampling those older adults who have a 30-day readmission the population recruited were those who are the very ill and sick older adults. Much was learned about what it is like to be older with serious illness and facing one's own mortality and forming Sense of Coherence.

Reflexivity reveals a self-awareness that this may have been a subconscious intent. After many years of experience working with the very old and very sick it is evident that patients who have frequent readmissions to the hospital are usually the very sickest of patients. This has been true in my own clinical experience. The actual purpose of the study evolved over an iterative analytic process, interpretation and self-reflection which continued through the entire study and the writing of this thesis.

6.6.1 Overtreatment and Crossing the River Styx – An Observation

Intervention is imperative to help the patient move from Incomprehensibility into Comprehensibility, especially in light of overtreatment. We now find ourselves in an era of regular overtreatment of the old, sick and frail (Wong et al., 2012). We all, clinicians and patients alike, need to recognize when it is appropriate to stop overtreatment and allow a natural death. The practice of overtreatment produces devastating societal and personal effects along with evidence that patient's whose wishes are to forego aggressive treatment are frequently not followed (Pasman et al., 2013; Wong et al., 2012). Death was once a communal and familial event, most commonly occurring at home (Blauner, 1966; Toolis, 2017). Modern dying has confounded death and dying awareness with technologies such as Cardiac Pulmonary Resuscitation and Mechanical Ventilation, Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy and other forms of artificial life support. In addition, the advent of antibiotic therapies has separated the old man from what was once known as his friend, that being pneumonia or other infections (Blauner, 1966). Infections were once the most common way that people died naturally. Whilst these discoveries have proven wonderful in decreasing mortality, especially in the young and otherwise healthy, it results in overtreatment for the aged. Now, the majority of deaths for the older population occur in the hospital after long bouts of frailty and multiple chronic conditions (Field, 1996), This predisposes the old to a long and prolonged dying process (Blauner, 1966; Field, 1996).

We know that conversations with a palliative care provider can reduce 30-day readmissions and increase the number of patients admitted to hospice (Gagne-Henderson et al., 2017). There can be an analogy drawn between these conversations and the Greek myth of Karon, who delivers the newly dead across the River Styx. This myth tells the only way one enters the afterlife is if

someone places a gold coin beneath the tongue of the dead for passage. If there is no coin their souls are left to wander the banks of the river for eternity.

These "Big Picture" conversations are much like the gold coins in the myth. The conversation provides the Comprehensibility required to have a strong Sense of Coherence and move forward through the dying process in peace. On the other hand, the patient with Incomprehensibility finds themselves wandering the riverbank aimlessly and faltering without the proper preparation to recognize what the future holds. Through twenty-seven years of clinical experience with the dying many patients I have cared for patients appeared to be dying with a "Devolving Sense of Coherence". Without Comprehensibility these patients had less than peaceful deaths. Palliative sedation was required for four patients in my care, and all of them received sedation for existential reasons and were in a state of Incomprehensibility. Prior to conducting this study, these four patients were never seen in light of Incomprehensibility, rather they were described as having existential crisis. This study suggests that their may be possible interventions that may lead to increased Comprehensibility.

A contribution to the knowledge base is the finding that in Antonovsky's original work end-of-life was not considered as a unique aspect of Salutogenesis and Sense of Coherence. This study asserts that Sense of Coherence, Salutogenesis and end-of-life may very well be a phase of life worthy of examination independent of other phases of life. Dying and end-of-life care is unique from every other phase of life. Birth and dying are the only two unifying events which all of humanity share. They are periods of the utter unknown to those in the midst of the experience. There is potential to learn more about Sense of Coherence during the dying process.

6.7 Summary

This study has provided a contribution to the Theory of Salutogenesis and the Model of Sense of Coherence. That being the new concept of Incomprehensibility. Further investigation of the concepts of Incomprehensibility and Comprehensibility are imperative. Further work will strengthen the finding and the importance of considering Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life for older patients as a unique aspect of Salutogenesis and "healthy dying".

The new concept, "Devolving Sense of Coherence" is a new concept within Antonovsky's construct of Sense of Coherence. This is very different from the rest of Antonovsky's theory. The contribution of Devolving Sense of Coherence opens a new area of growth and inquiry regarding Sense of Coherence at the end-of-life for all age groups. Further study is required to determine the importance of Devolving Sense of Coherence to the theory.

There are other indications for further development and research of a new palliative nursing model by amalgamating the Goals of Palliative Nursing, Domains of Palliative Care and Sense of Coherence. In addition, there is work to research and develop a new theory for a "Devolving Sense of Coherence" at end-of-life specific to the older and very sick population.

The study also shows the need to further understand end-of-life communication and the need for education of clinicians. This will require educational interventions that go beyond the theoretical and provide hands on mentoring and real-life experiences. This is needed in the clinical environment and in formal educational curricula.

The needs of this population are great. This study is a small contribution to the base of knowledge on this topic. There is hope that we will learn more about how clinicians may contribute to making these difficult times more bearable for the old and dying who live in a society of death anxiety and unrealistic expectations of Western Medicine. Also, this must happen concurrently with the acknowledgement that our clinician colleagues are also of the same culture. There is much to do to improve these conditions, especially with the growing ageing population.

References

- Agar, M., Currow, D. C., Shelby-James, T. M., Plummer, J., Sanderson, C., & Abernathy, A. P. (2008). Preference for place of care and place of death in palliative care: Are these different questions? *Palliative Medicine*, 22, 787-795.
- Albrecht, J. S., Gruber-Baldini, A. L., Hirshon, J. M., Brown, C. H., Goldberg, R., Rosenberg, J. H., Comer, A. C., & Furuno, J. P. (2014). Depressive symptoms and hospital readmission in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(3), 495-499. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12686
- Alpuente, A. C., Cintas, F. A., Foà, C., & Cosentino, C. (2018). Mapping caregivers' health assets:
 A self-care project using salutogenesis and mindfulness. *Acta Bio-Medica: Atenei Parmensis*, 89(7-S), 70-77.
- Andrews, T. (2012). What is social constructionism. *The Grounded Theory Review*, *11*(1), 39-46. Antonovsky, A. (1979). *Health, stress, and coping*. Jossey-Bass.
- Antonovsky, A. (1987). Unraveling the mystery of health. Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Antonovsky, A. (1991). The structural sources of salutogenic strengths. In C. L. Cooper & R.
 Payne (Eds.), *Personality and stress: Individual differences in the stress process* (pp. 67-104). John Wiley & Sons.
- Antonovsky, A. (1993). The salutogenic approach to aging. Berkeley University, Berkeley, CA.
- Arias-Casais, N., Garralda, E., Rhee, J. Y., Lima, L. D., Pons-Izquierdo, J., Clark, D., Hasselaar,
 J., Ling, J., & Mosoiu, D. (2019). EAPC atlas of palliative care in Europe. *Romania*, *122*,
 0-6.
- Armstrong, N. (2018). Overdiagnosis and overtreatment as a quality problem: Insights from healthcare improvement research. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 27(7), 571-575.

- Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018). Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42-55.
- Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. (2015). 2015 poverty guidelines. U.S. Department of Human Services. https://aspe.hhs.gov/2015-poverty-guidelines
- Atherly, A. (2002). The effect of medicare supplemental insurance on Medicare expenditures. *International Journal of Health Care Finanance and Economics*, 2, 137-162.
- Aveyard, H., Payne, S., & Preston, N. (2016). *A post-graduate's guide to doing a literature review in health and social care*. Open University Press, McGraw Hill Education.
- Baker, C., Wuest, J., & Noerager Stern, P. (1992). Method slurring: The grounded theory/phenomenology example. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *17*, 1355-1360.
- Barnett, M. L., Wier, L. M., Jiang, J., & Steiner, C. A. (2015). *All-cause readmissions by payer and age*, 2009–2013. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- Becker, E. (1973). The denial of death. Simon & Schuster.
- Berges, I. M., Abraham, D. S., Cannon, D. L., & Ostir, G. V. (2015). Associations between depressive symptoms and 30-day hospital readmissions among older adults. *Journal of Depression and Anxiety*, 4(2), 185.
- Berry, J. G., Gay, J. C., Maddox, K. J., Coleman, E. A., Bucholz, E. M., O'Neill, M. R., Blaine,
 K., & Hall, M. (2018). Age trends in 30 day hospital readmissions: US national retrospective analysis. *British Medical Journal Open*, 360(k497), 1-9.
- Berterö, C. (2015). Developing qualitative methods or "same old wine in a new bottle". International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 10(1), 1-2.

- Bettle, A., Latimer, M., Fernandez, C., & Hughes, J. (2018). Supporting parents' pain care involvement with their children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A qualitative interpretive description. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, *35*(1), 43-55.
- Bjorvatn, A. (2013). Hospital readmission among elderly patients. *European Journal of Health Economics*, 14, 809-820.
- Blauner, R. (1966). Death and social structure. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 29(4), 378-394.
- Bogaisky, M., & Dezieck, L. (2015). Early hospital readmission of nursing home residents and community-dwelling elderly adults discharged from the geriatrics service of an urban teaching hospital: Patterns and risk factors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63, 548-552.
- Brown, C., & Lowis, M. J. (2003). Psychosocial development in the elderly: An investigation into Erikson's ninth stage. *Journal of Aging Studies*, *17*, 415-426.
- Brownlee, S., Cassel, C., & Saini, V. (2014). When more is less: Overuse of medical services harms patients. In D. E. Meier & A. S. Kelly (Eds.), *Current needs of older patients with serious illness* (pp. 3-18). Springer.
- Burnett, E., & Corlett, J. (2017). Understanding risk perceptions and responses of the public and health care professionals toward Clostridium difficile: A qualitative interpretive description study. *American Journal of Infection Control*, *45*(2), 133-138.
- Cabre, M., Serra-Prat, M., Force, L., Almirall, J., Palomera, E., & Clave, P. (2014). Oropharyngeal dysphagia is a risk factor for readmission for pneumonia in the very elderly persons:
 Observational prospective study. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 69(3), 330-337. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glt099

- Casarett, D., Kapo, J., & Caplan, A. (2020). Appropriate use of artificial nutrition and hydration: Fundamental principles and recommendations. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 353(24), 2607-2612.
- CASP. (1993). *Critical appraisal skills program*. University of Oxford. Retrieved February 12, 2016 from https://<u>www.cms.gov/medicare/medicare-fee-for-service-</u> payment/acuteinpatientpps/readmissions-reduction-program.html
- Cassell, E. J. (1976). The healer's art. MIT Press.
- Cassell, E. J. (1985). The healer's art. MIT Press.
- Cassell, E. J. (2004). *The nature of suffering and the goals of medicine* (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Cassell, E. J. (2005). Consent or obedience? Power and authority in medicine. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 352(4), 328-330. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp048188
- Cassell, E. J. (2009). What is a sick person? Palliative Care Education and Practice Conference, Harvard University, Boston, MA.
- Cassell, E. J. (2012). *The nature of healing: The modern practice of medicine*. Oxford University Press.
- Cassell, E. J. (2016). The nature of suffering. In S. J. Youngner & R. M. Arnold (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of ethics at the end of life* (pp. 216-226). Oxford University Press.
- Cassell, E. J., Leon, A. C., & Kaufman, S. G. (2001). Preliminary evidence of impaired thinking in sick patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *134*(12), 1120-1123.
- Center to Advance Palliative Care. (2011). 2011 public opinion research on palliative care: A report based on research by public opinion strategies. Center to Advance Palliative Care and the American Cancer Society.

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2008). *Medicare and Medicaid programs: Conditions of participation*. Federal Register. https://www.federalregister.gov/d/08-1305
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2012). Chronic conditions among Medicare beneficiaries.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2015). *Medicare coverage of skilled nursing facility care*. Medicare and Medicaid Services.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2016). *Readmissions reduction program (HRRP)*. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, United States Government. Retrieved February 24, 2016 from https://www.cms.gov/medicare/medicare-fee-for-servicepayment/acuteinpatientpps/readmissions-reduction-program.html
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017a). *CMS program history*. https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/Agency-information/History/
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017b). *Dual eligible beneficiaries under Medicare and Medicaid*. Retrieved June 25, 2017 from https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-

<u>MLN/MLNProducts/downloads/Medicare_Beneficiaries_Dual_Eligibles_At_a_Glance.p</u> <u>df</u>

- Chan, T., Dewark, M., Sherbino, K., Schwartz, J., Norman, A., & Lineberry, G. (2017). Failure to flow: An exploration of learning and teaching in busy, multi-patient environments using an interpretive description method. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 6(6), 380-387.
- Chang, A., Datta-Barua, I., McLaughlin, B., & Daly, B. (2014). A survey of prognosis discussions held by health-care providers who request palliative care consultation. *Palliative Medicine*, 28(4), 312-317.

- Chappel, N. L., Havens, B., Hollander, M. J., Miller, J. A., & McWilliam, C. (2004). Comparative costs of home care and residential care. *The Gerontological Society of America*, 44(3), 389-400.
- Chavez, G., Richman, I. B., Kaimal, R., Bentley, J., Yasukawa, L. A., Altman, R. B., Periyakoil,
 V. S., & Chen, J. H. (2018). Reversals and limitations on high-intensity, life-sustaining treatments. *PLoS One*, *13*(2), e0190569. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190569
- Chavez, L. J. (2016). Unhealthy alcohol use in older adults: Association with readmissions and emergency department use in the 30 days after hospital discharge. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 158, 94-101.
- Chen, Y. Y., & Younger, S. J. (2008). "Allow natural death" is not equivalent to "do not resucitate": A response. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *34*(12), 887-888.
- Clark, A. M. (1998). The qualitative-quantitative debate: Moving from positivism and confrontation to post-positivism and reconciliation. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *12*, 1242-1249.
- Cohn, J. A., Shah, A. S., Goggins, K. M., Simmons, S. F., Kripalani, S., Dmochowski, R. R., Schnelle, J. F., & Reynolds, W. S. (2018). Health literacy, cognition, and urinary incontinence among geriatric inpatients discharged to skilled nursing facilities. *Neurology and Urodynamics*, 37(2), 854-860.
- Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. M. (2018). The central role of theory in qualitative research. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17, 1-10.
- Conner, S. R. (2007). Development of hospice and palliative care in the United States. *OMEGA*, 56(1), 89-99.

- Cooper, H. M. (1984). *The integrative research review: A systematic approach* (Vol. 2). Sage Publications.
- Coyle, N., & Tickoo, R. (2007). Qualitative research: What this research paradigm has to offer to the understanding of pain. *Pain Medicine*, 8(3), 205-207.
- Cramer, P. (1998). Coping and defense mechanisms: What's the difference. Journal of Personality, 66(6), 919-946.
- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Five qualitative approaches to inquiry. In *Qualitative inquiry* & *research design* (4th ed., pp. 65-111). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Cross, S., & Warraich, H. (2019). Changes in the place of death in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *381*(24), 2369-2370.
- Damilola, T., Olufemi-Yusuf, S., Beaudoin, G., Makhinova, T., & Guirguis, L. M. (2018). "Being in control of my asthma myself" patient experience of asthma management: A qualitative interpretive description. *Pharmacy*, 6(4), 121.
- Dedhia, P., Kravet, S., Bulger, J., Hinson, T., Sridharan, A., Kolodner, K., Wright, S., & Howell,
 E. (2009). A quality improvement intervention to facilitate the transition of older adults from three hospitals back to their homes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57, 1540-1546.
- Dilworth, S., Higgins, I., & Parker, V. (2012). Feeling let down: An exploratory study of the experiences of older people who were readmitted to hospital following a recent discharge. *Contemporary Nurse*, 42(2), 280-288. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2012.42.2.280

- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220-222.
- Druml, W., & Druml, C. (2019). Übertherapie in der intensivmedizin. *Wiener klinisches Magazin*, 22(3), 98-105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00740-019-0288-8
- Dunlay, S. M., & Strand, J. J. (2016). How-to discuss goals of care with patients. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 26(1), 36–43.
- Egnew, T. R. (2005). The meaning of healing: Transcending suffering. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *3*(3), 255-262.
- Ekwall, A. K., Sivberg, B., & Hallberg, I. R. (2007). Older caregivers' coping strategies and sense of coherence in relation to quality of life. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *57*(6), 584-596.
- Enguidanos, S., Vesper, E., & Lorenz, K. (2012). 30-day readmissions among seriously ill older adults. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *15*(12), 1356-1361. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2012.0259
- Erikson, E. H., & Erikson, J. M. (1998). *The life cycle completed: Extended version*. W.W. Norton & Co.
- Falvey, J., & Stevens-Lapsley, J. (2015). Rethinking hospital-associated deconditioning: Proposed paradigm shift. *Physical Therapy*, 95(9), 1307-1315.
- Field, D. (1996). Awareness and modern dying. *Mortality*, 1(3), 255-265.
- Fisher, S. R. (2016a). Inpatient walking activity to predict readmission in older adults. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 97(9 suppl), S226-S231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2015.09.029

- Fisher, S. R. (2016b). Predictors of 30-day readmission following inpatient rehabilitation for patients at high risk for hospital readmission. *Physical Therapy*, 96(1), 62-70. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20150034
- Fisher, S. R., Kuo, Y. F., Sharma, G., Raji, M. A., Kumar, A., Goodwin, J. S., Ostir, G. V., & Ottenbacher, K. J. (2013). Mobility after hospital discharge as a marker for 30-day readmission. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 68(7), 805-810. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gls252
- Fox, N. J. (2008). Postpositivism. In L. M. Given (Ed.), *The SAGE encyclopedia of qualitative research methods* (Vol. 2, pp. 659-664). Sage Publications.
- Freeman, M., Stewart, D., Cunningham, C., & Gorter, J. (2018). "If I had been given that information back then": An interpretive description exploring the information needs of adults with cerebral palsy looking back on their transition to adulthood. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 44(5), 689-696.
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., Seeman, T., Tracy, R., Kop, W. J., Burke, G., McBurnie, M. A., & Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. (2001). Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146-M156.
- Fried, T. R., Bradley, E. H., & O'Leary, J. (2003). Prognosis communication in serious illness: Perceptions of older patients, caregivers, and clinicians. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51, 1398–1403.
- Friedrichsen, M. J., & Strang, P. M. (2001). Receiving bad news: Experiences of family members. Journal of Palliative Care, 17(4), 241-247.

- Gagne-Henderson, R., McCloskey, B., Walter, E., Rimar, J., Bai, M., & Moritz, E. (2017). Using the Rothman index and length of stay as a trigger for palliative care in the medical intensive care unit and step-down units. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing*, 19(3), 232-237.
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 13, 117.
- Galletta, A. (2007). *Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond from research design to analysis and publication*. New York University Press.
- Garcia-Perez, L., Linertova, R., Lorenzo-Riera, A., Vazquez-Diaz, J. R., Duque-Gonzalez, B., & Sarria-Santamera, A. (2011). Risk factors for hospital readmissions in elderly patients: A systematic review. *QJM*, 104, 639-651.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1965). Awareness of dying. Aldine Publishing Company.
- Goldenheim, A., Oates, D., Parker, V., Russell, M., Winter, M., & Silliman, R. A. (2014). Rehospitalization of older adults discharged to home hospice care. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 17(7), 841-844. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2013.0224
- Greyson, S. R., Cenzer, I. S., Auerbach, A. D., & Covinsky, K. E. (2015). Functional impairment and hospital readmission in Medicare seniors. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *175*(4), 559-565.
- Haber, D. (2006). Life review: Implementation, theory, research, and therapy. *International Journal of Ageing and Human Development*, 63(2), 153-171.
- Hain, D. J., Tappen, R., Diaz, S., & Ouslander, J. G. (2012). Characteristics of older adults rehospitalized within 7 and 30 days of discharge: Implications for nursing practice. *Journal* of Gerontological Nursing, 38(8), 32-44. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20120703-05

- Hakanen, J. J., Feldt, T., & Esko, L. (2007). Change and stability of sense of coherence in adulthood: Longitudinal evidence from the Healthy Child study. *Journal of Research and Personality*, 41(3), 602-617.
- Håkanson, C., Sahlberg-Blom, E., Ternestedt, B., & Nyhlin, H. (2012). Learning about oneself through others: Experiences of a group-based patient education programme about irritable bowel syndrome. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 26(4), 738-746.
- Hall-Lord, M. L., Petzäll, K., & Hedelin, B. (2018). Norwegian and Swedish nursing students' concerns about dying. *Nordic Journal of Nursing Research*, *38*(1), 18-27.
- Hancock, K., Clayton, J. M., Parker, S. M., Walder, S., Butow, P. N., Carrick, S., Currow, D., Ghersi, D., Glare, P., Haggertry, R., & Tattersall, M. H. N. (2007). Truth-telling in discussing prognosis in advanced life-limiting illnesses: A systematic review. *Palliative Medicine*, 21, 507–517.
- Handforth, C., Clegg, A., Young, S. S., Seymour, M. T., Selby, P. J., & Young, J. (2014). The prevalence and outcomes of frailty in older cancer patients: A systematic review. *Annals* of Oncology, 26, 1091-1101.
- Harvey, J. A., Chastin, S. F. M., & Skelton, D. A. (2013). Prevalence of sedentary behavior in older adults: A systematic review. *International Journal of Research*, *10*, 6645-6661.
- Hayes, S. L. (2016). High-need, high-cost patients: Who are they and how do they use health care?A population-based comparison of demographics, health care use, and expenditures. *Issue Brief (Commonwealth Fund)*, 26, 1-14.
- He, W., Goodkind, D., & Kowal, P. (2016). An ageing world: 2015: International population reports. U.S. Government Publishing Office.

- Healthcare.gov. (2018). *Affordable Care Act*. https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/affordablecare-act/
- Heggdal, K., & Lovaas, B. J. (2018). Health promotion in specialist and community care: How a broadly applicable health promotion intervention influences patient's sense of coherence. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(2), 690-697.
- Hillman, K. M., Rubenfeld, G. D., & Braithwaite, J. (2015). Time to shut down the acute care conveyor belt. *Medical Journal of Autralia*, 203(11), 429-430.
- Hoffman, J. R. (2017). Guarding against overtesting, overdiagnosis, and overtreatment of older adults: Thinking beyond imaging and injuries to weigh harms and benefits. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65(5), 903-905.
- Holland, C. A., & Rabbitt, P. M. A. (1992). People's awareness of their age-related sensory and cognitive defecits and the implications for road safety. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 6(3), 217-231.
- Holloway, I., & Wheeler, S. (2002). Qualitative research in nursing (2nd ed.). Blackwell Science.
- Hoyer, E. H., Needham, D. M., Atanelov, L., Knox, B., Friedman, M., & Brotman, D. J. (2014).
 Association of impaired functional status at hospital discharge and subsequent rehospitalization. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 9(5), 277-282.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.2152
- Hsieh, H. F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis.
 Qualitative Health Research, *15*(9), 1277-1288.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Huang, H. L., Cheng, S. Y., Yao, C. A., Hu, W. Y., Chen, C. Y., & Chiu, T. Y. (2015). Truth telling and treatment strategies in end-of-life care in physician-led accountable care

organizations: Discrepancies between patients' preferences and physicians' perceptions. *Medicine*, 94(16), e657.

- Hubbard, R. E., Goodwin, V. A., Llewellyn, D. J., Warmoth, K., & Lang, L. A. (2014). Frailty, financial resources and subjective well-being in later life. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 58, 364–369.
- Hunt, M. R. (2009). Strengths and challenges in the use of interpretive description: Reflections arising from a study of the moral experience of health professionals in humanitarian work. *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(9), 1284-1292. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732309344612
- Ifudu, O., Mayers, J., Matthew, J., Tan, C. C., Cambridge, A., & Friedman, E. A. (1994). Dismal rehabilitation in geriatric inner-city hemodialysis patients. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 271(1), 29-33. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03510250045032
- Islam, T., O'Connell, B., & Hawkins, M. (2014). Factors associated with transfers from healthcare facilities among readmitted older adults with chronic illness. *Australian Health Review*, 38(3), 354-362. https://doi.org/10.1071/ah13133
- Jeffs, L., Dhalla, I., Cardoso, R., & Bell, C. M. (2014). The perspectives of patients, family members and healthcare professionals on readmissions: Preventable or inevitable? *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 28(6), 507-512. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820.2014.923988
- Jenniskens, K., de Groot, J. A. H., Teitsma, J. B., Moons, K. G. M., Hooft, L., & Naaktegeboren, C. A. (2017). Overdiagnosis across medical disciplines: A scoping review. *BMJ Open*, 7(e018448), 1-9.

- Kamal, A. H., Currow, D. C., Ritchie, C. S., Bull, J., & Abernathy, A. (2013). Community-based palliative care: The natural evolution for palliative care delivery in the U.S. *Journal of Pain* and Symptom Management, 46(2), 254-264.
- Karageorge, A., Rhodes, P., & Gray, R. (2018). Relationship and family therapy for newly resettled refugees: An interpretive description of staff experiences. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 39(3), 303-319.
- Keleman, A. M., & Groninger, H. (2018). Ambiguity in end-of-life care terminology: What do we mean by "comfort care?". *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 178(11), 1442-1443.
- Kerlinger, F. N., & Lee, H. B. (2000). Foundations of behavioural research (4th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Kickbusch, I. (2003). The contribution of the World Health Organization to a new public health and promotion. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*(3), 383-388.
- Kivunja, C. (2018). Distinguishing between theory, theoretical framework, and conceptual framework: A systematic review of lessons from the field. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 7(6), 44-53.
- Kleinman, A., Eisenberg, L., & Good, B. (1978). Culture, illness, and care: Clinical lessons from anthropologic and cross-cultural research. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 88(2), 251-258.
- Knickman, J. R. (2002). The 2030 problem: Caring for aging baby boomers. *Health Services Research*, 37, 849-884.
- Kortebein, P. (2009). Rehabilitation for hospital-associated deconditioning. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabiliationa*, 88, 66-77.

- Landers, S. (2016). The future of home health care: A strategic framework for optimizing value. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 28(4), 262-278. https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822316666368
- Lasiuk, G. C., Comeau, T., & Newburn-Cook, C. (2013). Unexpected: An interpretive description of parental traumas' associated with preterm birth. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *13*(Suppl 1), S13-S13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-S1-S13
- Leff, B., Carlson, C. M., Saliba, D., & Ritchie, C. (2015). The invisible homebound: Setting quality-of-care standards for home-based primary and palliative care. *Health Affairs*, *34*(1), 21-29.
- Legard, R., Keegan, J., & Ward, K. (2003). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. Sage Publications.
- Lessem, R., & Schieffer, A. (2011). Integral research and innovation: Transforming enterprise and society. In *Tranformation and innovation series* (Vol. 35, pp. 507-509). Ashgate Publishing Group.
- Levine, D. (2020). How to pay for nursing home costs. U.S. News & World Report. https://health.usnews.com/best-nursing-homes/articles/how-to-pay-for-nursing-homecosts
- Lima, J. C., & Miller, S. C. (2018). Palliative care consults in U.S. nursing homes: Not just for the dying. *Journl of Palliative Medicine*, *21*(2), 188-193.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.
- Lindstrom, B., & Erickkson, M. (2006). Contextualizing salutogenesis and Antonovsky in public health development. *Health Promotion International*, *21*(6), 238-244.

- Lohr, K. N., & Carey, T. S. (1999). Assessing "best evidence": Issues in grading the quality of studies for systematic reviews. *Joint Commision Journa of Quality Improvement*, 25, 470-479.
- Lonetto, R., & Templer, D. I. (1986). Death anxiety. Hemisphere Publishing Corporation.
- Lovheim, H., Graneheim, U. H., Jonsen, E., Strandberg, G., & Lundman, B. (2013). Changes in sense of coherence in old age: A five year follow-up of the Umea 85+ study. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 27(1), 13-19.
- Luke, O. H., Young, R., Hinami, J., Leung, A., & Williams, M. V. (2011). Interventions to reduce 30-day rehospitalization: A systematic review. *American College of Physicians*, 155(8), 520-529.
- Maas, M. L. (2008). Nursing home staffing and training recommendations for promoting older adults' quality of care and life: Part 1. Deficits in the quality of care due to understaffing and undertraining. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 1(2), 123-133. https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-20080401-03
- Madden, J. M. (2008). Cost-related medication nonadherence and spending on basic needs following implementation of Medicare Part D. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 299(16), 1922-1928. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.299.16.1922
- Madden, R. (2017). *Being ethnographic: A guide to the theory and practice of ethnography* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Mather, M., Jacobsen, L. A., & Pollard, K. M. (2015). *Aging in the United States*. Population Reference Bureau.
- Mayring, P. (2000). Qualitative content analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 1(2), Article 20.

- McIlvennan, C. K., Eapen, Z. J., & Allen, L. A. (2015). Hospital readmissions reduction program. *Circulation*, 131(20), 1796-1803.
- Meghani, S. H. (2003). A concept analysis of palliative care in the United States. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 46(2), 152-161.
- Meier, D. E. (2015). Measuring quality of care for the sickest patients. Harvard Business Review.
- Meier, D. E., & Beresford, L. (2008). Outpatient clinics are a new frontier for palliative care. Journal of Palliative Medicine, 11(6), 823-828.
- Mejdahl, C. T., Schougaard, L. M. V., Hjollund, N. H., Riiskjær, E., & Lomborg, K. (2018).
 Exploring organisational mechanisms in PRO-based follow-up in routine outpatient care -An interpretive description of the clinician perspective. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 546. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3352-y
- Mejdahl, C. T., Schougaard, L. M. V., Hjollund, N. H., Riiskjær, E., Thorne, S., & Lomborg, K. (2018). PRO-based follow-up as a means of self-management support An interpretive description of the patient perspective. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 2(1), 1-9.
- Merriam-Webster. (2019). We added new words to the dictionary in April 2019: More than 640 new words, from 'bioabsorbable' to 'bottle episode'. https://www.merriamwebster.com/words-at-play/new-words-in-the-dictionary-april-2019
- Miciak, M., Mayan, M., Brown, C., Joyce, A. S., & Gross, D. P. (2018). The necessary conditions of engagement for the therapeutic relationship in physiotherapy: An interpretive description study. *Archives of Physiotherapy*, 8(1), 1-12.
- Mills, J. (2014). Methodology and methods: A practical guide. In A. Mills & M. Birk (Eds.), *Qualitative methodology* (pp. 31-47). Sage Publications.

- Mittelmark, M. B., Bull, T., & Bouwman, L. (2017). Emerging ideas relevant to the salutogenic model of health. In M. B. Mittelmark, S. Sagy, M. Eriksson, G. F. Bauer, J. M. Pelikan, B. Lindström, & G. A. Espnes (Eds.), *The handbook of salutogenesis* (pp. 45-56). Springer.
- Mittelmark, M. B., Bull, T., Daniel, M., & Urke, H. (2017). Specific resistance resources in the salutogenic model of health. In M. B. Mittelmark, S. Sagy, M. Eriksson, G. F. Bauer, J. M. Pelikan, B. Lindström, & G. A. Espnes (Eds.), *The handbook of salutogenesis* (Kindle ed., pp. 3409-3683). Springer.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., & The PRISMA Group. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLOS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000097.
- Montero, M. (2002). On the contruction of reality and truth. Towards an epistemology of community social psychology. American Journal of Community Psychology, 30(4), 571-584.
- Mor, V., Intrator, O., Feng, Z., & Grabowski, D. C. (2010). The revolving door of rehospitalization from skilled nursing facilities. *Health Affairs*, 29(1), 57-64. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0629
- Morandi, A., Bellelli, G., Vasilevskis, E. E., Turco, R., Guerini, F., Torpilliesi, T., Speciale, S., Emiliani, V., Gentile, S., Schnelle, J., & Trabucchi, M. (2013). Predictors of rehospitalization among elderly patients admitted to a rehabilitation hospital: The role of polypharmacy, functional status, and length of stay. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 14(10), 761-767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.013

- Morrison, R. S. (2013). Models of palliative care delivery in the United States. *Current Opinion in Supportive and Palliative Care*, 7(2), 201-206. https://doi.org/10.1097/SPC.0b013e32836103e5
- Morse, J. M. (Ed.). (1994). *Emerging from the data: The cognitive process of analysis in qualitative data*. Sage Publications Inc.
- Morse, J. M. (2016). Qualitative health research: Creating a new discipline. Routledge.
- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. (2016). *Families caring for an aging America*. National Academies Press.
- National Center for Veteran Analysis and Statistics. (2017). *The veteran population*. The U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs. Retrieved September 20, 2017 from https://www.va.gov/VETDATA/docs/SurveysAndStudies/VETPOP.pdf
- National Centre for Social and Economic Modelling. (2013). Poverty, social exclusion and disadvantage in Australia. University of Canberra.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. (2019). *NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology*. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/palliative.pdf
- National Consensus Project for Quality Palliative Care. (2018). *Clinical practice guideline for quality palliative care*. National Coalition for Hospice and Palliative Care.
- National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization. (2015). *NHPCO facts and figures: Hospice in America*.
- National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization. (2020). NHPCO facts and figures.
- Navarro, A. E., Enguidanos, S., & Wilber, K. H. (2012). Identifying risk of hospital readmission among Medicare aged patients: An approach using routinely collected data. *Home Health Care Services Quarterly*, 31(2), 181-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621424.2012.681561

- Naylor, M., Brooten, D., Jones, R., R., L.-M., Mezey, M., & Pauly, M. (1994). Comprehensive discharge planning for the hospitalized elderly. A randomized clinical trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 120, 999-1006.
- Nellhaus, T. (1998). Signs, social ontology, and critical realism. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, 28(1), 1-24.
- Nilsson, K. W., Leppert, J., Simonsson, B., & Starrin, B. (2010). Sense of coherence and psychological well-being: Improvement with age. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 64(4), 347-352.
- Nkulu Kalengayi, F., Hurtig, A., Ahlm, C., & Ahlberg, B. (2012). "It is a challenge to do it the right way": An interpretive description of caregivers' experiences in caring for migrant patients in Northern Sweden. *BMC Health Services Research*, *12*(1), 433.
- Noah, B. A., & Feignson, N. R. (2017). Avoiding overtreatment at the end-of-life: Physicianpatient communication and truly informed consent. *Digital Commons* @ Western New *England University of Law*, 36(3), 737. https://digitalcommons.law.wne.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.google.c om/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C7&q=informed+consent+and+overtreatment&btnG=&h ttpsredir=1&article=1326&context=facschol
- Numico, G., Anfossi, M., Bertelli, G., Russi, E., Cento, G., Silvestris, N., Granetto, C., Di Costanzo, G., Occelli, M., Fea, E., Garrone, O., Gasco, M., Colantonio, I., & Merlano, M. (2009). The process of truth disclosure: An assessment of theresults of information during the diagnostic phase inpatients with cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 20, 941-945.
- Oakland, H. T., & Farber, J. I. (2014). The effect of short, unplanned hospitalizations on older adult functional status. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(4), 788-799.

- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2020). *Healthy people 2020*. CDC. https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/older-adults
- Pasman, H., W., R., Kaspers, P. J., Deeg, J. H., & Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B. D. (2013). Preferences and actual treatment of older adults at the end of life. A mortality follow-back study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61, 1722-1729.
- Pavon, J. M., Zhao, Y., McConnell, E., & Hastings, S. N. (2014). Identifying risk of readmission in hospitalized elderly adults through inpatient medication exposure. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(6), 1116-1121. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12829
- Pearl, J. A., Patil, D., Filson, C. P., Arya, S., Mehrdad, M., A., V., & Ogan, K. (2017). Patient frailty and discharge disposition following radical cystectomy. *Clinical Genitourinary Cancer*, 15(4), E615-E621.
- Perkins, H. S. (2007). Controlling death: The false promise of advanced directives. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 147, 51-57.
- Pinquart, M., & Sorenson, S. (2000). Influences of socioeconomic status, social network and competence on subjective well-being in later life: A meta-analysis. *Psychology and Aging*, 15(2), 187-224.
- Ploug, T., & Holm, S. (2015). Informed consent, libertarian paternalism, and nudging: A response. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 15(12), W10-W13.
- Porter, S. E., & Robinson, J. C. (2011). *Hermeneutics: An introduction to interpretive theory*. Wm.B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Potier, F., Degryse, J. M., Henrard, S., Aubouy, G., & de Saint-Hubert, M. (2016). A high sense of coherence protects from the burden of caregiving in older spousal caregivers. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 75, 76-82.

- Pretorius, C., Walker, S., & Heyns, P. M. (2009). Sense of coherence amongst male caregivers in dementia: A South African perspective. *Dementia*, 8(1), 79-94.
- Pugh, J. A., Wang, C.-P., Espinoza, S. E., Noël, P. H., Bollinger, M., Amuan, M., Finley, E., & Pugh, M. J. (2014). Influence of frailty-related diagnoses, high-risk prescribing in elderly adults, and primary care use on readmissions in fewer than 30 days for veterans aged 65 and older. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(2), 291-298. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12656
- Rabow, M., Kvale, E., Barbour, L., Cassell, J. B., Cohen, S., Jackson, V., Luhrs, C., Nguyen, V., Rinaldi, S., Stevens, D., Spragens, L., & Weissman, D. (2013). Moving upstream: A review of the evidence of the impact of outpatient palliative care. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *16*(12), 1540-1549.
- Robben, A. C. G. M. (Ed.). (2018). Death, mourning and burial: A cross cultural-reader (2nd ed.).
 Wiley Blackwell.
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*(1), 25-41.
- Robinson, R. R. (2015). Low serum albumin and total lymphocyte count as predictors of 30 day hospital readmission in patients 65 years of age or older. *PeerJ*, 3(17), e1181. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1181
- Robinson, S., Howie-Esquivel, J., & Vlahov, D. (2012). Readmission risk factors after hospital discharge among the elderly. *Population Health Management*, 15(6), 338-351. https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2011.0095
- Robinson, T., & Kerse, N. (2012). Medical readmissions amongst older New Zealanders: A descriptive analysis. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 125(1367), 24-34.

- Rockmore, T. (1997). Gadamer, Rorty and epistemology as hermeneutics. *Laval Theologique et Philosophique*, *52*(1), 119-130.
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 23, 334-340.
- Sandelowski, M., & Barosso, J. (2007). *Handbook for synthesizing qualitative reasearch*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Sattler, E. L., Lee, J. S., & Bhargava, V. (2014). Food insecurity and medication adherence in lowincome older Medicare beneficiaries with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Nutrition in Geriontology and Geriatrics*, 33, 401-417.
- Sattler, E. L., Lee, J. S., & Young, H. N. (2015). Factors associated with inpatient hospital (re)admissions in Medicare beneficiaries in need of food assistance. *Journal of Nutrition in Geriontology and Geriatrics*, 34(2), 228-244. https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2015.1031601
- Schroeder-Butterfill, E., & Marianti, R. (2006). A framework for understanding old-age vulnerabilities. *Ageing Society*, 26(1), 9-35.
- Schulz, R., & Eden, J. (2016). *Families caring for an aging America*. National Academies Press (US).
- Schwandt, T. A. (2011). Three epistemological stances for qualitative inquiry: Interpretivism, hermeneutics and social contructionism. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook* of qualitative research (pp. 189-213). Sage Publications.
- Siedman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences* (4th ed.). Teacher's College Press.

Silverman, D. (2010). Doing qualitative research (3rd ed.). Sage Publications Ltd.

- Slootjes, J., & Shaharso, S. (2017). The mechanisims behind the formation of a strong sense of coherence: The role of migration and integration. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 58(6), 571-580.
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretive phenomenological analysis: Theory, method and research. SAGE Publications.
- Smith, P. M., Breslin, F. C., & Beaton, D. E. (2003). Questioning the stability of sense of coherence. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 38(9), 473-484.
- Srivastava, A., & Thomson, S. B. (2009). Framework analysis: A qualitative methodology for applied policy research. *Journal of Administration and Governance*, 4(2), 72-79.
- Stanford. (2020). Where do Americans die. Stanford Medical School. Retrieved June 30, 2020 from https://palliative.stanford.edu/home-hospice-home-care-of-the-dying-patient/wheredo-americans-die/
- Steeman, E., Moons, P., Milisen, K., De Bal, N., De Geest, S., De Froidmont, C., Tellier, V., Gosset, C., & Abraham, I. (2006). Implementation of discharge management for geriatric patients at risk of readmission or institutionalization. *Journal of Quality Health Care*, 18, 352-358.
- Stone, P. W., Agarwal, M., Ye, F., Sorbero, M., Miller, S. C., & Dick, A. W. (2019). Integration of palliative care and infection management at end-of-life in U.S. nursing homes. *Journal* of Pain and Symptom Management, 58(3), 408-416.
- Strachan, P. H., Kryworuchko, J., Nouvet, E., Downar, J., & You, J. J. (2018). Canadian hospital nurses' roles in communication and decision-making about goals of care: An interpretive description of critical incidents. *Applied Nursing Research*, 40, 26-33.

- Super, S., Wagemakers, M. A. E., Picavet, H. S. J., Verkooijen, K. T., & Koelen, M. A. (2016). Strengthening sense of coherence: Opportunities for theory building in health promotion. *Health Promotion International*, 31(4), 869-878.
- Taveres de Souza, M., Dias da Silva, M., & de Carvalho, R. (2010). Integrative review: What is it? How to do it? *Einstein*, 8(1), 102-106.
- Thorne, S. (1997). Interpretive description: A noncategorical qualitative alternative for developing nursing knowledge. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 20, 169-177.

Thorne, S. (2008). Interpretive description. Left Coast Press, Inc.

- Thorne, S. (2014). Applied interpretive approaches. In P. Leavy (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press Online.
- Thorne, S. (2016). *Interpretive description: Qualitative research for applied practice* (2nd ed., Vol. 2). Taylor & Francis.
- Thorne, S., Reimer-Kirham, S., & O'Flynn-Magee, K. (2004). The analytic challenge of interpretive description. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*(1), 1383-1394.
- Thorsteinsdottir, B., Swetz, K. M., & Tilburt, J. C. (2013). Dialysis in the frail elderly A current ethical problem, an impending ethical crisis. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28(11), 1511-15162.
- Timmer, A. J. (2014). Rehabilitation interventions with deconditioned older adults following an acute hospital admission: A systematic review. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 28(11), 1078-1086. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215514530998
- Tonkikh, O. (2016). Functional status before and during acute hospitalization and readmission risk identification. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, *11*(9), 636-641.

Toolis, K. (2017). My father's wake: How the Irish teach us to live, love and die. Da Capo Press.

Traissac, T., Videau, M. N., Bourdil, M. J., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., & Salles, N. (2011). The short mean length of stay of post-emergency geriatric units is associated with the rate of early readmission in frail elderly. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 23(3), 217-222. <u>http://wa4py6yj8t.search.serialssolutions.com/?url_ver=Z39.88-</u>

2004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:journal&rfr_id=info:sid/Ovid:emed10&rft.genre =article&rft_id=info:doi/&rft_id=info:pmid/&rft.issn=1594-

0667&rft.volume=23&rft.issue=3&rft.spage=217&rft.pages=217-

222&rft.date=2011&rft.jtitle=Aging+Clinical+and+Experimental+Research&rft.atitle=T he+short+mean+length+of+stay+of+post-

emergency+geriatric+units+is+associated+with+the+rate+of+early+readmission+in+frail +elderly&rft.aulast=Traissac

- Twosmey-Fosnot, C. (Ed.). (2005). *Constructivism: Theories, perspectives and practice* (2nd ed.). Teacher's College Press.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). Quick facts. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/newhavencityconnecticut/PST045218
- U.S. National Library of Medicine. (2020). *Medical subject headings* https://meshb.nlm.nih.gov/search?searchInField=allTerms&sort=&size=20&searchType= allWords&searchMethod=FullWord
- United Nations. (2020). World population ageing 2019. Department of Economic and Social Affairs.
- Utley, E. (2017). Infidelity's coexistence with intimate partner violence: An interpretive description of women who survived a partner's sexual affair. *Western Journal of Communication*, 81(4), 426-445.

- Verceles, A. C., & Bhatti, W. (2018). The ethical concerns of seeking consent from the critically ill, mechanically ventillated patients for research: A matter of possessing capacity or surrogate insight. *Clinical Ethics*, 13(3), 107-111.
- Viktil, K. K., Blix, H. S., Moger, T. A., & Reikvam, A. (2006). Polypharmacy as commonly defined is an indicator of limited vanlue in the assessment of drug-related problems. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 63(2), 187-195.
- Vincent, G. K., & Velkoff, V. A. (2010). *The next four decades: The older population in the United States 2010-2050*. U.S. Census Beureau.
- Wacker, J. G. (1998). A definition of theory: Research guidelines for different theory-building research methods in operations management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 16, 361-385.
- Wainwright, N. W., Surtees, P. G., Welch, A. A., Luben, R. N., Khaw, K. T., & Bingham, S. A. (2007). Healthy lifestyle choices: Could sense of coherence aid health promotion? *Journal* of Epidemiology & Community Health, 61(10), 871-876.
- Wang, H., Leng, Y., Zhao, E., Fleming, J., Brayne, C., & CC75C Study Collaboration. (2020).
 Mortality risk of loneliness in the oldest old over a 10-year follow-up. *Aging and Mental Health*, 24(1), 35-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2018.1510897
- Wang, X. (2016). Subjective well-being associated with size of social network and social support of elderly. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *21*(6), 1037–1042.
- Wennerberg, M., Lundgren, M. T., Solveig, M., & Danielson, E. (2012). Using the salutogenic approach to unravel informal caregivers' resources to health: Theory and methodology. *Ageing & Mental Health*, 16(3), 391-402.
- West, S., King, V., Carey, T. S., Lohr, K. N., McKoy, N., Sutton, S. F., & Lux, L. (2002). *Systems to rate the strength of scientific evidence*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- Whitlatch, C. J., Piiparinen, R., & Feinberg, L. F. (2009). How well do family caregivers know their relative's care values and preferences. *Dementia*, 8(2), 223-243.
- Whitney, P. P. (2016). Relationship between insurance and 30-day readmission rates in patients 65 years and older discharged from an acute care hospital with hospice services. *Journal* of Hospital Medicine, 11(10), 688-693. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.2613
- Whittemore, R. (2005). Combining evidence in research: Methods and Implications. *Nursing Research*, 54(1), 56-62.
- Whittemore, R., & Knafl, K. (2005). The integrative review: Updated methodology. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 52(5), 546-553.
- Winger, J. G., Adams, R. N., & Mosher, C. E. (2016). Relations of meaning in life and sense of coherence to distress in cancer patients: A meta-analysis. *Psycho-oncology*, 25(1), 2-10.
- Wong, S. P. Y., Kreuter, W., & O'Hare, A. M. (2012). Treatment intensity at the end of life in older adults receiving long-term dialysis. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *172*(8), 661-663.
- Woolfolk, R. L. (1992). Hermeneutics social contructionism and other items of intellectual fashion: Intimations for clinical science. *Behavior Therapy*, *23*, 213-223.
- Yancu, C. N., Farmer, D. F., & Leahman, D. (2010). Barriers to hospice use and palliative care services use by African American adults. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care*, 27(4), 248-253. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909109349942
- Yoo, J. W., Jabeen, S., Bajwa, T., Jr., Kim, S. J., Leander, D., Hasan, L., Punke, J., Soryal, S., & Khan, A. (2015). Hospital readmission of skilled nursing facility residents: A systematic

review. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 8(3), 148-156. https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-20150129-01

Young, J. M., & Soloman, M. J. (2009). How to critically appraise an article. *Nature Clinical Practice Gastroenterology and Hematology*, 6(2), 82-91.

Appendix 1: PubMed and CINAHL MeSH Terms

MeSH Headings in PubMed for Frail Older People	MeSH Heading in PubMed for Readmission	
Used as Subject Headings in CINAHL		
All combined with OR*	All combined with OR*	
Elderly, Frail	Patient Readmissions	
Frail Elders	Readmission, Patient	
Elder, Frail	Readmissions, Patient	
Elders, Frail	Hospital Readmissions	
Frail Elder	Readmissions, Hospital	
Functionally-Impaired Elderly	Hospital Readmission	
Elderly, Functionally-Impaired	Readmission, Hospital	
Functionally Impaired Elderly		
Frail Older Adults		
Adult, Frail Older		
Adults, Frail Older		
Frail Older Adult		
Older Adult, Frail		
Older Adults, Frail		

Note. *The headings in each column were combined with AND as part of a Boolean search.

Appendix 2: EMBASE Keywords

Keywords** for Frail Elderly in EMBASE	Keywords** for Readmission in EMBASE
All combined with OR*	All combined with OR*
Geriatric	30 Day Readmission
Older patients	Hospital Readmission
Elderly Patients	Early Readmission
Frail Elderly	Unplanned Readmission
	Homebound Elderly
	Frequent Hospitalisations

Note. *The headings in each column were combined with AND as part of a Boolean search. ** EMBASE does not accommodate MeSH terms.

Appendix 3: CASP Checklist

1. Did the study address a clearly focused issue?

Yes____No____Can't Tell____

2. Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable way?

Yes____No____Can't Tell____

3. Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?

Yes____No____Can't Tell____

4. Was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?

Yes____No___Can't Tell____

5. (a) Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?

Yes____ No____ Can't Tell____

(List those you might be important or the author missed)

(b) Have they taken into account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?

(List)

6. (a) Was the follow up of subjects complete enough?

Yes____ No____ Can't Tell____

- 7. What are the results of this study?
- 8. How precise are the results?
- 9. Do you believe the results?

Yes____ No____ Can't Tell____

10. Can the results be applied to the local population?

Yes____ No____ Can't Tell____

11. Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?

Yes____ No____ Can't Tell____

12. What are the implications of this study for practice?

Citation and Country	Whittemore Criteria	CASP Scores
Albrecht, J. S., et al. (2014). Depressive symptoms and	Sample Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate	Cohort Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
hospital readmission in older adults. U.S.A.	YES Health, demographic, socio-economic status and confounding characteristics	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable way?
	considered: YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Sample size justification:	YES
	Protocol	was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well	YES
	specified: YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate: VFS	Have they taken account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic:	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?
	Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity:	YES What are the results of this study?
	YES	See All Data Table
	Validity	How precise are the results?
	Confounders and bias carefully	Very Precise
	considered and controlled?	Do you believe the results?
	YES	Yes
	Statistics Statistics appropriate and well described:	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	YES Levels of significance or confidence intervals or both reported:	Yes, as a consideration of depressive symptoms as a risk factor regardless of location.
	YES	Do the results of this study fit with other
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data:	Found that Depressive SX were slightly less significant than other studies.
	NO Discussion	What are the implications of this study for practice?
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered: YES:	Yes. Important for clinicians to be aware of depression as a risk factor for readmission.

Appendix 4: CASP/Whittemore Quality Table

et al.	Sample	Cohort
iations ressive 30-day issions	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
	defined and appropriate:	YES
	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
lults.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
	ves	YES
	IES Sample size justification:	Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?
	NO	
		Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Protocol	minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate:	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic:	YES
	YES Measures demonstrate adequate	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity:	YES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise.
	NO	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described: YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES
	intervals, or both, reported:	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data:	What are the implications of this study for practice?
	NO	Recognition and planned intervention to
	Discussion	decrease risk of readmission
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered:	
	YES	

M., &	Sample	Cohort
(2015).	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
hospital	defined and appropriate:	YES
home	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
and	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
welling	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
om the		Was the exposure accurately measured to
vice of	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
teaching	IES	YES
erns and	Protocol	was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important
	Maggungement	confounding factors?
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	NO
	VFS	Have they taken account of the confounding
	Data collection specified and systematic	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	VFS	NO
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	VES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Precise considering the measurement of all
	NO	readmits based upon discharge location.
	Statistics	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics appropriate and well described	YES
	YES	Can the results be applied to the local
	Levels of significance or confidence	population?
	intervals, or both, reported	YES
	YES	Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	VES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	NO	practice?
	Discussion	Recognition of risk of skilled nursing
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	facility patients for readmission and development of interventions.
	YES	

Bogaisky, M., & Dezieck, L. (2015). Early hospital readmission of nursing home residents and community-dwelling elderly adults discharged from the geriatrics service of an urban teaching hospital: patterns and risk factors.

Chavez, L. J. (2016).	Sample	Cohort
Unhealthy alcohol use	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
in older adults:	defined and appropriate:	YES
readmissions and	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
emergency	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
department use in the	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
30 days after hospital	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
U.S.A.	NO	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	UNCLEAR	Have the authors identified all important
	Measurement	confounding factors?
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	YES
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	N/A
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported	NO, measurement tool is specific to veteran's and the results were mixed.
	YES	Do the results of this study fit with other
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	available evidence?
	longitudinal data	Unclear: other data investigate alcohol
	YES	readmissions rather than ETOH use.
	Discussion	What are the implications of this study for
	Conclusions supported by results with	practice?
	possible blases and limitations considered	NONE
	YES	

Sample	Qualitative
Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate:	Was there a clear statement of the aims of the research?
YES	YES
Health, demographic, socioecostatus and confounding characteristics considered:	Is a qualitative methodology appropriate? YES
NO Sample size justification: YES	Was the research design appropriate to address the aims of the research? YES
Protocol Study procedures systematic and well specified:	Was the recruitment strategy appropriate to the aims of the research? YES
YES	Was the data collected in a way that addressed the research issue?
Measurement	YES
Choice of outcomes appropriate YES	Has the relationship between researcher and participants been adequately considered?
Data collection specified and systematic	YES
YES	Have ethical issues been taken into
Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity	consideration? YES
YES	Was the data analysis sufficiently rigorous?
Validity	YES
Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?	Is there a clear statement of findings? YES
YES	How valuable is the research?
Statistics Statistics appropriate and well described N/A QUALITATIVE	This study is valuable as it is the beginning of exploration of this topic. It takes into consideration the patient, and is the only article found with this goal in mind.
Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported	
N/A	
Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	
YES	
Discussion	
Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations	

Dilworth, S., et al. (2012). Feeling let down: An exploratory study of the experiences of older people who were readmitted to hospital following a recent discharge.

YES

considered

Enguidanos, S., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2012). 30-day	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
readmissions among	defined and appropriate:	YES
adults.	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
U.S.A.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	NO	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important
	Measurement	confounding factors?
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	YES
	YES	Have they taken account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	YES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	YES	practice?
	Discussion	of home based palliative care to avoid
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	readmissions.
	YES	

Fisher, S. R., et al. (2013). Mobility after hospital discharge as a marker for 30 day	Sample	Cohort
	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
	defined and appropriate:	YES
readmission.	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
U.S.A.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	YES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	YES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES
	intervals, or both, reported YES	Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	NO	practice?
	Discussion	Recognition of lack of mobility on the risk for readmission and intervention for
	Conclusions supported by results with	rehabilitation/
	possible biases and limitations	Physical therapy to decrease such risk.
	YES	

5b).	Sample	Cohort
day ient	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate:	Did the study address a clearly focused issue? YES
for risk	YES Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable way?
oital	YES	YES Was the exposure accurately measured to
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	minimise bias? YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	YES	Have they taken account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic YES	NO, but acknowledged as a limitation of the study.
	Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?
	YES	YES
	Validity	What are the results of this study?
	Confounders and bias carefully	See All Data Table
	considered and controlled?	How precise are the results?
	YES	Very Precise
	Statistics	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics appropriate and well described	YES
	YES	Can the results be applied to the local
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported YES	YES
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?
	YES	YES
	Discussion	What are the implications of this study for practice?
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	"Discrimination between patients who are and who are not likely to be readmitted toa an acute care hospital within 30 days of
	YES	rehabilitation discharge".

Fisher, S. R. (2016b). Predictors of 30-day readmission following inpatient rehabilitation for patients at high risk for hospital readmission.

Fisher, S. R. (2016a).	Sample	Cohort
Inpatient walking	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
activity to predict readmission in older	defined and appropriate:	YES
adults.	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
U.S.A.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	YES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well	VES
	specified:	Have the authors identified all important
		confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
		YES
		What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	VFS	Very Precise
		Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	TES	YES
	intervals or both reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	YES	practice?
	Discussion	The predictive property of walking and
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations	ADES ON SV-uay reaumissions.
	I ES	

Goldenheim, A., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2014).	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
older adults	defined and appropriate:	YES
discharged to home	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
hospice care.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
U.S.A.	VFS	YES
	Sample size justification:	Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?
	VES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well	minimise bias?
	specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	VES	YES What are the moulto of this study?
		See All Date Table
	Confounders and bias correfully	How procise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	VFS
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	VES
	Statistics appropriate and well described	Can the results be applied to the local
	YES	population?
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	NO	D acagnition of the importance of inpatient
	Discussion	palliative care consultations as well as
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	appropriate hospice referrals in decreasing 30-day readmissions.
	YES	

Hain, D. J., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2012).	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
Characteristics of	defined and appropriate:	YES
hospitalized within 7	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
and 30 days of	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
discharge:	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
implications for nursing practice		Was the exposure accurately measured to
USA	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	IES	W es the outcome accurately measured to
	Protocol	was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important
	Measurement	confounding factors?
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	YES
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
		YES
	Data collection specified and systematic	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	YES	enough/long enough?
	Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity	YES
		What are the results of this study?
	1ES	See All Data Table
	Validity	How precise are the results?
	Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?	Precise
		Do you believe the results?
		YES
	Statistics	can the results be applied to the local population?
	Statistics appropriate and well described	YES
	Levels of significance or confidence	Do the results of this study fit with other
	intervals, or both, reported	available evidence?
	YES	
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for practice?
	NO	Recognition of the risk and vulnerability for patients discharged to skilled nursing
	Discussion	facilities for 30-day readmissions.
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	
	YES	

(2014).Factors defined and appropriate: transfers from healthcare facilitiesInclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate: YES Was the cohort recruited in an acce way? YES Was the cohort recruited in an acce way? YES Was the exposure accurately measur minimise bias? YES Was the outcome accurately measur minimise bias? YES Was the outcome accurately measur minimise bias? YES Have the authors identified all imp confounding factors? YES Data collection specified and systematic VES Data collection specified and systematic VES Validity Confounders and bias Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO YES Validity Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO YES NO YES NO YES NO NO YES NO NO YES NO <b< th=""><th>Islam, T., et al.</th><th>Sample</th><th>Cohort</th></b<>	Islam, T., et al.	Sample	Cohort	
associated with transfers from healthcare facilities among readmitted onfounding characteristics considered: YES Was the cohort recruited in an acce, way? YES Was the exposure accurately measur minimise bias? YES Protocol Study procedures systematic and well specified: YES Measurement YES Measurement YES Measurement YES Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity YES Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity YES NO Studity Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO Statistics S	(2014). Factors	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?	
Hanklass among readmitted among readmitted health, demographic, socioecostatus and older adults with chronic illness.Was the cohort recruited in an acce way?AustraliaSample size justification:Was the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?AustraliaSample size justification:Was the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?YESProtocolWas the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?YESMasurement Choice of outcomes appropriate YESYESMeasures demonstrate reliability and validity considered and controlled?YESValidity considered and controlled?NoNOStatistics Statistics appropriate and well described YESNoNoStatistics Levels of significance or confidered intervals, or both, reported YESNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoStatistic Statistics consideredNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoDiscussion considered yESNoNoStatistice considered y	associated with	defined and appropriate:	YES	
among older adults with confounding characteristics considered; thronic illness.Way? YESNOSample size justification: minimise bias?Was the exposure accurately measur minimise bias?AustraliaSample size justification: YESWas the exposure accurately measur minimise bias?YESProtocol Study procedures systematic and well specified: YESWas the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?Measurement YESYESChoice of outcomes appropriate YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?YESData collection specified and systematic reliability and validity YESValidity Considered and controlled?Was the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?NOSatistics StatisticsNOSee All Data TableYESValidity Considered and controlled?NOSee All Data TableYESValuidity Considered and controlled?NOSee All Data TableYESValues of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported intervals, or both, reported NOVESDo you believe the results?VESCan the results be applied to the population.NODiscussion considered yossible biases and limitation considered YESNoStat StatisticDiscussion considered yesYESWhat are the implications of this study retrice?What are the implications of this study retrice?What are the implications of this study retrice?What are the imp	healthcare facilities	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	
older adults with chronic illness. NO Australia Sample size justification: YES Protocol Study procedures systematic and well specified: YES Measurement YES Measurement YES Measurement YES Data collection specified and systematic YES Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity YES Validity YES Validity XES Validity NO Statistics Statistics Statistics appropriate and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO Statistics YES Data collection specified and well described YES Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO Statistics Statistics appropriate and well described YES Discussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitation considered YES Mas the outcome accurately measure minimise bias? YES Was the outcome accurately measure minimise bias? YES Have the authors identified all imp confounding factors? YES Was the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough? No, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria. What are the results of this study? YES Therein-to-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data NO Discussion considered YES What are the implications of this study YES What are the implications of this study YES	among readmitted	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?	
Curonic liness.NOWas the exposure accurately measur minimise bias?AustraliaSample size justification:minimise bias?YESYESYESProtocolWas the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?Study procedures systematic and well specified:YESMeasurementYESData collection specified and systematic reliability and validityYESYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESWas the results of this study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.ValidityConfounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?NOStatisticsNOStatisticsVESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidered intervals, or both, reported YESDiscussion considered NODiscussion considered NODiscussion considered VESDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWas are the implications of this study population.Do the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWas are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of eco differences and power structures in 3YESWat are the implications of this stud	older adults with	confounding characteristics considered:	YES	
AustualidSample Size justification:Imminume bias?YESProtocolWas the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?Study procedures systematic and well specified:Was the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?YESWas the outcome accurately measur minimise bias?MeasurementYESChoice of outcomes appropriate YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?Measures treliability and validity YESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?WeisitiesWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?VESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?Validity considered and controlled?No. 28 days. Preferably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.VESWas trevels of significance or confidered intervals, or both, reported YESHow precise are the results?Very Precise tory PreciseVery Precise Do you believe the results?VESCan the results be applied to the population?Discussion considered vESDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESWas the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESWas are the implications of this stud practice?Recognition of the effects of eco differences and power structures in 3	Australia	NU Samula size instifications	Was the exposure accurately measured to	
ILSILSProtocolStudy procedures systematic and well specified:YESMeasurementYESChoice of outcomes appropriate YESYESData collection specified and systematic reliability and validity YESYESValidityYESValidityNoStatisticsStatisticsStatistics appropriate and well describedYESValidityNoStatistics appropriate and well describedYESLevels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported YESLevels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported YESNoDiscussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered YESDiscussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered YESNoDiscussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered YESYESWhat are the implications of this study fit with available evidence?YESWat are the implications of this study fit with available evidence?YESWat are the implications of this study fit with available evidence?YESStatistice apported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredYESYESYESYESYESYESYESYESYESYES<	Australia	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?	
ProtocolWas the outcome accurately ineasinStudy procedures systematic and wellspecified:YESYESMeasurementYESChoice of outcomes appropriateHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?YESYESData collection specified and systematicYESYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validityYESYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?NoStatisticsValidityNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.NOStatistics appropriate and well described YESLevels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported VESVery Precise Do you believe the results?NoDiscussion considered YESDiscussion considered YESDo the results of this study fit with available vidence?NoStatistics Statistics appropride by results with possible biases and limitations considered YESMeasuresStatist of this study fit with available evidence?What are the implications of this study ractice?What are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3			New the outcome accurately managined to	
Study procedures systematic and well specified:YESYESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?Measurement YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?YESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESValidityYESNoNOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableYESVery PreciseVersDo you believe the results?YESCan the results be applied to the population?NODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitation consideredNoYESWhat are the implications of this study fir with aratiableYESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESWas the implications of this study practice?YESWat are the implications of this study practice?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESWhat are the implications of this study <br< td=""><td></td><td>Protocol</td><td>minimise bias?</td></br<>		Protocol	minimise bias?	
YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?MeasurementYESChoice of outcomes appropriateHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?YESHave the authors identified all imp confounding factors?ValidYESValidityNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur or between the local population?NONoStatisticsHave the authors identified all imp confounders and bias considered and controlled?NOStatisticsStatisticsHave the authors identified all imp confounders and bias considered and controlled?NOStatisticsStatisticsHave the results of this study?StatisticsHave the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableYESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat nogitudinal dataNODiscussion consideredNODiscussion consideredYESKesCan the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESCan the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESCan the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Wat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of eco of differences and power structures in 3		Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES	
MeasurementVersChoice of outcomes appropriateHave they taken account of the confou factors in the design and/or analysis?Data collection specified and systematicYESData collection specified and systematicYESValidYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?NoStatisticsValidityNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.NoStatisticsNoStatisticsStatisticsHow precise are the results?VESVery PreciseDo you believe the results?Very PreciseVESCan the results be applied to the population.NoDiscussionDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?NoStatisticsDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESCan the results of this study fit with available evidence?NoStatisticnDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESCan the implications of this study possible biases and limitations 		YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?	
Choice of outcomes appropriate YESHave they taken account of the confou factors in the design and/or analysis?Data collection specified and systematic YESHave they taken account of the confou factors in the design and/or analysis?Valid YESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?Validity Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?No, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.Validity Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?No, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.Statistics StatisticsWhat are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableHow precise are the results?Very PreciseDo you believe the results?VESLevels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESIntention-to-treat longitudinal dataDo you believe the results?NODiscussion consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?NoDiscussion consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this stud practice?Recognition of the effects of eco differences and power structures in 3		Measurement	VFS	
YESTactors in the design and/or analysis?Data collection specified and systematicYESYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESValidityYESNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.YONStatisticsStatisticsWhat are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?YESVery PreciseVersDo you believe the results?YESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat analysisDo the results be applied to the population.NODiscussion consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this studyWhat are the implications of this studyWhat are the implications of this studyYESWhat are the implications of this studyWat are the implications of this studyYESWhat are the implications of this studyYESWhat are the implications of this studyWat are the implications of this studyYESRecognition of the effects of ecod differences and power structures in 3		Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding	
Data collection specified and systematicYESYESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESValidityYESValidityConfounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?No. 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission or the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.StatisticsWhat are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatistics appropriate and well described YESHow precise are the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported HYESVery Precise Do you believe the results?Intention-to-treat longitudinal datamoto enough (on the population and the population.NODiscussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitation consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Do the ffects of econ differences and power structures in 3		YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?	
YESWas the follow up of subjects cor enough/long enough?YESNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.ValidityConfounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?No, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.NOStatisticsWhat are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatistics appropriate and well described YESHow precise are the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported YESDo you believe the results?Intention-to-treat longitudinal dataNO.Discussion considered YESDo fus evalues of this study fit with available biases and limitation consideredYESWhat are the implications of this stud practice?WesWhat are the implications of this stud practice?What are the implications of this stud practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Data collection specified and systematic	YES	
Measuresdemonstrateadequatereliability and validityNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.ValidityNoSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?NOSee All Data TableStatistics appropriate and well described YESHow precise are the results?Very PreciseDo you believe the results?VESDo you believe the results?Intention-to-treat analysisAn the results be applied to the population?NODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?VESWhat are the implications of this studyWesWhat are the implications of this studyDiscussionWhat are the implications of this studyConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredWhat are the implications of this studyWesWhat are the implications of this studyWesWhat are the implications of this studyWesRecognition of the effects of ecco differences and power structures in 3		YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete	
reliability and validityNo, 28 days. Preferrably for the pur of the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.Validityof the thesis study the readmission would be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.NOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?VESDo you believe the results?VESDo you believe the results?VESNO. Cultural and economic differ population?DiscussionNo. Cultural and economic differ between the local population and the population.Do the results of this study fit with available evidence?YES		Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?	
Validitywould be 30-days. Study was includ this was deemed close enough to the 3 criteria.Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?What are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?Statistics appropriate and well described YESVery PreciseLevels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedDo you believe the results?YESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat longitudinal dataanalysis for longisuble biases and limitations consideredNODo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study possible biases and limitations consideredYESWhat are the implications of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study fit study fit study fit study fit study fit study fit study fit study fit studyYESWhat are the implications of this study fit studyStatistics fitRecognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		YES	No, 28 days. Preferrably for the purposes of the thesis study the readmission date	
Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?Initiation close chough to the sNOStatisticsWhat are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatistics appropriate and well describedVery PreciseYESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESIntention-to-treat longitudinal dataNODiscussion 		Validity	would be 30-days. Study was included as this was deemed close enough to the 30-day	
considered and controlled?What are the results of this study?NOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?Statistics appropriate and well describedVery PreciseYESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESIntention-to-treat longitudinal dataAndNONo.Cultural and economic differ bopulation?Discussion consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this studyVESWhat are the implications of this studyYESRecognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? NO	criteria.	
NOSee All Data TableStatisticsHow precise are the results?Statistics appropriate and well describedVery PreciseYESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESIntention-to-treat longitudinal dataanalysis population?NODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3			What are the results of this study?	
StatisticsHow precise are the results?Statistics appropriate and well describedVery PreciseYESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESYESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat longitudinal dataNONODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3			See All Data Table	
Statistics appropriate and well describedVery PreciseYESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESYESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat longitudinal dataanalysis for longitudinal dataNODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo you believe the results?YESCan the results be applied to the population?NOCultural and economic differ between the local population and the population.DiscussionDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Statistics	How precise are the results?	
YESDo you believe the results?Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESIntention-to-treat longitudinal dataanalysis for longitudinal dataNODiscussionDiscussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredNOYESVESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Statistics appropriate and well described	Very Precise	
Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reportedYESYESCan the results be applied to the population?Intention-to-treat longitudinal dataanalysis for longitudinal dataNODiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredNOYESYESWhat are the implications of this study practice?YESRecognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		YES	Do you believe the results?	
 Intervals, or both, reported YES Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data NO Discussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered YES Can the results be applied to the population? NO. Cultural and economic differ between the local population and the population. Do the results of this study fit with available evidence? YES What are the implications of this study practice? Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3 		Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported YES	YES	
Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data NO NO Discussion Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered YES VES Vhat are the implications of this study practice? Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3			Can the results be applied to the local population?	
longitudinal databetween the local population and the population.NODiscussionDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Intention-to-treat analysis for	NO. Cultural and economic differences	
DiscussionDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredDo the results of this study fit with available evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		longitudinal data	between the local population and the stud	
DiscussionDiscussionConclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredavailable evidence?YESWhat are the implications of this study practice?WesRecognition of the effects of econ 		Discussion	Do the results of this study fit with other	
Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations consideredYESYESWhat are the implications of this stud practice?Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		Discussion	available evidence?	
consideredWhat are the implications of this stud practice?YESRecognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		possible biases and limitations	YES	
YES practice? Recognition of the effects of econ differences and power structures in 3		considered YES	What are the implications of this study for	
Recognition of the effects of eco differences and power structures in 3			practice?	
readmissions.			Recognition of the effects of economic differences and power structures in 30-day readmissions.	
Also, again, skilled nursing associated 30-day readmission risk.			Also, again, skilled nursing associated with 30-day readmission risk.	

_

A., et al.	Sample	Cohort
dictors of	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
elderly	defined and appropriate:	YES
nitted to a	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
n	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
ie role of	VFS	YES
tatus, and	Sample size justification:	Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?
y.	VES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well	minimise bias?
	specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important
	Measurement Choice of outcomes	confounding factors?
	appropriate	YES
	YES	Have they taken account of the confounding factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	VES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	YES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	VES	Precise
		Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES-except that there was a lower incidence of delirium at discharge than
	VES	previous studies
	Discussion	What are the implications of this study for
	Conclusions supported by results with	practice?
	possible biases and limitations	This study provides insight to multiple risk
	considered	illustrates the importance of the
	YES	involvement of specialist geriatricians.

Morandi, A. (2013). Predi rehospitalizat among patients admi rehabilitation hospital: The polypharmacy functional sta length of stay

Navarro, A. E., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2012). Identifying	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
readmission among	defined and appropriate:	YES
Medicare aged	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
patients: an approach	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
using routinely	ves	YES
	LES Sample size justification:	Was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?
0.5.A.	VFS	VFS
		Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Protocol	minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important
	Measurement	confounding factors?
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	YES
	YES	What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	IES	YES
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	NO, this study showed a lower incidence of readmission.
	NO	What are the implications of this study for
	Discussion	practice?
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	The study implies that good follow-up coordination, discharge planning, and community palliative care may decrease the incidence of 30-day readmissions
	YES	

al.	Sample	Cohort
of	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
ick	defined and appropriate:	YES
rly	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
ary	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?
on	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
ver for	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
nd	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	YES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?
		YES
	Validity	What are the results of this study?
	Confounders and bias carefully	See All Data Table
		How precise are the results?
		Very Precise
	Statistics	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics appropriate and well described	YES
	YES	Can the results be applied to the local
	Levels of significance or confidence	population?
	Intervals, or boin, reported	ILS
		available evidence?
	longitudinal data	YES
	YES	What are the implications of this study for
	Discussion	practice?
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	care to prevent 30-day readmissions.
	YES	

Pugh, J. A., et al. (2014). Influence of frailty-related diagnoses, high-risk prescribing in elderly adults, and primary care use on readmissions in fewer than 30 days for veterans aged 65 and older.

U.S.A.

187

Robinson, R. R.	Sample	Cohort	
(2015). Low serum	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate:	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?	
lymphocyte count as		YES	
predictors of 30-day	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	
hospital readmission	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and confounding	way?	
age or older	characteristics considered:	YES	
U.S.A.	VES	was the exposure accurately measured to minimise bias?	
	Sample size justification:	YES	
	YES	Was the outcome accurately measured to	
	Protocol	minimise bias?	
	Study procedures systematic and well	YES	
	specified:	Have the authors identified all important	
	YES	confounding factors?	
	Magsurament	N/A	
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding	
	VFS	factors in the design and/or analysis?	
	Data collection specified and systematic	Was the follow up of subjects complete	
	YES	enough/long enough?	
	Measures demonstrate adequate reliability and validity YES	YES	
		What are the results of this study?	
		See All Data Table	
	Validity	How precise are the results?	
	Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled? YES	Very Precise	
		Do you believe the results?	
		YES	
	Statistics	Can the results be applied to the local	
	Statistics appropriate and well described	population?	
	YES	YES	
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?	
	YES	Non-available	
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for practice?	
	YES	Clinician recognition of low PEM upon 30-	
	Discussion	investigation.	
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered		
	YES		

Robinson, T., &	Sample	Cohort	
Kerse, N. (2012).	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?	
amongst older New	defined and appropriate:	YES	
Zealanders: A	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	
descriptive analysis.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?	
New Zealand	confounding characteristics considered:	YES	
	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to	
	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?	
	YES	YES	
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to	
	Study procedures systematic and well	minimise bias?	
	specified:	YES	
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?	
	Measurement	YES	
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding	
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?	
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES	
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete	
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?	
	reliability and validity	YES	
	YES	What are the results of this study?	
	Validity	See All Data Table	
	Confounders and bias carefully considered and controlled?	How precise are the results?	
		Very Precise	
	YES	Do you believe the results?	
	Statistics	YES	
	Statistics appropriate and well described YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?	
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported	No, differing ethnicity/cultural issues and differing systemic reimbursement make it difficult to apply the finding locally.	
		Do the results of this study fit with other	
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	available evidence?	
	VES	YES	
	Discussion	What are the implications of this study for practice?	
	Conclusions supported by results with	A long the health core surface that we are a	
	possible biases and limitations considered	Alerts the nearthcare system that race and socioeconomic status have an impact upon readmission rates	
	YES	readinission rates.	

Sattler, E. L., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2015). Factors	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?
associated with inpatient hospital	defined and appropriate:	YES
(re)admissions in	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable
Medicare	Health, demographic, socioeconomic	way?
beneficiaries in need	status and confounding characteristics	YES
of food assistance.	VFS	Was the exposure accurately measured to
U.S.A.	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
	VES	YES
	Protocol	minimise bias?
	Study procedures systematic and well	YES
	specified:	Have the authors identified all important
	YES	confounding factors?
	Management	
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	Was the follow we of subjects complete
	YES	was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?
	Measures demonstrate adequate	
	reliability and validity	What are the results of this study?
	YES	See All Data Table
	Validity	How precise are the results?
	Confounders and bias carefully	Very precise
	considered and controlled?	Do you believe the results?
	YES	YES
	Statistics	Can the results be applied to the local
	Statistics appropriate and well described	population?
	YES	YES, those who are of the same
	Levels of significance or confidence	Do the results of this study fit with other
	VES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	Non-available
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	YES	practice?
	Discussion	Recognition that for impoverished older adults in-home food delivery and other
	Conclusions supported by results with	home services may decrease 30-day
	possible biases and limitations	readmissions.
	NO	

Tonkikh, O. (2016).	Sample	Cohort	
Functional status	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?	
acute hospitalization	defined and appropriate:	YES	
and readmission risk	YES	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	
identification.	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	way?	
Israel	confounding characteristics considered:	YES	
		Was the exposure accurately measured to	
	Sample size justification:	minimise blas?	
	1ES	TES	
	Protocol	was the outcome accurately measured to minimise bias?	
	Study procedures systematic and well specified:	YES	
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?	
	Measurement	VES	
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding	
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?	
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES	
	YES	Was the follow up of subjects complete	
	Measures demonstrate adequate	enough/long enough?	
	reliability and validity	YES	
	YES	What are the results of this study?	
	Validity	See All Data Table	
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?	
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise	
	YES	Do you believe the results?	
	Statistics	YES	
	Statistics appropriate and well described YES	Can the results be applied to the local population?	
	Levels of significance or confidence	YES	
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other	
	YES	available evidence?	
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES	
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for	
	YES	Freiltz is a rick factor for cork.	
	Discussion	readmissions and intervention may	
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	decrease risk.	
	YES		

Traissac, T., et al.	Sample	Cohort
(2011). The short mean length of stay of	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate:	Did the study address a clearly focused issue? YES
post-emergency	YES	Was the schort recruited in an accortable
geriatric units is	Health, demographic, socioecostatus and	was the conort recruited in an acceptable way?
rate of early	confounding characteristics considered:	YES
readmission in frail	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to
elderly.	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?
France	YES	YES
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to
	Study procedures systematic and well	minimise bias?
	specified:	YES
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding factors?
	Measurement	YES
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	Have they taken account of the confounding
	YES	factors in the design and/or analysis?
	Data collection specified and systematic	YES
	YES Measures demonstrate adequate	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?
	reliability and validity	YES
		What are the results of this study?
	Validity	See All Data Table
	Confounders and bias carefully	How precise are the results?
	considered and controlled?	Very Precise
	YES	Do you believe the results?
	Statistics	YES
	Statistics appropriate and well described	Can the results be applied to the local population?
	IES	YES
	intervals, or both, reported	Do the results of this study fit with other
	YES	available evidence?
	Intention-to-treat analysis for	YES
	longitudinal data	What are the implications of this study for
	NO	practice?
	Discussion	This study suggests that older patients with delirium should be considered for
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	specialized units. Readmission risk is multi-factorial and requires more study.
	NO LIMITATION DISCUSSED	

Whitney, P. P. (2016)	Sample	Cohort	
Relationship between insurance and 30-day	Inclusion and exclusion criteria well defined and appropriate:	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?	
readmission rates in	VES	YES	
patients 65 years and	Health demographic socioecostatus and	Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	
an acute care hospital	confounding characteristics considered:	VFS	
with hospice services.	YES	Was the exposure accurately measured to	
U.S.A.	Sample size justification:	minimise bias?	
		YES	
	Protocol	Was the outcome accurately measured to	
	Study procedures systematic and well	minimise bias?	
	specified:	YES	
	YES	Have the authors identified all important confounding	
	Measurement	factors?	
	Choice of outcomes appropriate	YES	
		Have they taken account of the confounding	
	VES	factors in the design and/or analysis?	
	IES Massuras damonstrata adaquata	YES	
	reliability and validity	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough/long enough?	
	YES	YES	
	Validity	What are the results of this study?	
	Confounders and bias carefully	See All Data Table	
	considered and controlled?	How precise are the results?	
	YES	Very Precise	
	Statistics	Do you believe the results?	
	Statistics appropriate and well described	YES	
	YES	Can the results be applied to the local	
	Levels of significance or confidence intervals, or both, reported	YES	
	YES	Do the results of this study fit with other	
	Intention-to-treat analysis for longitudinal data	available evidence? Non-available	
	YES	What are the implications of this study for	
	Discussion	practice?	
	Conclusions supported by results with possible biases and limitations considered	Awarenessthatdualcoverage(Medicaid/Medicare)allowspatientsgreateraccesstoresources,therefore	
	YES	possibly contributing to lower readmission rates.	

* Indicates a frailty characteristic outside of studies focusing upon 30-day readmissions and

Appendix 5: Data Extraction Form

Data Extraction Form Cohort

30-Day Readmissions and the Elderly

Reference:

Year:

Database:

CASP Score:

Study Design:

Country/Location:

Setting/source of data:

Objective:

Sample Size:

Characteristics/Demographics

Ages

Gender

Ethnicity

Disease

Primary

Co-morbidities

Charlson

Functional Status

of Meds

Readmission Location

Home with care

Home without Care

Skilled Nursing Facility

Home Hospice

Follow-up Times

FINDINGS:

Comments

Useful Articles from Reference List:

Appendix 6	Literature	Review	All Data	Table
-------------------	------------	--------	-----------------	-------

Citation and Country	Method	Setting or Source of Data	Objectives and Study Results	Data Collection	Sample Size		Factors	with Subgroups	
Albrecht, J. S., et	Prospective	Home-	Quantify the risk of	Enrolled within	716	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
al. (2014). Depressive symptoms and hospital readmission in older adults. U.S.A.	Cohort Design	Dwelling Patients	30-day unplanned 30-day readmissions	72 hours followed by telephone first month of discharge between July 1, 2011 and August 9, 2012		Subgroups			
		discharged from tertiary hospital	of patients 65 years and older Result:			Gender Not Reported	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process w/DepressionNumber of PrescriptionsCardiac 19%Not ReportedCancer 14%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported
			Depression alone was not associated with an increase in 30-day readmissions.			Age Not Reported	LOS Not Reported	FrailtyHigh R MedicaTraits:MedicaFallsExposu $\geq 2 = 25\%$ Not Rep $p = < 0.001$ ADL deficit $\geq 1 = 31\%$ $n = < 0.001$	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported
						Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Charlson Comorbidity Index Score Readmitted 2.5(3.5) p=0.001 Not readmitted 2.0 (2.0) p=0.001	
						Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Positive association of depressive symptoms and 30- day readmissions	

			Identify association between depression and 30-day	Face two-face interviews, chart	789	Living Situation Not Reported				
Berges, I. M., et al. (2015). Associations between depressive symptoms and 30-day hospital readmissions among older adults. U.S.A.	Prospective	20 bed ACE				Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
	Cohort Design	Unit (Geriatric					S	ubgroups		
	C	Unit)	readmissions of older patients over age 65	abstractions		Gender Female 66%	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Not Reported	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported	
			Results: Depression did increase risk of 30- day readmissions			Age 76.9 (6.53)	LOS Not Reported	Frailty Not Reported	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported	
						Ethnicity Caucasian 79%	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Not Reported	Ĩ	
						Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Readmitted with high level of depressions symptoms 15%		
						Living Situation Married 59%				
Bjorvatn, A. (2013). Hospital	Retro-	Public Hospitals 1999-2006	Relationship between Length of	Registered data	Approximately 1M	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
readmission	Cohort Study		Stay and 30-day re-			Subgroups				
among elderly patients. Norway			admissions			Gender Female 52% Male 48%	Utilization Not Reported	 Top 4 DRGs Lymphoma Malignancy male reproduction organ Malignancy Hepatic/ Pancreatic COPD Pulmonary Edema 	Not reported	
						Age	LOS			
						76.5 (mean)	7.34 days (mean)			

		Not Reported	Location Not Reported						
						Socioeconomics Systemic Living Situation Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported		
Bogaisky, M., &	Retro-	Large Urban	Compare rates and	Chart Review	1038	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
Dezieck, L. (2015). Early	spective Cohort Study	Hospital	risk factors for early readmission of older					Subgroups	
Dezieck, L. (2015). Early hospital readmission of nursing home residents and community- dwelling elderly adults discharged from the geriatrics service of an urban teaching hospital: Patterns and risk factors. U.S.A	Cohort Study		readmission of older adults living in the community or living in nursing homes. Results: Nursing home residents at greater risk for 30-day readmission than community dwelling participants. Statistically CKD, COPD and Pressure Ulcers were associated with higher risk for re- admission			Gender Nurse Home Female 73% Community Female 63%	Utilization Not Reported	m DX pn DX prited Diabetes Nurs Home 45% Comm 38% CHF Nrs Home 35% Comm 25% Dementia Nrs Home 57% Comm 37% COPD Nrs home 19% Comm 22% CKD Nrs Home 23% Comm 28% Dialysis Nrs Home 10%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported Exposure to high risk medications Not Reported
						Age (mean) Nrs Home 81.6 Comm 83.6	LOS Not Reported	Frailty Not reported	
						Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Not Reported	

Ethnicity

Discharge

						Socioeconomics Not Reported Living Situation On 1 st admission 625 (60%) Nursing Home 413 (40%) Community	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Not Reported	
Cabre, M., et al. (2014).	Observational Prospective	Data collection	To determine whether	Data extraction from clinical databases and electronic clinical notes of patients discharged from Geriatric unit June 2002-Dec 2009.	2,359	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
Oropharyngeal	Study	from clinical	oropharyngeal				S	Subgroups	
dysphagia is a risk factor for readmission for pneumonia in the very elderly persons: observational prospective study. Spain		databases and electronic clinical notes. All discharged patients from Geriatric unit June 2002- Dec 2009	dysphagia is a risk factor for readmission for pneumonia in elderly persons discharged from an acute geriatric unit. Result: Dysphagia is significant in increasing prevalence and risk for readmission with aspiration pneumonia.			Gender Female 52%	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Readmits with dysphagia CHF 47.5% Dementia 73.8% Cerebrovascular 62.9% Renal 53.6%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported
						Age 85.7 (6.3)	LOS Not Reported	Frailty Dysphagia 47.52% <i>p</i> =0.001	High Risk Medication Exposure Benzodiazepines 51.6% Antipsychotic 69.5% Antidepressant 54.5% $P{=}{<}0.001$
						Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Not Reported	
						Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Not Reported	

						Not Reported			
Chavez, L. J.	Retrospective	Community	Determine the risk of 30-day readmission by	Data Extraction of managed care records.	579,330	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
(2016). Unhealthy alcohol use in older adults: Association with readmissions and emergency department use in the 30 days after hospital discharge. U.S.A.	Cohort	Dwelling Veterans				Subgroups			
			Alcohol use. Result: High risk drinking is modestly related to 30-day readmissions	Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT- C) scores and data on readmissions were collected.		Gender Male 98.1% Note: U.S. military veterans Age 77.4 (7.4)	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Identified using Alcohol Disorder Identification Test: Readmits High Risk Drinking 15.4% Moderate Risk Drinking 12.2%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported
								Low Risk Drinking 12.2% Non-Drinking 14.6% Frailty	High Rick
							Not Reported	Not Reported	Medication Exposure Not Reported
						Ethnicity Caucasian 84.2% Non- Caucasian 15.8%	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Not Reported	
						Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Not Reported	
						Living Situation Not Reported			

Living Situation

Dilworth, S. et al. (2012). Feeling let down: An exploratory study of the experiences of older people who were readmitted to hospital following a recent discharge. Australia	Qualitative Design: Interviews	In-depth	Experiences of older patients during an early readmission	Inductive Approach	3	Thematic Findings					
		Interviews				Theme One: Being Let Down- "e the participants' exp of not being given information, being g mixed messages and unheard and disrega	Theme Tw xpresses Being Care "describes" required in hospital adi feeling additional of rded."	o: d For- booth the care context of the mission and eare required at	Theme Three: Feeling Let Down- "describes the experience of falling through the gaps in service provision and being disappointed by services and staff."		
Enguidanos, S., et	Retrospective	Patients who	Investigate factors associated with 30 day readmits for	Data Extraction from electronic medical record including demographic information, primary diagnosis, probability of death (Heckman scores), patient	408	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiologic	al Pharmacological		
al. (2012). 30-day readmissions	Conort	inpatient				Subgroups					
among seriously ill older adults.		palliative care	patients with In- patient Palliative			Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	s Number of		
III older adults. U.S.A.		care	Results: Patients receiving IPC were			Not Reported	Readmits in relation to receiving inpatient palliative care consultation Readmits 10% No readmits 90%	Not Reported	Prescriptions Not Reported		
			readmitted at a lower proportion of 10%.	disposition after discharge.		Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk		
						Not Reported	Not Reported	Not Reported	Medication Exposure		
									Not Reported		
						Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity			
						Not Reported	Not Reported	Not Reported			
						Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness			
						Not Reported	Not Reported	Not Reported			
						Living Situation					
						Not Reported					

Fisher, S. R., et al. (2013). Mobility after hospital discharge as a marker for 30-day readmission. U.S.A.	Prospective	Patients	Determine how the number of steps after discharge affected the risk of readmission. Results: Patients who ambulate a greater number of steps after discharge were readmitted at a lower rate of 2.5%. This was independent of ADL performance. Those who walked 297 steps a day were least likely to be readmitted	Measurement of number of steps taken first week after discharge via accelerometry	111	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
	Conort Study	home				Subgroups				
						Gender Female 63.9%	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Cardiac 41% Infections 13% GI 13% Endocrine 15% Other 18%	Number of Prescriptions	
						Age Not Reported	LOS Not Reported	Frailty Not Reported	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported	
						Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Home	Comorbidity Those with comorbidity odds ratio for readmission OR (95% CI) p value 1.24 (0.31-4.97) p=0.05		
						Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness		
						Not Reported Living Situation Not Reported	Not Reported	Not Reported		
Fisher, S. R.	Observational	Acute	Identify factors		2,498	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
(2016b). Predictors of 30-	Conort Study	rt Study Hospital U.S.A.	clinicians to predict				S	ubgroups		
day readmission following inpatient rehabilitation for patients at high risk for hospital readmission.			30-day readmissions. Results: Patients with low functional status and rehabilitation LOS were greatest predictors of 30-day readmissions.			Gender 4th quartile (highest risk) Female 50%	Utilization Readmission by Risk Quartile 1 st (lowest risk) 9.4% 2 nd 16.1% 3 rd 22.7% 4 th (highest risk) 33.8%	Disease Process	Number of Prescriptions	
Using the Center for Medicare a Medicaid Services (30-day Readmissi Risk Standardiz Model the highest ris quartile re were isola Regressior analysis us create a stratificatii risk factor	Age 4 th quartile (highest risk) CMS) 75.6 on (11) eation k k cords ted. n n tree sed to on of s for	LOS Prior Acute Hospitalization LOS by CMS Risk Quartile 1 st (lowest risk) Readmitted 9.4% 2 nd Readmitted 16.1% 3 rd Readmitted 22.7% 4 th (highest risk) Readmitted 33.8%	Frailty 4 th quartile patients had the lowest cognitive and motor scores (ADLs) on the Functional Independence Measure. Cognitive Scores 23.1 (6.6) Motor Function Scores 33.9 (10.4)	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported						
--	---	---	--	---						
readmissic	Ethnicity 4 th quartile (highest risk) Caucasian (Non-Hispanic) 80.6% African Descent (Non-Hispanic) 12.3% Hispanic 5.1% Other 2%	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity 69% ≥ 1							
	Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Medicare and/or Medicaid	Mental Illness Not Reported							

						Living Situation 4th quartile (highest risk) Lived with Family/Friends 71.1% Lived alone 27.7% Paid caregiver/other 1.2%			
Fisher, S. R.	Prospective,	Acute	Determine if	Measurement	164	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
(2016a). Inpatient walking activity	clinical cohort	Hospital	taken in the hospital	via accelerometry			S	Subgroups	
walking activity to predict readmission in older adults. U.S.A.	clinical cohort study		influence readmissions. Results: Ambulation ability was a greater predictor of 30-day readmission than ADL deficits.	accelerometry of number of steps taken while admitted in acute care hospital.		Gender Female 70.7%	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Cardiovascular Readmission 50.0% Pulmonary Readmission 26.92% Gastrointestinal Readmission 03.85% Infection Readmission 3.85% Endocrine Readmission 15.39%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported
						Age 76.2 (7.00)	LOS Not Readmitted 4.99 (4.13) Readmitted 6.46 (4.96)	Frailty Measures of ambulation and readmission Readmissions Avg Steps 323 26% p=<0.1	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported

					Ethnicity Caucasian 69.5%	Discharge Location Discharged home with or without support 87%	Comorbidity Not Reported	
					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
					Not Reported	Not Reported	Not Reported	
					Living Situation Not Reported			
Goldenheim, A.,	Secondary	Identify factors	Secondary data	206	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
hospitalization of	Previous	day readmission of	looking at 30-			Su	lbgroups	
older adults discharged to home hospice care. U.S.A.	Study	Previous day readmission of older adults newly discharged to hospice. or older with PCPs d/c from hospital Feb. 1, 2005-Jan. 31, Factors related to advanced care planning and goals of care are related to readmission.		Gender Female 73.7	Utilization Patients/families who called PCP 1 or more times first week after d/c had 2.4x greater risk of readmission within 30 days of discharge and hospice admission (HR 2.35, CI0.9)	Disease ProcessReadmitted from hospiceCancer63.2%CHF10.5%COPD10.5%Dementia10.5%Other8.5%	Number of Prescriptions Not reported	
					Age No readmit 81.0 (8.3) Readmit 77.1 (8.0)	LOS No readmission 8.7 (6.2) Readmission 7.8 (7.4)	Frailty Not reported	High Risk Medication Exposure Not reported
					Ethnicity Caucasian 26.3% African Descent 47.4% Hispanic 15.8% Other 10.5%	Discharge Location All discharged home on hospice	Comorbidity Not reported	

					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
					Not reported	Hospital Readmissions from Hospice	Not reported	
						Medicare alone Readmission		
						21.1% (4)		
						Medicare & Medicaid (Dual) Readmission		
						78.9% (15)		
					Living Situation Not reported			
Hain, D. J., et al.	CMS eligible	Examine re-	Data on Re-	6,809	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
(2012).data from a communityhospitalization rates and re- hospitalization by hospitalizedolder adults re- hospitalizedHospital June 1, 2007hospitalization by diagnosiswithin 7 and 30- May 31	hospitalization rates and re-	hospitalized Medicare fee			Subgroups			
	for service		Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	Number of		
	ulagilosis	patients		Not readmitted	Not Reported	All Cardiac disorders	Prescriptions	
days of discharge:	2008	Results.			Males		34%	Not Reported
Implications for nursing practice.		CHF was the most			45%		CHF	
Age 75 and over.		frequent cause of			Females		10%	
U.S.A.		readmission.			55% Readmitted		All Infectious Disease	
		Infectious disease			Males		21%	
		was the second highest cause of			45% Formalas		All Respiratory Disorders	
		readmission.			Readmit		6%	
					55%		COPD	
					5570		3%	
							All Malignant Disorders 6%	
							Patients with malignancy more likely to be readmitted within 7 days	

					Age No readmit 83 (5.7) Readmit 84 (5.5)	LOS Not Reported	Frailty Not Reported	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported
					Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Readmissions Home self-care 25% Home w/home care 34% Skilled Nursing Fac. 41%	Comorbidity Not Reported	
					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
					Not Reported	All participants had Medicare Insurance	Not Reported	
					Living Situation			
					Not Reported			
Islam, T., et al.	Academic	Examine a range of	Data extraction	106	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
(2014). Factors associated with	hospital	factors potentially associated with	on readmitted older patients			Su	bgroups	
transfers from	2000-2011	transfer among	older patients between June	Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	Number of	
healthcare facilities among		older adults readmitted to	2006 – June 2011		Female	Not Reported	CHF 31 (29%)	Prescriptions
readmitted older		hospital within large			57%		COPD 26 (24%)	Not Reported

adults with	public health	•	100	T 11/	11: 1 D: 1
chronic illness.	services in	Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk Medication
Australia	Melbourne,	Not Reported	Mean LOS by day	Incontinent 17%	Exposure
- Kubhalla	Australia		prior to readmission by	OR 7.18	Not Reported
			discharge location	CI1.19-43.3	Not Reported
	Results:		Length of Stav %	Impaired Skin 18%	
	Please see sub-		(N)	OR 18.06,	
	group results.		Home	CI 1.84-176.16	
			1 day	Ltd. Mobility 17%	
			5.9%	OR, CI unavailable	
			2-5 days	Falls 32%	
			31.4%	OR, CI unavailable	
			6 – 9 days 47.1%	Disoriented 17%	
			10 - 19 days	OR, CI not available	
			7.8%	*all characteristics of	
			20 - 28 days	Frailty	
			7.8%		
			Healthcare Facility		
			1 day 3.6%		
			2 – 5 days 30.9%		
			6 – 9 days 32.7%		
			10 – 19 days 23.6%		
			20 – 28 days 9.1%		
		Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location	Comorbidity Number of	
			Not Reported	Diagnoses	
				1-5 Dx	
				10%	
				6-10 Dx	
				29%	
				11-15 Dx	
				14%	
				16+ Dx	
				7%	

					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
					Most advantaged	Not Reported	Not Reported	
					Home			
					9.8%(5)			
					Facility			
					30.9% (17)			
					Least Advantaged			
					Home			
					45.1% (23)			
					Facility			
					21.8% (34)			
					Living Situation			
					Advantage			
					Lives alone			
					Home			
					34% (17)			
					Facility			
					24.4% (11)			
					Lives with caregiver/family			
					Home			
					66%(33)			
					Facility			
					75.6			
Morandi, A., et	Older	Determine rate of	Data collected	6,383	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
al. (2015). Predictors of re-	admitted to	risk factors for	administrative			S	Subgroups	
hospitalization	in-hospital	unplanned	data bases at the		Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	Number of
among elderly patients admitted	rehab facility	elderly from a	facility.		Female 71%	Not Reported	Orthopaedic 44%	Prescriptions
to a rehabilitation		rehabilitation				-	Neurologic 16%	5 (2)
hospital: the role		facility.					Respiratory 17%	
of polypharmacy, functional status.							Cardiologic 10%	

and length of stay. Italy		Results: Predictors of readmission included polypharmacy, functional status, and long hospital LOS.		Age 80 (6)		LOS LOS in Acute Care Hospital HR (CI) P value 7-13 days 1.74 (0.93 3.25) p=0.80 >13 days 2.67 (1.39-5.10) p=0.003 Longer LOS increases risk for readmission	Frailty Delirium 18% Gait Disturbance 9%	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported
					Ethnicity Not Reported	Discharge Location Not Reported	Comorbidity Not Reported	
					Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Not Reported	Mental Illness Not Reported	
					Living Situation Not Reported			
Navarro, A. E., et	636 bed non-	Determine risk	Data collection	8298	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
al. (2012). Identifying risk of	profit USC Medical	associated with hospital readmission	from electronic medical records			Su	bgroups	
hospital readmission among Medicare aged patients: an approach using routinely collected data. U.S.A.	Centre (Lower- socio- economic area) Patients 65 and over	using. Results: Frequency of readmissions increased for those discharged home without care and skilled nursing facilities, and diagnosed with	of older patients discharged in the year 2007		Gender Female 56.6	Utilization Not Reported	Disease Process Respiratory 9.1% CHF 3.55%	Number of Prescriptions Not Reported
					Age 78.8 (8.3)	LOS 6.7 (6.1)	Frailty Fluid/Elect (dehydration) 32.8%	High Risk Medication Exposure Not Reported

respiratory disease or CHF.	Ethnicity Caucasian 60.9% Hispanic 14% AA 15.8% Other 9.3%	Discharge Location Home with care 28.1% Home without Care 39.1% Skilled Nursing Facility 32.8%	Comorbidity Those readmitted averaged 1.7 Comorbid Conditions Readmissions with Comorbidity by Reason for hospitalization Dehydration 32.8% CHF 24.3% DM 24.3
	Socioeconomics Not Reported	Insurance Readmissions from hospice by	Mental Illness Depression
		Insurance Medicare 70.8% Medicaid 26% Other Insurances 26.6%	13%
	Living Situation		
	Married 43.5 (383)		
	Single		
	12.7% (112)		
	Widowed		
	32.7% (288) Divorced/Separated		
	11.0% (97)		

Pavon, J. M., et al. (2014).	Retrospective	Tertiary and	To Examine	Data from	4,627	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological		
al. (2014). Identifying risk of	Observational Study	Quaternary Care	inpatient medication	Electronic Health Records			Subgroups				
readmission in Academic exposure and r hospitalized Health readmission elderly adults System through inpatient medication exposure. U.S.A.	exposure and risk of readmission			Gender Female 57% Male 43%	Utilization Medicare/ Medicaid 73% Private/managed care 27%	Not reported	 Top 5 drug classes Anticoagulants Opiates Anticholinergics Benzodiazipines Anticonvulsants 				
						Age	LOS				
						74	5 days				
			Ethnicity Caucasian 58%	Discharge Location Not Reported							
			Socioeconomics	Insurance							
						Not Reported	Not Reported				
						Living Situation Not Reported					
Pugh, J. A., et al.		Veteran's		Merged	134,829	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological		
of frailty-related		Facilities		medical records			Sub	ogroups			
diagnoses, high- risk prescribing in elderly adults, and primary care use on readmissions in fewer than 30 days for veterans aged 65 and older. U.S.A	s, high- cribing in outpatient, and dults, pharmacy nary care facilities for patient's sions in meeting criteri an 30 between veterans October 1, 200 and and September 1, 2006.	of inpatient, outpatient, and pharmacy facilities for patient's meeting criteria between October 1, 2004 and September 1, 2006.	-	Gender OR (CI) p value Male 1.06 (0.95 – 1.18) <.001	Utilization No. of Primary Care visits and percentage of readmissions 0-1 - 38.4% 2-4 - 50.2% $\geq 5 - 10.9\%$	Disease Process Not reported	Number of Prescriptions 0-5 14.2% 6-8 15.9% 9-11 18.4% ≥12 51.5%				

Study 4 variables	Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk
Effect upon	OR (CI) p value	5 (6.3)	Frailty Related DX	Medication Exposure
veterans <u>>65</u> years	75 – 84 years		38.4%	Exposure
Results: Amount of usese of primary care does not increase risk of readmission. Frailty diagnosis does increase risk of	1.01 (0.98 – 1.04) .46 85+ years 1.02 (0.97 – 1.08) .35		Frailty DX/Characteristics include: Coagulopathy Involuntary weight loss Fluid/electrolyte Imbalance	HRME exposure was not helpful in identifying risk for readmission
readmission			Anemia	
High risk medication is not			Falls/fx	
associated to	Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity	
readmissions	OR (CI) p Value	Location	Number of	
	Reference Caucasian	Not reported	Comorbidities 5.5 (5.9)	
	African Descent			
	0.90			
	(0.86 - 0.94) <.001			
	Hispanic			
	0.93			
	$(0.86 - 1.01) \ 0.8$			
	Other			
	1.05			
	(0.93 – 1.19) .41			
	Missing Data			
	0.81			
	(0.74 – 0.89) <.001			
	Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
	Not reported	Not reported	All Mental Illness	
			OR (CI) P	
			0.92 (0.89 – 0.96) <i>p</i> =<.001	
	Living Situation			
	Not reported			

Robinson, R. R.	507 bed	Determine if Protein	1683	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
serum albumin M and total Ca lymphocyte count as predictors of 30-day hospital readmission in patients 65 years of age or older. U.S.A.	Medical	Penergy Manufrition (PEM) is a risk for 30-day readmissions for older adults. Results:			2	Subgroups	
	Centre			Gender Those with PEM and Readmit Female 55.9%	Utilization Not reported	Disease Process Not reported	Number of Prescriptions Not reported
		PEM is related to increase in frequency of readmission		Age 79 (8.42) Ethnicity Not reported Socioeconomics Not reported	LOS Not reported Discharge Location Not reported Insurance	Frailty Nutritional Status Readmits w/ Protein Energy Malnutrition (PEM) N=219 Readmits: W/PEM 14.5% W/O PEM 4% All Patients with PEM 58% PEM is associated with 30-day readmission Comorbidity Not reported	High Risk Medication Exposure Not reported
				Living Situation Not reported		1	
Robinson, T., &	Government	To better	217,323	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
Ngaire, K. (2012) Medical	funded hospitals	understand medical readmission in older			2	Subgroups	
readmissions amongst older New Zealanders: A descriptive analysis. New Zealand		people in New Zealand to determine if interventions might be worthwhile. Results:		Gender Risk Ratio RR (CI) P value Male RR 1.161 p=<0.001 Female RR 1	Utilization Not reported	Disease Process Cardio 23.8% Respiratory 17.8% GI 7.4%	Number of Prescriptions Not reported

	Indigenous people	Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk
	be readmitted.	Age <u>></u> 65 as a Risk Factor	4.9 days	Not reported	Exposure
	Those readmitted had more costly and	RR(CI) P value			Not reported
	complex illness, and	Risk Ratio			
	had poorer outcomes.	1.026 (1.016- 1.036)			
		p=<0.001			
		Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity	
		Caucasian	Location Not reported	Not reported	
		RR = 1			
		Maiori (indigenous people)			
		1.179 (1.115- 1.246)			
		P=<0.001			
		Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
		Poverty	Not reported	Not reported	
		RR =			
		1.152 (1.104-1.203			
		p=<0.001			
		Living Situation			
		Not reported			

Sattler, E. L., et	State of	Examine unique	892	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
al. (2015). Factors Georgia factors associated associated with with inpatient inpatient hospital admissions and readmissions of	factors associated with inpatient		Subgroups					
		Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	Number of			
Medicare		older Medicare		Female	ED Visits prior to	All Statistically	Prescriptions	
beneficiaries in		beneficiaries in		68.5%	readmission	Significant <.001	All p values <.001	
assistance.		assistance.			None = 34.6%	disease process:	0-2 6 20/	
U.S.A.					1 visit = 24.7% 2+ visit = 40.7%	CHF	0.2% 3-6	
		Results:			21 Visit -+0.770	54.9%	34.6%	
		Those in need of				Diabetes	7+	
		were readmitted				53.1%	59.3%	
		more frequently				Chronic Kidney DX		
		than those not requiring assistance.				46.3%		
						20 5%		
						Dementia		
						26.5%		
				Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk	
				74.5 (8.3)	Not reported	Not reported	Medication Exposure	
				Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity		
				African Descent 27.2%	Location	Fair-poor self-		
					All patients reside	reported health readmissions		
						83.3% <i>p</i> = <u><</u> .05		
				Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness		
				Household Income	Not reported	Not reported		
				< \$20,000				
				78.4%				
				Recipient				
				20%				
				Food insecurity				
				not significant for readmission risk				
				Living Situation				
				Not reported				

Tonkikh, O.	27 Hospitals	Determine if	559	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological
(2016). Functional status		upon admission to			bgroups		
before and during the acute does not during the acute does not hospitalization the and readmission the and readmission the risk identification. The set of	decline during hospital stay affects risk of 30-day readmission. Results: Patients having a higher decline in ADLs during hospitalization had greater odds of	Gender Male 61.2%	Utilization No. Hospitalizations the year before 2.20 (2.2)	Disease Process % (N=) P value CHF 45.9% (39) 0.001 Chronic Kidney DX 58.8% (50) >.001 COPD 18.8% (16) 0.56 DM 43.5% (37) 0.84	Number of Prescriptions Not reported		
				Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk
				79.7 (6.6)	6.7 (5.1)	ADL decline while hospitalized OR = 1.32 (CI 1.02-1.72) p=0.034 Nutritional Status Albumin M 3.0 (0.5) High Risk Malnutrition 51.8%	Medication Exposure Not reported
				Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity	
				Not reported	Location All discharged home 22.4% readmitted	Not reported	
				Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness	
				Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	
				Living Situation			
				Not reported			

Traissac, T., et al.	7 bed	Evaluate risk factors	476	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological		
(2011). The short mean length of		Unit	tric for early re- hospitalisation of emic frail older patients ital in a short stay geriatric unit		Subgroups				
stay of post- emergency geriatric units is associated with		Academic Hospital			Gender Female 68%	Utilization Not reported	Disease Process Not reported	Number of Prescriptions Not reported	
the rate of early readmission in Results frail elderly. Readm France Deliriu days a dischar	Results: Readmission was associated with Delirium, LOS >6 days and home discharge		Age 87.3 (5.8)	LOS OR 1.9 Cl 1.1-3.5 <i>P</i> =0.02 For LOS >6 days	Frailty Fall Syndrome 30.9% Delirium % 61.8%	High Risk Medication Exposure Not reported			
					Ethnicity Not reported	Discharge Location All home 14.3% readmitted	Comorbidity 4.3 (1.8)		
					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness		
					Not reported	Not reported	Not reported		
					Living Situation Not reported				
Yoo, J. W., et al.	Experimental				Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
(2015). Hospital readmission of					Subgroups				
skilled nursing facility residents: A systematic review. U.S.A.					Gender	Utilization	Disease Process	Number of Prescriptions	
				Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk Medication Exposure		
					Ethnicity	Discharge Location	Comorbidity		
					Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness		
					Living Situation				

Whitney, P. P.	3 acute care	Determine if dual	2,755	Sociodemographic	Systemic	Physiological	Pharmacological	
(2016). I Relationship	hospitals	eligible (Medicare and Medicaid)		Subgroups				
between insurance and 30-		differ from those		Gender	Utilization	Disease	Number of	
day readmission		only one		Female	Not reported	Process	Prescriptions	
rates in patients		government		57.8%		CHF	Not reported	
65 years and		insurance in rates of				35.1%		
from an acute		readmission.				Pulmonary Disease		
care hospital with		Results				33.1%		
hospice services.		Patients with dual				Dementia		
U.S.A.		coverage had				3.7%		
		significantly lower				Diabetes		
		odds of readmission than those who did				5.1%		
		not have dual				Malignancy		
		coverage.				41.9%		
						Renal Disease		
						24.3%		
				Age	LOS	Frailty	High Risk	
				77.8 (8.8)	9.3 (8)	Not reported	Medication Exposure	
							Not reported	
				Ethnicity	Discharge	Comorbidity		
				Caucasian	Location	Not reported		
				19.6%	Home with Hospice			
				African Descent	N=1255			
			2	40.9% S hispanic	Skilled facility with hospice N-1500			
				33.8%	11-1500			

Socioeconomics	Insurance	Mental Illness
	Dual Coverage	Depression
	(Medicaid/Medicai d)	8.4%
	Compared to Medicare Only	
	Lower risk for dual covered patients for readmission than Medicaid or Medicare alone.	
	Dual Coverage	
	RR 0.86 SD 0.11 P = 0.244	
Living Situation		
 Not reported		

Yale University Institutional Review Boards

IRB Policy 340 Participation of Individuals with Impaired Consent Capacity

Responsible Office	Office of Research Administration	Effective Date January 8, 2009			
Responsible Official	Institutional Review Board Executive Chair	Last Revision 11Dec2017			
Delian Costions			2		
Policy Sections		••••••	····· <i>L</i>		
340.1 IRB C	onsiderations		2		
340.2 Investigator Obligations					
340.3 Surrogate or Legally Authorized Representative					
340.4 Additio	onal Safeguards		4		

Scope

This policy defines the heightened safeguards that all researchers must employ in order for a Yale Institutional Review Board (IRB) to approve the participation of adult individuals with impaired consent capacity in biomedical, behavioral, and social science research.

Policy Statement

IRBs and investigators must operate according to the principles that individuals with impaired consent capacity who are recruited for or enrolled in research studies must be treated in a manner commensurate with their special status. Research involving these individuals should employ additional safeguards as appropriate to the study and the participant population in order to protect their rights and welfare.

Reason for the Policy

It is important, necessary, and in keeping with the Belmont principles of beneficence and justice to include individuals with impaired consent capacity as participants in research projects. A number of conditions associated with decisional impairment, such as stroke and Alzheimer's disease, afflict ever-increasing numbers of individuals in society and impose growing burdens on those individuals, their families, and society. Scientifically and ethically appropriate research involving these individuals is critical to illuminate the underlying disease mechanisms that lead to these conditions and to identify promising treatments. To be most useful and free of bias, that research must include individuals in research who cannot consent for themselves or whose decision-making capacity may be compromised or may fluctuate over time may result in their inability to protect their own self-interests. Therefore, additional safeguards must be implemented, as required in 45 CFR §46.111(b) and 21 CFR §56.111(b) and described herein (see Procedure 340 PR.1 Assessment of Capacity to Consent for additional

information).

Definitions

Assent

An individual's affirmative agreement to participate in research. This should be sought in addition to the consent of a legally authorized representative or surrogate when the individual is sufficiently cognitively capable of understanding the nature of his or her participation in a research study. Mere failure to object should not, absent affirmative agreement, be construed as assent.

Impaired Consent Capacity

A compromised capacity to understand information related to the research and to make a reasoned decision about initial or continuing participation in research that may preclude the individual from providing legally effective consent. Such impairment or compromised capacity may be temporary, permanent, or may fluctuate. Examples of individuals who may have impaired consent capacity include women in active labor, individuals who have suffered a stroke or other acute and severe illness, individuals under the influence of drugs or alcohol, individuals experiencing considerable pain, individuals under extreme emotional distress (e.g., learning of a newly diagnosed life threatening or terminal illness for self or loved one, anticipating imminent major surgery), and individuals suffering from cognitive disorders or mental disorders. Impaired consent capacity as defined in this policy is distinct from legal incompetence.

Legal Incompetence

A designation of status that has been adjudicated in a court proceeding, and often referring to an inability to manage one or more significant areas of life such as business or monetary affairs. Although an individual may be designated as legally incompetent, he or she does not automatically have impaired consent capacity in terms of consenting to research. Similarly, an individual may be legally competent, but still have impaired consent capacity in terms of providing consent to participate in a research study.

Legally Authorized Representative (LAR)

An individual or judicial or other body authorized under applicable law to consent on behalf of a prospective subject to the subject's participation in the procedure(s) involved in the research. An LAR is authorized through a legal process and has documentation of that designation.

Research Advance Directive

A document used to indicate willingness to continue to participate in a research study or in future studies. In filling out an advance directive, the participant, who at the time is capable of consenting, provides consent to document his/her willingness to continue to participate in the research study in the future or in other future studies during which it is likely that the participant will not be capable of providing consent. An advance directive may also be used to allow the participant to name an individual that the participant would like to act as his/her surrogate to provide permission for the participant's continuation in a current study or enrollment in a future study, in addition to the participant's assent. (See Research Advance Directive template at http://www.yale.edu/hrpp/forms-templates/biomedical.html) Advance directives, with surrogate appointments should be considered in studies which investigate subjects over time and involve the potential for a decline in capacity to give ongoing consent to participate or in those studies in which alteration of consciousness is likely to occur during the course of the study.

Surrogate Permission

Permission for an individual to participate in research given by an appropriate surrogate (e.g., next of kin – spouse, parent, child, sibling) when an individual is assessed as not capable of providing fully informed and legally effective consent.

Therapeutic Misconception

An individual's belief that research studies are intended to benefit the participants who enroll in them and that the individual is being asked to participate in a research trial as part of his or her clinical care even after adequate and repeated information and explanations about the risks and benefits of the study have been provided.

Policy Sections

340.1 IRB Considerations

IRBs reviewing projects involving adult participants with impaired consent capacity must include one or more members or consultants who are familiar with the conditions that may affect the prospective participant's capacity to provide consent and with the concerns of the population being studied. IRBs should consider whether it is necessary to consult with or to have in attendance a special representative familiar with the disorder and capable of addressing concerns specific to the subject population (45 CFR §46.107(a); 21 CFR §56.107(a)).

The IRB will approve research projects which propose to include individuals with impaired consent capacity only after consideration of safeguards in addition to the requirements for approval described in the IRB Review Policy. (See <u>340 CH. 1, Impaired Consent Capacity Checklist</u>)

Appropriateness of Inclusion

Individuals who have been found to have impaired consent capacity may be enrolled in research **only when** the IRB finds that their participation in the study is justified, there is a sufficient plan for obtaining and continually assessing assent, and appropriate additional safeguards are in place to protect them, such as, where appropriate and feasible, provisions for surrogate permission or an advance directive.

Furthermore, the IRB must find that their participation in research:

- □ Presents no more than minimal risk; or
- □ Presents greater than minimal risk, provided that IRB finds that:
 - The risks are justified given the potential benefits of the research either to the participants or to the development of generalizable knowledge to benefit the participants' class of individuals.

Justification for Inclusion

Whenever possible, research should be designed to include only those individuals who are capable of consenting for themselves. In some studies, however, where benefit is likely, it is more ethical and in line with the Belmont principles to include individuals with impaired consent capacity. In other studies, even those without potential (or likely) benefit to participants, the only way to answer the scientific aim may be to include such individuals in the research.

Investigators proposing research targeting adult individuals with impaired consent capacity as participants must provide IRBs with a thorough justification for their proposed research design, including how capacity will be assessed, plans to include surrogate permission, plans for assessing subject assent (where appropriate) and a description of the procedures that are designed to minimize risks and discomfort to participants. IRBs must consider whether the protocol includes a reasonable rationale for inclusion of individuals with impaired consent capacity as a target population.

Risk:Benefit Assessment

A research study specifically designed to include individuals with impaired consent capacity must have as its goal either to study treatment designed to directly benefit the individual, or the development of important generalizable knowledge regarding the disease or condition of the targeted population that includes a substantial portion of individuals with the same impaired capacity as the subjects. The IRB's deliberations shall include consideration of the nature and degree of anticipated impairment of the targeted study populations, the risk level of the proposed study, and the potential for direct benefit to the study participants.

340.2 Investigator Obligations Requisite Expertise

The investigator must ensure that the individual who is responsible for determining whether a potential participant has the capacity to consent has the appropriate expertise necessary to determine and monitor the participant's capacity initially and on an ongoing basis. The determination is made by individual observation of and interaction with the potential participant. The determination may be made by an investigator or by another professional who has appropriate expertise. It may also include opinions from one or more caregivers.

Assessment of Capacity to Provide Consent

Research studies designed to involve individuals with impaired consent capacity must include a means to assess a potential participant's capacity to provide consent and the criteria for identifying individuals who are impaired. At a minimum, this assessment must include a method to evaluate the potential participant's ability to understand the relevant study information, e.g., the nature of the research and its likely consequences, to process information about the research rationally, and to communicate a choice clearly as to whether or not he/she wishes to participate.

- 1. For research contemplating enrolling participants who are not able to provide informed consent at the outset of the study, and where an advance directive is not possible due to their condition, permission from a surrogate for their participation must be approved by the IRB (see Policy 200, Informed Consent for Human Research).
- 2. Assent must be sought when the individual is sufficiently cognitively capable of understanding the nature of his or her participation in a research study and capable of communicating. Where assent is required, mere failure to object may not, absent affirmative agreement, be construed as assent.

340.3 Surrogate or Legally Authorized Representative

Absent a participant-designated or state-specified legally authorized representative (LAR) for research decision-making, investigators may engage and IRBs may approve as surrogates individuals who are specified in state statutes as LARs for medical decision-making or, in the absence of such statutes, individuals who would normally provide consent for medical care under prevailing, commonly accepted clinical practices. Participant assent also must be obtained whenever possible.

The IRB shall consult with Institutional legal counsel regarding the categories of surrogates eligible to serve as LARs in different situations.

The IRB shall adhere to Connecticut state statutes that explicitly prohibit court-appointed guardians of mentally retarded individuals from giving permission for their wards to participate in research unless certain stringent terms and conditions are met (CGS § 45a-677(e)).

340.4 Additional Safeguards

The IRB may require additional safeguards depending on the protocol and the level of potential risk to

the participants involved. Such safeguards may include the use of an independent monitor and/or assessor; special informational or educational techniques; or the use of waiting periods to afford participants and their surrogates more time to decide about participation.

Related Information

340 PR.1 Assessment of Capacity to Consent

340 CH 1 Points to Consider: Studies Involving Participants with Impaired Capacity to Consent

Federal Regulations: 45 CFR §46.111(b); 21 CFR §56.111(b); 45 CFR §46.107(a); 21 CFR §56.107(a)

Connecticut State Statutes: CGS §45a-677(e)

Contacts

Subject	Contact	Phone		
Research Studies involving Individuals with Impaired Consent Capacity	Human Investigation Committee or Human Subjects Committee	(203) 785-4688 <u>ysmhic@yale.edu</u> <u>human.subjects@yale.edu</u>		
Surrogate or Legally Authorized Representative	Office of the General Counsel	(203) 432-4949		

Roles and Responsibilities

Human Research Protection Program

The Human Research Protection Program (HRPP) is responsible for oversight of human research protection through ongoing education, monitoring and evaluation of all parties involved in the conduct of human research.

Human Investigation Committee (HIC)

HIC I, HIC II, HIC III and HIC IV serve as the four Institutional Review Boards or IRBs for biomedical human research conducted at Yale University.

Human Subjects Committee (HSC)

The HSC serves as the Institutional Review Board for social, behavioral and educational human research at Yale University.

Office of the General Counsel (OGC)

The OGC serves as legal advisor to the Yale community.

Revision History

1/8/2009, 9/26/2012

Appendix 8: Participant Information Sheet

Yale school of medicine



200 FR 9 (2016-1)

Title: Making Sense of 30-Day Readmissions: Experiences of Older Adults

Principal Investigator: Rebecca Gagne Henderson APRN ACHPN

Funding Source: Privately Funded PhD Thesis

Introduction

You are being asked to join a research study. The following information will explain the purpose of the study, what you will be asked to do, and the potential risks and benefits. You should ask questions before deciding whether you wish to participate, or at any time during the course of the study.

Purpose

You are being asked to participate because you are age 65 or over and are in the hospital after being readmitted within 30-days of your last discharge from the hospital. We are trying to learn more about the experiences and views of patients before, during and after they have been re-hospitalized.

This study is a partial requirement for the researcher's completion of a PhD degree from Lancaster University, UK.

Procedures

If you choose to participate in the study, you will be asked to consent to the study by signing the consent form. You will be asked to participate in an approximate 60-minute interview that will be audio recorded. After signing the consent form the researcher will make an appointment with you for the interview. This will be at your convenience and after you have had the time to think about whether you wish to participate in the interview or not.

After the interview is completed your involvement in the study will be complete.

Possible Benefits

This research is not designed to benefit you directly. However, knowledge gained from the results may help us to better understand why older patients are readmitted to the hospital. It is also hoped that this research helps us to understand how to prevent readmissions.

Possible Risks

Your part in this research study consists solely of participating in the interview. This study does not require you to have procedures or treatments. Therefore, being in this study does not involve any physical risks to you. However, there is a slight risk regarding the confidentiality of your participation in this study. This could happen due to break-in to the physical office, or a computer security breach. Should information about you becomes known to persons outside this study you will be notified. The researchers are required to keep your study information confidential, however, so the risk of breach of confidentiality is very low.

Another low risk is the discomfort or distress you may experience if you recall difficult memories regarding your illness. Should this occur you will be given time to compose yourself, if you wish the interview will be stopped. You may also become tired during the interview. Should this happen you may ask to stop the interview. The researcher will also "check-in" with you to make sure you are feeling well.

Privacy / Confidentiality

To protect your confidentiality, your name and other identifying information will not be recorded on any study documents. You will be assigned a study number and the code linking your number with your name will be stored in a separate locked file cabinet. We will only collect information that is needed for research. Only the researchers involved in this study and those responsible for research oversight will have access to the information you provide. Examples of information that we are legally required to disclose include abuse of a child or older person, or certain reportable diseases. The interview will be conducted in the privacy of your hospital room.

Voluntary Participation

Participation in this study is completely voluntary. You are free to decline to participate, to end participation at any time for any reason, or to refuse to answer any individual question at any time. Once the interview is complete you maintain the right to withdraw from the study in 24 hours. Refusing to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled (such as your health care outside the study, the payment for your health care, and your health care benefits). By providing verbal consent, you have not given up any of your legal rights.

Questions

You have heard the above description of the research study. You have been told of the risks and benefits involved and, at this point, all of your questions regarding the study have been answered.

If you have any further questions about this study, you may contact the investigator, Rebecca Gagne Henderson APRN, ACHPN at <u>Rebecca.gagnehenderson@ynhh.org</u> or 203-867-8262. If you would like to talk with someone other than the researchers to discuss problems, concerns, and questions you may have concerning this research, or to discuss your rights as a research subject, you may contact the Yale Human Investigation Committee at (203) 785-4688 or the University of Lancaster Research Ethics Committee by emailing Diane Hopkins at d.hopkins@lancaster.ac.uk.

have access to the information you provide. Examples of information that we are legally required to disclose include abuse of a child or older person, or certain reportable diseases. The interview will be conducted in the privacy of your hospital room.

Voluntary Participation

Participation in this study is completely voluntary. You are free to decline to participate, to end participation at any time for any reason, or to refuse to answer any individual question at any time. Once the interview is complete you maintain the right to withdraw from the study in 24 hours. Refusing to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled (such as your health care outside the study, the payment for your health care, and your health care benefits). By providing verbal consent, you have not given up any of your legal rights.

Questions

You have heard the above description of the research study. You have been told of the risks and benefits involved and, at this point, all of your questions regarding the study have been answered.

If you have any further questions about this study, you may contact the investigator, Rebecca Gagne Henderson APRN, ACHPN at <u>Rebecca.gagnehenderson@ynhh.org</u> or 203-867-8262. If you would like to talk with someone other than the researchers to discuss problems, concerns, and questions you may have concerning this research, or to discuss your rights as a research subject, you may contact the Yale Human Investigation Committee at (203) 785-4688 or the University of Lancaster Research Ethics Committee by emailing Diane Hopkins at d.hopkins@lancaster.ac.uk.

Appendix 9: Consent Form



Making Sense of 30-Day

Readmissions: The

Experiences of Older

Adults

Researcher: Rebecca Gagne Henderson APRN, ACHPN

Purpose:

You are invited to participate in a research study designed to examine the experiences of older adults who are readmitted to the hospital within 30-days of prior discharge. Through the sharing of your experiences we hope to determine causes, identify potential interventions for prevention and understanding of the needs of those facing these events.

Procedures:

Participation in this study will involve an approximate 60-minute audiotaped interview.

Risks and Benefits:

Although this study will not benefit you personally, we hope that our results will add to the knowledge about how the health care system may better serve older adults.

You may experience some negative emotions by recalling your experiences. There are no physical risks associated with this study. Every effort will be made to keep your information confidential; however, this cannot be 100% guaranteed.

You may also become tired during the interview. If this is the case the interview will be stopped. If you are willing the interview could be continued at a later time.

Confidentiality:

All of your responses will be anonymous. Only the researchers involved in this study and those responsible for research oversight, such as representatives of the Yale University Human Research Protection Program, Yale University Human Subjects Committee and the research supervisors at Lancaster University, UK and Yale Medical School will have access to any information that could identify you. Your responses will be numbered and the code linking your number with your name will be stored in a separate locked file cabinet. In addition, the interview will be recorded using an encrypted recorder. Please note, however, that unlike information you provide to your doctor or lawyer, the researchers can be compelled by a court to disclose this information, that is if the data would have any value in court proceedings. When we publish any results from this study we will do so in a way that does not identify you unless we get your specific permission

to do so. We may also share the data with other researchers so that they can check the accuracy of our conclusions but will only do so if we are confident that your confidentiality is protected. Except as permitted by law, your health information will not be released in an identifiable form outside of the Yale University research team, and the collaborating research institution. Note, however, that your records may be reviewed by those responsible for the proper conduct of research such as the Yale University Human Research Protection Program, Yale University Human Subjects Committee or representatives of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Information may be re- disclosed if the recipients are not required by law to protect the privacy of the information. At the conclusions of this study, any identifying information related to your research participation will be destroyed, rendering the data anonymous. You will be asked to complete a separate HIPAA Research Authorization form 5032 (RAF).

Voluntary Participation:

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You are free to decline to participate, or to refuse to answer any individual question. You may withdraw from the study within 24 hours after the completion of the interview. Your identifying information will be removed within the first 24 hours after the interview. Thereafter, we will be unable to identify the interview as your own, as it will be anonymized .

Refusing to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled or affect your relationship with Yale New Haven Hospital.

Your participation in this study is extremely valuable for our research, and we hope that participating will prove to be an educational experience for you.

Questions:

If you have any questions about this study, you may contact the researcher, Rebecca Gagne Henderson at at 203-867-8262, <u>Rebecca.Gagnehenderson@ynhh.org</u>

If you would like to talk with someone other than the researchers to discuss problems, concerns, and questions you may have concerning this research, or to discuss your rights as a research subject, you may contact the Yale Human SubjectsCommittee at (203) 785-4688 or the University of Lancaster Research Ethics Committee by emailing Diane Hopkins at d.hopkins@lancaster.ac.uk.

If, after you have signed this form you have any questions about your privacy rights, please contact the Yale Privacy Officer at 203-432-5919.

If you would like to talk with someone other than the researchers to discuss problems or concerns, to discuss situations in the event that a member of the research team is not available, or to discuss your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Yale University Human Subjects Committee, 203-785-4688, <u>human.subjects@yale.edu</u>. Additional information is available at <u>http://www.yale.edu/hrpp/participants/index.html</u>

Agreement to Participate:

I have read the above information, have had the opportunity to have any questions about this study answered and agree to participate in this study.

\geq

By checking this box I agree to have my interview audiotaped

(printed name)

(date)

(signature

Appendix 10: Interview Guide

Each interview is anticipated to last 30 minutes. The maximum duration will be 40 minutes' dependent upon the participants' ability to continue and if there is more to discuss.

Interview 1: Comprehensibility

Objective: To allow the participant the opportunity to contextualize the history and experience of their failing health and the 30-day readmission.

Please tell me about the history of the illness prior this rehospitalization after your illness was diagnosed.

How has this illness affected your quality of life?

How has your condition affected your relationships?

Was this event expected.

Where has the patient resided, who the primary care giver has been.

Has anyone every asked you what your goals are regarding health care decisions?

Interview 2: Manageability

Objective: To assist the patient in describing the experience of the days after discharge leading to the rehospitalization.

Please tell me how you managed day to day after your last discharge.

Please tell me about your emotions after the discharge

When you left the hospital what were the instructions at discharge, who gave instructions?

How were the listening skills of the clinicians in the hospital?

What resources were available to you to help you manage the circumstances after discharge? (home health, PT, meals on wheels, etc)

Interview 3: Meaningfulness

Objective: To facilitate the participants' reflection of past and present experiences (interview one and two) and to explore their expectations for the future.

Please share with me what you think of the overall experiences regarding your illness up to this time.

What do you understand about what your physicians and nurses have told you about your illness and prognosis this hospitalization?

What do you think this means for you in the future?

Tell me about the quality of experiences regarding communication with your physician and nurses during this stay.

Appendix 11: Pro Forma

CODE # 1-10					
AGE					
ETHNICITY					
PLACE OF R	ESIDENCE				
Home Alone	Home PCG	Home Family	Home Family and PCG	Skilled Nursing	Assisted Living
UTILIZATIO	N				
Hospitalization /12 months	# 30 day readmits 12 months	Adm/Date date of last discharge and new admit date	# Emergency visits in 12 months	Number of Comorbid Illnesses	Number of home prescriptions

Appendix 12: Analytic Process



Overarching Themes

Appendix 13: Yale IRB Protocol Application

YALE UNIVERSITY IRBs



Application for Full or Expedited IRB Review of a Study

Involving Human Participants in

Social or Behavioral Science or Educational Research

100 FR 28 (2015-1)

Title of Research Project: Making Sense of 30-Day Readmissions: Experiences of Older Adults					
Principal Investigato	ncipal Investigator: Yale Academic Appointment:				
Rebecca Gagne Hend APRN, ACHPN	gne HendersonYale School of Medicine, Palliative and End of Life CaHPNEducation, Faculty				
		Yale School of Medicine, Program for Bioethics, Affiliated Faculty			
		Yale School of Nursing, Complimentary Clinical			
]	Instru	ructor		
Department: NEMG	Palliative Car	e			
Campus Address:					
1450 Chapel St. New	Haven, CT 06	511			
Campus Phone:	203-867-826	52	E-mail:		
			Rebecca.gagnehenderson@ynhh.org		
Protocol Correspond	lent Name &	Add	dress (if different than PI):		
Campus Phone:			E-mail:		

Faculty Advisor: Jennifer Kapo, MD	Yale Academic Appointment: Associate Professor, Internal Medicine				
Campus Address: 333 Cedar St., LMP 1072, New Haven, CT 06510					
Campus Phone: 203 785 6977			E-mail: Jennifer.kapo@yale.edu		

Investigator Interests:

Does the principal investigator, or do any research personnel who are responsible for the design, conduct or reporting of this project or any of their family members (spouse or dependent child) have an incentive or interest, financial or otherwise, that may affect the protection of the human participants involved in this project, the scientific objectivity of the research or its integrity? Note: The Principal Investigator (Project Director), upon consideration of the individual's role and degree of independence in carrying out the work, will determine who is responsible for the design, conduct, or reporting of the research.

See Disclosures and Management of Personal Interests in Human Research http://www.yale.edu/hrpp/policies/index.html#COI

o Yes X No

Do you or does anyone on the research team who is determined by you to be responsible for the design, conduct or reporting of this research have any patent (sole right to make, use or sell an invention) or copyright (exclusive rights to an original work) interests related to this research protocol?

o Yes X No

If yes to either question above, list names of the investigator or responsible person: N/A

The Yale University Principal Investigator, all Yale University co-investigators, and all Yale University individuals who are responsible for the design, conduct or reporting of research must have a current financial disclosure form on file with the University's Conflict of Interest Office. Yale New Haven Hospital personnel who are listed as co-investigators on a protocol with a Yale University Principal Investigator must also have a current financial disclosure form on file with the University's Conflict of Interest Office. If this has not been done, the individual(s) should follow this link to the COI Office Website to complete the form: <u>http://www.yale.edu/coi/</u>

NOTE: The requirement for maintaining a current disclosure form on file with the University's Conflict of Interest Office extends primarily to Yale University and Yale-New Haven Hospital personnel. Whether or not they are required to maintain a disclosure form with the University's Conflict of Interest Office, all investigators and individuals deemed otherwise responsible by the PI who are listed on the protocol are required to disclose to the PI any interests that are specific to this protocol.
SECTION II: GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Probable Duration of Project:

Data Collection, follow-up and analysis is expected to be completed by December 31, 2019.

2. Study location:

Yale New Haven Hospital, SRC, 1450 Chapel Street, New Haven, CT 06511 Yale New Haven Hospital, YSC, 20 York Street, New Haven, CT 06510

3. Help us categorize your research! Are you using any of the following?

	Class Project
	Participant Observation
Х	Interviews
	Surveys
	Focus groups (study is not anonymous)
	Research in K-12 schools (submit a School Agreement form for the study)
	Deception (submit a Debriefing sheet)
Х	Audiotaping, videotaping or photography of individuals (study is not anonymous)
	Public viewing of videotapes or photographs
	Yale Psychology Pool (study does not qualify for exemption)
	International research sites (attach the International Checklist)
	Online (web-based) activities
	Social networks

SECTION III: FUNDING, RESEARCH TEAM AND TRAINING

Funding Source:

Self funded PhD thesis and research.

PI of grant	Title of Grant	Name of Funding	Funding type	Funding Mechanism
(if applicable)	(if applicable)	Source (i.e. Dept		
		name or		
		Fellowship)		
N/A		[☐ Yale fellowship	Grant: Yale Inst. #
		[☐ Yale department	Contract#
		[□ No funding (studen	t \Box Contract Pending
			projects, etc.)	□ Investigator/
		[E Federal	Department
		[State	Initiated
		[🗌 Non Profit	Sponsor Initiated
		[□ Industry	□ Other, Specify:
		[Other For Profit	
		[Other	

Research Team: List all members of the research team. Indicate under the affiliation column whether the investigators or study personnel are part of the Yale faculty or staff, or part of the faculty or staff from a collaborating institution, or are not formally affiliated with any institution.

ALL members of the research team MUST complete Human Subject Protection Training (HSPT) and Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) training (if applicable) before they may be listed on the protocol.

See NOTE below.

	Name	Affiliation: Yale/Other Institution (Identify)	Net ID
Principal Investigator	Rebecca Gagne Henderson, APRN, ACHPN	Yale School of Medicine, Palliative and End of Life Care Education, Faculty	Rg493
		Yale School of Medicine, Program for Bioethics, Affiliated Faculty	
		Yale School of Nursing, Clinical Instructor	
		YNHH, SRC Palliative Manager	
		Doctorate Student at Lancaster University, Observatory of End of Life Care	
Yale Faculty Advisor	Jennifer Kapo MD	Associate Professor, Internal Medicine, Chief Palliative Medicine, YNHH	Jmk94
Lancaster Faculty Advisor	Katherine Frogatt, PhD	Lecturer	n/a
Lancaster Faculty Advisor	Catherine Walshe, PhD	Lecturer	n/a

NOTE: The HSC will remove from the protocol any personnel who have not completed required training. A request to change study personnel will need to be submitted when training is completed.

SECTION IV: RESEARCH PLAN

1. Statement of Purpose:

Purpose

To explore the experiences of how older patients, make sense and meaning of being readmitted to an acute care hospital within 30-days of discharge from their last hospitalization.

Aims:

- To assist the participants to express comprehensibility by describing the course and trajectory of their illness, and how their illness has affected the readmissions to the hospital, quality of life and relationships.
- 2. To identify the information shared with and resources provided to participants upon their last discharge to help the manageability of their condition outside of the hospital.
- To elicit the participants' descriptions of the past hospital admission and present 30-day readmission, and to share the meaning of these experiences and how they may affect the future.

Research Question:

How do older adults describe meaningfulness, comprehensibility and manageability during the period of time leading to a 30-Day acute hospital readmission?

What are potential explanations for 30-day readmissions for participants.

2. Background:

Prevalence and Economics

Over the past ten years there has been increasing attention paid to early re-hospitalizations for some patients that are high utilizers of medical resources. In 2010, as part of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) began to study the ramifications of early readmissions upon payers. In 2012, CMS initiated the Rehospitalization Reduction Program (HRRP) (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2016). This program penalizes hospitals up to 3% of their total annual CMS reimbursements for a pre-prescribed percentage level of patients readmitted within 30 days of discharge from an acute care hospital which is deemed unacceptable to CMS. Also, for any CMS benefitted patient readmitted within 30-days of discharge there is no reimbursement for that hospital stay.

Older adults, aged 65 and older, comprise over 12% of these 30-day readmissions. These are the sickest patients and we know that this population drives more than half of all health care costs in the United States (Meier, 2015). The risk for an early readmission increases with age. With the anticipation of a population of aging baby boomers over the age of 65 years reaching 61 million by the year 2030 it is necessary the health care system address the problem of early readmissions (Knickman, 2002).

The prevalence of 30-day readmissions for elderly people has increased over the last two decades. In the year 2000 in the U.S.A. the 30-day readmission rate for this population was 18.2%. Just six years later, in 2006, this number increased to 23.5% (Yoo et al., 2015).

The personal cost to older adults and their loved ones is immeasurable in terms of loss of quality time with family, inconvenience and suffering.

Demographics and Systemic Issues

There is an intermingling of systemic issues contributing to 30-day readmissions related to insurance, access and utilization of services, as well as disease burden, socioeconomic class and ethnicity.

Advanced age is an indicator for early readmission (Bjorvatn, 2013). There is a levelling off of this increased rate by the age of 75 years (Bjorvatn, 2013; Garcia-Perez et al., 2011; Robinson & Kerse, 2012). It is difficult to determine why this may be the case, as the available data are quantitative. These data only measure the risk of 30-day readmission, but fail to reveal why this is the case.

Being female has been found to be a determining factor in placing an individual at risk for readmission (Goldenheim et al., 2014; Navarro et al., 2012). In a study of readmissions of home hospice patients, it was found that 74.6% were female (Goldenheim et al., 2014).

Increased utilization of healthcare services may put this population at risk for a readmission. One study found that patients seeing a geriatrician had an odds ratio of 1.01 of being readmitted (Pugh et al., 2014). It was also found that patients newly admitted to

hospice had a 2.35 hazard ratio of being readmitted should they be in contact by phone with a primary provider (Goldenheim et al., 2014).

Another significant systematic factor is the location of the patient after discharge from the hospital (Bjorvatn, 2013; Bogaisky & Dezieck, 2015; Hain et al., 2012; Islam et al., 2014; Navarro et al., 2012). Patients who were residents of a SNF in Denmark were at a 41% higher risk for a 30-day readmission than patients living at home (Bogaisky & Dezieck, 2015). These findings are similar to those found the in U.S.A where one study had the exact same result of 41% (Hain et al., 2012). Another study found the rate of readmissions at 32.8% for SNF patients (Navarro et al., 2012).

Navarro et al. (2012) found that readmission from home was higher at 39.1%.

A greater number of results from the literature found long length of stays (LOS) to be a risk factor for a readmission (Garcia-Perez et al., 2011; Islam et al., 2014; Morandi et al., 2013; Pavon et al., 2014; Yoo et al., 2015).

Disease Processes, Comorbidities and Frailty Characteristics

The literature shows a great deal of consensus regarding illnesses that are analogous with 30-day readmissions. Overall, the most common diagnoses related to early readmissions are congestive heart disease (CHF) and other cardiac issues (Albrecht et al., 2014; Cabre et al., 2014; Fisher et al., 2013; Yoo et al., 2015) followed by Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and respiratory disease (Bjorvatn, 2013; Navarro et al., 2012; Yoo et al., 2015).

Pugh et al. (2014) examined the risk of frailty indicators. Pugh et al. (2014) concluded the best way to identify patients at risk of 30-day readmissions was frailty related diagnosis or markers. The study found 38.4% of older adults who had a 30-day were admitted with a diagnosis associated with frailty.

Most of these patients have symptoms and conditions that could be better managed in their own homes or residences (Meier, 2015).

Gaps in Knowledge

There is a paucity of evidence regarding the populations experiences regarding 30-day readmissions. Understanding the perspective of older adults experience of 30-day readmissions may lead to better interventions and policy to improve outcomes. In addition, quantitative data found in the literature cannot measure nor describe the amount of stress and suffering readmissions cause the older adult and their family.

There are many articles on the characteristics of this population and many evaluations of interventions. These interventions have been developed, implemented and evaluated without any qualitative data reflecting the patients perceived needs. Asking older adults what they have experienced, feel and need regarding 30-day readmissions may prove valuable.

Theoretical Framework

A priori theoretical concepts will be used to guide the study. How these concepts relate to this study will be explained further in the methodology section. This will allow the gathering data which will be useful to answer the research question. This theory was chosen to explore the participants' strengths and needs through their own words to help prevent 30-day readmissions.

Antonovsky (1979) created the Salutogenic Model and defines salutogenesis as an individual's persistent feeling that the world is predictable and that things will turn out as best as possible in consideration of the circumstances. Antonovsky acknowledges that health is only one part of well- being which includes the ability to cope, adapt, be creative and feel productive within a society.

These abilities have not been assessed in previous studies regarding the 30-day readmissions of older adults, but may shed light on the needs not yet identified to help this population.

The salutogenic model includes several concepts which require explanation. The pertinent concepts to the model are: salutogenesis, sense of coherence (SOC), meaningfulness, comprehensibility and manageability. Of these, three concepts will serve as the theoretical framework for the study and interview structure.

Comprehensibility – the extent to which one perceives the stimuli that confront deriving from the internal and external environments, as making cognitive sense, as information that is ordered, consistent, structured, and clear, rather than as noise—chaotic, disordered, random, accidental, and inexplicable (Antonovsky, 1979)

- Manageability—the extent to which one perceives that resources that are at one's disposal are adequate to meet the demand posed by the stimuli that bombard one.
 (Antonovsky, 1987)
- i Meaningfulness—the extent to which one feels that life makes sense emotionally, that at least some of the problems and demands posed by living are worth investing energy in, are worthy of commitment and engagement, and are challenges that are "welcome" rather than burdens that one would much rather do without. This does not mean that someone with a high sense of meaningfulness is happy about the death of a loved one, the need to undergo a serious operation, or being fired, but rather that when these unhappy experiences are imposed on such a person, he or she will willingly take up the challenge, will be determined to seek meaning in it, and will do his or her best to overcome it with dignity (Antonovsky, 1979).

These concepts and construct will guide the exploration of how older adults make sense of 30-day readmissions through the interview.

Research Plan:

Methodology

Interpretive Description will be used to study older adults' self-described experiences of their health decline, the period of time between their last discharge and the current hospitalization (Thorne, 1997, 2008; Thorne et al., 2004). The decision to use interpretive description is based upon the method's flexibility in approach. This method allows the researcher to design a study which will best answer the question being asked in a manner which will further knowledge leading towards pragmatic solutions. Interpretive description

refers to a "logic design", which is the use of varying methods for each step of the study design. It allows the use of "logic derived from the disciplinary orientation" of the researcher to explore the issue and discipline while designing the study. Thorne (2008) acknowledges clinical disciplines ask questions which are unique to their practice and require pragmatic and practical answers to clinical problems. This allows the researcher to enter into questioning and analysis of the data that will increase insight and possibly generate ways to apply the newly gained evidence to improve conditions for the participant through practice (Thorne, 2008; Thorne et al., 2004). The phenomenon being examined in this research is highly complex. This is why an approach allowing the "interplay" of a patient's physiological, socio-demographic and psychosocial aspects is necessary to achieve a holistic interpretation of the patients understanding of the manageability, comprehensibility and meaning of the experience.

Most importantly the interpretive description approach to analysis and description of findings is meant to answer questions regarding phenomenon that will allow the development of solutions to problems which are clinically based.

Participant Population: The population to be examined will be older adults aged 65 years and older who are readmitted within 30 days of their last acute hospital discharge to Yale New Haven Hospital's (YNHH) Saint Raphael (SRC) and York Street (YSC) campuses. These two campuses were selected after a Joint Data Analytics Team (JDAT) report revealed the two campuses had the highest and comparable numbers of patients meeting the study criteria for the health system (16 - 16.3%).

3. Describe how access to the population will be gained in this study:

Purposeful sampling will be adopted using the criteria. The researcher will use a daily report prepared by the hospital's JDAT. The JDAT report will identify all older adults readmitted to the hospital who meet inclusion criteria. Due to time constraints not all patients will be recruited, as the researcher will not be available on all days. The JDAT daily report will include the following identifying data: Age >65 years, patient name, MRN, bed location, 30-day readmission this hospital stay. The potential participants identified who meet criteria and included will be approached by a social worker or nurse familiar with the study. Should the potential participant express interest in learning more about the study the researcher will introduce themselves to the participant to determine participant capacity (Appendix 1), review the participant information sheet (Appendix 2), and the consent form (Appendix 3). After the patient is given time to read the information sheet and consider participation, and should the potential participant agree they will sign the consent form (Appendix 3), which includes consent for audiotaping the interview and HIPAA release to become a participant in the study and an appointment will be made to begin the interview.

4. Participant classification: Check off all classifications of participants that will be <u>specifically recruited for enrollment</u> in the research project. Will participants who may require additional safeguards or other considerations be enrolled in the study? If so, identify the population of participants requiring special safeguards and provide a justification for their involvement.

\Box Children \Box Healthy \Box Non-English Speaking \Box Prisoners
Economically disadvantaged
Decisionally Impaired Employees Pregnant women
Yale Students
X Other vulnerable population: Many of the participants will be severely debilitated
and potentially near the end of life.
Psychology Pool

NOTE: Is this research proposal designed to enroll children who are wards of the state as potential participants? \Box Yes X No (If yes, see <u>HRPP Policy 310.4</u> for further requirements)

5. Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria:

Inclusion Criteria

- $\ddot{i} \ge 65$ years of age
- ï Readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of their last hospital discharge
- ï English speaking
- **ï** Possesses capacity as described in HRPP Policy 340 (Appendix 1)

Exclusion Criteria

ï Observational Status – Patient's who return to the hospital may be kept in the hospital for observation rather than a formal admission.

SECTION V: RECRUITMENT/CONSENT AND ASSENT PROCEDURES

1. Recruitment Procedures:

Are you collecting any information about the individuals prior to their signing a consent form? \Box Yes X No

The location in the hospital and name of the potential participant will be collected from EPIC. If the patient assents from the study their name and location in the hospital will be disposed of in compliance with HIPAA regulations.

2. Indicate recruitment methods below. Attach copies of any recruitment materials that will be used.

□ Flyers	□ Internet/Web Postings	🗌 Radio		
Desters	☐ Mass E-mail Solicitation	Telephone		
Letter	Departmental/Center Website	☐ Television		
🗆 Newspap	er			
□ Through	Through local NGO or other local contact			
Social M	edia (Facebook, Twitter)			
Classroom recruitment				
□ Table set	☐ Table set-up / in-person recruitment of public			
Snowball	sampling			
X Other (de	escribe): Screening			

3. Targeted Enrollment: Give the number of participants:

- a. Targeted for enrollment at Yale for this protocol: a minimum of 15 interviews and a maximum of 25 interviews.
- b. If this is a multi-site study, give the total number of participants targeted across all sites NA_

4. How was this estimate derived?

The members of this population will all have experienced a 30-day readmission. Due to the intricacy of the event it is anticipated there will be a great deal of rich data collected requiring intense analysis. The goal is to complete a minimum of interviewing 15 participants with a maximum of 30 interviews. It is expected that this sample will be adequate to determine patterns and begin understanding the experiences of this population. It is acknowledged that this qualitative study could not capture all aspects of the phenomenon of a 30-day readmission, nor will it lend itself to generalization beyond the population in this hospital's catchment area (Siedman, 2013; Silverman, 2010). It is a starting point of learning the aspects of 30-day readmissions yet to be discovered.

5. Consent Personnel:

Rebecca Gagne Henderson APRN, ACHPN, PI

6. Process of Consent/Assent (*NOTE: When a study includes minors, parent provide permission [not consent] for the child's participation, and the child provides assent for participation)*

After IRB approval a daily JDAT report will be used to screen newly admitted patients to determine if they meet the age and readmission status criteria using purposeful sampling (Siedman, 2013; Silverman, 2010). Should the potential participant meet these criteria a social worker or nurse familiar with the study will approach the patient. If the potential participant expresses interest the PI will determine capacity (Appendix 1), provide the study information sheet (Appendix 2) and describe the study. The potential participant will be given time to consider committing to the study. This time period will vary by participant. Should the individual agree to participate a consent form for participation in the study and to be audiotaped (Appendix 3) and a HIPPA release (Appendix 4) will be signed by the participant and PI. The first interview will be scheduled should the participant agree.

The participant will be able to withdraw from the study until the time of coding and anonymizing the interview. This will occur within 24 hours of the interview.

7. Evaluation of Participant(s) Capacity to Provide Informed Consent/Assent: Indicate how the personnel obtaining consent will assess the potential participant's ability and capacity to consent to the research being proposed, if applicable

The PI will assess for participant capacity in conformity with HRPP Policy 340 (Appendix 1). As the research is of minimal risk the PI will briefly converse with the potential participant by determining the following:

- i Ability to communicate a reasoned choice regarding participation;
- Ability to understand relevant information about the study, including consequences of participation for the participant's own situation (such as health condition) and consequences of the alternatives to participation;
- **ï** Ability to comprehend the nature of the situation and its likely consequences; and
- ï Ability to manipulate information rationally.
- 8. Documentation of Consent/Assent: Specify the documents or verbal scripts that will be used during the consent/assent process. Copies of all documents should be appended to the protocol, in the same format that they will be given or spoken to participants.

Please find the capacity policy (Appendix 1), patient information sheet (Appendix 2), consent form/audiotaping/HIPAA release (Appendix 3), Pro forma (Appendix 4) and Interview guide (Appendix 5) attached to the protocol as appendices.

9. Non-English Speaking Participants:

The study is limited to English speaking participants. The PI only speaks English and as the study is a self-funded PhD thesis there are no resources to provide interpreters.

10. Are any of the study procedures likely to yield information subject to mandatory reporting requirements?

There is the potential that the study may encounter revelation of elder abuse. Should this be the case the PI will report the circumstance and make a referral to the hospital MSW as well as notifying the IRB of the incident. In addition, any revelation of any reportable incident will be reported.

- 11. Consent/Consent Waiver: In certain circumstances, the IRB may grant a waiver of documentation of consent, or a full waiver of consent, depending on the study. If you will request either a waiver of consent, or a waiver of signed consent for this study, complete the appropriate section below.
 - X I plan to obtain signed consent
 - □ I plan to obtain verbal or online consent
 - ☐ I plan to obtain signed consent for part of the study, and verbal or online consent for another part of the study.
 - □ I do not plan on obtaining consent due to the nature of the study (explain):

SECTION VI: PROTECTION OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

Confidentiality & Security of Data:

1. What participant information will you be collecting?

In addition to the below mentioned information the participant will be asked to share details of their personal lives in an interview. Also, please the attached pro forma (Appendix 4). The data referenced in item 2 will be secured until the data has been collected. The identity of the participant will be coded to protect privacy. Once data is collected the identifiers will be disposed of in compliance with HIPAA regulations.

Audio tapes will be stored in a locked file cabinet in a locked office. Interview transcriptions will be stored on a password protected laptop with encrypted software.

- 2. Will any of the following identifiers be collected?
 - X Names
 - X All geographic subdivisions smaller than a State, including: street address, city, county, precinct, zip codes
 - X Telephone numbers
 - ☐ Fax numbers



- □ Social Security numbers
- X Medical record numbers
- Health plan beneficiary numbers
- Account numbers

All elements of dates (except year) for dates related to an individual, including: birth date, admission date, discharge date, date of death, all ages over 89 and all elements of dates (including year) indicative of such age, except that such ages and elements may be aggregated into a single category of age 90 or older

- Certificate/license numbers
- U Vehicle identifiers and serial numbers, including license plate numbers

	Device	identifiers	and	serial	numbers
--	--------	-------------	-----	--------	---------

- Universal Resource Locators (URLs)
- LI Internet Protocol (IP) address numbers
- Biometric identifiers, including finger and voiceprints
- ☐ Full face photographic images and any comparable images
- Any other unique identifying numbers, characteristics, or codes

These identifiers will be used for screening and will be disposed of after the interview is coded on the pro forma (Appendix 6)

Other potentially identifying information to be collected:

X Audiotapes

- □ Videotapes
- ☐ Faces (focus groups, photographs or other way that an individual would be physically recognized)
- Potential for identification from the bulk of the information, even if direct identifiers are not collected (deductive disclosure).
- **3.** If applicable, what methods and procedures will be used to safeguard the confidentiality and security of the identifiable study data and the storage media indicated above during and after the participant's participation in the study?

Do all portable devices contain encryption software? X Yes \Box No

4. How will the research data be collected, recorded and stored?

Audio recordings will be stored in a locked cabinet in a locked office.

- 5. How will the digital data be stored?
 - CD
 DVD
 Flash Drive
 Portable Hard Drive

 Secured Server
 X
 Laptop Computer
 Desktop Computer

 X
 Audiotaping
 Videotaping
 Handwritten notes
 - X Other: The data will also be backed up by the Lancaster University server.
- 6. If applicable, how will transfer of data to Yale be completed? What will be done with the data when the research is completed? Are there plans to destroy the identifiable data or the link to personal identifiers? If yes, describe how, by whom and when identifiers will be destroyed. If no, describe how the data and/or identifiers will be secured.

No. Interview data (audiotapes, transcripts) will be destroyed by the PI 10 years after the study is complete in compliance with HIPAA procedures. The data will be maintained for 10 years as required by the UK and Lancaster University protocol.

 Will a Certificate of <u>Confidentiality</u> be needed? (See also the NIH Certificate of Confidentiality Kiosk, <u>http://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/coc/index.htm</u>)

No

SECTION VII: POTENTIAL RISKS AND BENEFITS

1. **Risks:** Describe the reasonably foreseeable risks, including risks to participant privacy, discomforts, or inconveniences associated with participants participating in the research. *Note:* <u>All</u> studies have the potential for risk, if not physical, there may be psychological, reputational, or financial risks or risks to breach of confidentiality.

Participants will be asked to recall experiences that may be emotionally painful, such as loss of function, grief or loss of independence. Also, participants may be comprised of members of a vulnerable populations of older frail adults who may be at risk of fatigue during interviewing.

Minimizing Risks: Describe the manner in which the above-mentioned risks will be minimized.

The population described for this study are likely vulnerable due to conditions of frailty, potential end stage disease and comorbidities. These conditions may affect the stamina of the participants to endure long, in-depth interviews due to fatigue. Steps will be taken to protect participants. The interviews will be approximately 60 minutes in duration. The researcher will ask the participant if they are able to continue should the participant shows signs of fatigue. If the participant feels tired the interview will be postponed and continued at a later time.

In addition to fatigue the participant will be asked about experiences which may be uncomfortable for the patient to recall. The researcher is a skilled interviewer who is able to discern when patients have discomfort with a topic. The researcher will stop the interview should the participant become upset and will ask frequently during the interview about the participant's comfort level. If the participant says they feel upset, they will be reminded that they may discontinue at anytime.

In addition, this protocol presents minimal risks to the subjects and Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others (UPIRSOs), including adverse events, are not anticipated. In the unlikely event that such occur, Reportable Events (which are events that are serious or life- threatening and unanticipated (or anticipated but occurring with a greater frequency than expected) and possibly, probably, or definitely related) or Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others that may require a temporary or permanent interruption of study activities will be reported immediately (if possible), followed by a written report within 5 calendar days of the Principal Investigator becoming aware of the event to the IRB (using the appropriate forms from the website) and any appropriate funding and regulatory agencies. The investigator will apprise fellow investigators and study personnel of all UPIRSOs and adverse events that occur during the conduct of this research project. The PI will notify Yale and Lancaster faculty, the IRB and the by email. The protocol's research monitors, which are comprised of the Yale and Lancaster University faculty and Yale's Data and Safety Monitoring Committee (DSMC) will be informed of any adverse event in which the participant becomes agitated or distraught resulting in withdrawal from the study, requiring medication or counseling within 5 days of the event becoming known to the principal investigator.

Potential reportable events may include a participant becoming violent, or agitated to the point of requiring medication.

2. Data and Safety Monitoring Plan: All studies require the inclusion of a Data and Safety Monitoring Plan (DSMP) with an explicit statement of overall risks (e.g., minimal, greater than minimal/moderate, or high), a means to address attribution and grading of adverse events and a description of procedures for monitoring the ongoing progress of the research and reporting adverse events. The Data and Safety Monitoring Plan should describe how the principal investigator intends to provide ongoing supervision and evaluation of the activities of the study including whether appropriate progress is being made. It should document the procedures and means to protect the welfare and safety of subjects and protect the integrity of the data.

The plan must include provisions for data review and performance of safety reviews, at a specified frequency, as well as the plan for reporting to the HSC and/or other internal or external organizations. When participating in a multi-site study, the Yale principal investigator must indicate how safety reports and/or reporting of serious adverse events from other sites will be provided to the Yale HSC.

Include an appropriate Data and Safety Monitoring Plan (DSMP) based on the investigator's risk assessment stated below. (Note: the HSC will make the final determination of the risk to subjects.).

a. What is your assessment of the overall risk level for subjects participating in this study?

Minimal Risk:

ï participant may become fatigued easily

- i participant may recall frightening, sad or traumatic events
- b. If children are involved, what is your assessment of the overall risk level for the children participating in this study?

N/A

 c. Copy, paste, and then tailor an appropriate Data and Safety Monitoring Plan from http://www.yale.edu/hrpp/forms-templates/biomedical.html for

Minimal Risk DSMP

The principal investigator is responsible for monitoring the data, assuring protocol compliance, and conducting the safety reviews at the specified frequency of once quarterly. The review will be conducted by the PI under the supervision of the Yale faculty and Lancaster University faculty.

During the review process the principal investigator will evaluate whether the study should continue unchanged, require modification/amendment, or close to enrollment.

The principal investigator, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) or the International Observatory of End of Life Care at Lancaster University and the Safety Monitoring Committee (DSMC)] have the authority to stop or suspend the study or require modifications.

This protocol presents minimal risks to the subjects and Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others (UPIRSOs), including adverse events, are not anticipated. In the unlikely event that such events occur, Reportable Events (which are events that are serious or lifethreatening and unanticipated (or anticipated but occurring with a greater frequency than expected) and possibly, probably, or definitely related) or Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks to Subjects or Others that may require a temporary or permanent interruption of study activities will be reported immediately (if possible), followed by a written report within 5 calendar days of the Principal Investigator becoming aware of the event to the IRB (using the appropriate forms from the website) and any appropriate funding and regulatory agencies. The investigator will apprise fellow investigators and study personnel of all UPIRSOs and adverse events that occur during the conduct of this research project. The PI will notify Yale and Lancaster faculty, the IRB and the DSMC by email. The protocol's research monitors, which are comprised of the Yale and Lancaster University faculty and DSMC will be informed of any adverse event in which the participant becomes agitated or distraught resulting in withdrawal from the study, requiring medication or counseling within 5 days of the event becoming known to the principal investigator.

- a. For multi-site studies for which the Yale PI serves as the lead investigator: N/A
- 1. **Potential Benefits:** Identify any benefits that may be reasonably expected to result from the research, either to the participant(s) or to society at large. (*Payment of participants is not considered a benefit in this context of the risk benefit assessment.*)

Better understanding of this populations experiences, thoughts and perceptions regarding causes of 30-day readmissions may result in better interventions and greater support for this population.

This may lead to better patient outcomes and higher quality of life for this population.

SECTION VIII: RESEARCH ALTERNATIVES AND ECONOMIC

1. Alternatives: What other alternatives, if any, are available to the study participants outside of the research?

N/A

Payments for Participation (Economic Considerations): Describe any payments that will be made to participants, if any, the amount and timing of payments and the conditions for receiving this compensation (if applicable). If you plan to hold a drawing, be sure to include the following on any consent or recruitment materials mentioning the lottery: 1) the value of the prize; 2) the sponsor of the prize (this cannot be a federal funding source);
 3) the odds of winning; 4) that there are no restrictions to winning.

N/A

3. **Costs for Participation (Economic Considerations):** Clearly describe the participant's costs associated with participation in the research, if any, and the interventions or procedures of the study that will be provided at no cost to participants.

N/A

SECTION IX: PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR AGREEMENT

•

•

As the	e principal investigator of this researce	ch project, I certify that:
	The information provided in this appl I assume full responsibility for the conduct of the research. Subject safety will be of paramount participants' rights and welfare. The research will be performed accor all federal, State and local laws, as wel the protection of human participants. All members of the research team wil I will obtain approval for this research initiating the study or any change and to to the expiration date of any approval to its expiration I will report to the HSC any unanticip I am in compliance with the requirem the principal investigator of this proje I will identify a qualified successor sh facilitate a smooth transfer of investig	ication is complete and accurate. protection of human participants and the proper concern, and every effort will be made to protect rding to ethical principles and in compliance with l as institutional regulations and policies regarding l be kept apprised of research goals. h study and any subsequent revisions prior to my l will obtain continuing approval of this study prior period or submit a request to close the study prior eated problems involving risk to participants. nents set by the University and qualify to serve as ct or I have a faculty advisor. nould I cease my role as principal investigator and gator responsibilities, if applicable
	PI Name (PRINT)	Date
	Signature	

SECTION X: FACULTY ADVISOR AGREEMENT

As the **faculty advisor** of this research project, I certify that:

- The information provided in this application is complete and accurate.
- This project has scientific value and merit and that the student or trainee investigator has the necessary resources to complete the project and achieve the aims.
- I will train the student investigator in matters of appropriate research compliance, protection of human subjects and proper conduct of research.
- The research will be performed according to ethical principles and in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, as well as institutional regulations and policies regarding the protection of human subjects.
- The student investigator will obtain approval for this research study and any subsequent revisions prior to initiating the study or revision and will obtain continuing approval prior to the expiration of any approval period.
- The student investigator will report to the HIC any serious injuries and/or other unanticipated problems involving risk to participants.
- I am in compliance with the requirements set forth by the <u>University</u> and qualify to serve as the faculty advisor of this project.
- I assume all of the roles and responsibilities of a Principal Investigator even though the student may be called a PI.

Jennifer Kapo MD

Signature

For School of Medicine Applications only:A

SECTION XI: DEPARTMENT CHAIR'S ASSURANCE STATEMENT			
Do you know of any real or apparent institutional conflict of interest (e.g., Yale ownership of			
a sponsoring company, patents, licensure) associated with this research project?			
\Box Yes (provide a description of that interest in a separate letter addressed to the HIC.)			
□ No			
As Chair, do you have any real or apparent protocol-specific conflict of interest between			
yourself and the sponsor of the research project, or its competitor or any interest in any			
intervention and/or method tested in the project that might compromise this research project?			
\Box Yes (provide a description of that interest in a separate letter addressed to the HIC)			
□ No			
I assure the HIC that the principal investigator and all members of the research team are qualified by education, training, licensure and/or experience to assume participation in the conduct of this research trial. I also assure that the principal investigator has departmental support and sufficient resources to conduct this trial appropriately.			
Chair Name (PRINT) and Signature Date			
Department			

SECTION XII: YNHH HUMAN SUBJECTS PROTECTION ADMINISTRATOR ASSURANCE STATEMENT

Required when the study is conducted solely at YNHH by YNHH health care providers.

As Human Subject Protection Administrator (HSPA) for YNHH, I certify that:

- I have read a copy of the protocol and approve it being conducted at YNHH.
- I agree to notify the IRB if I am aware of any real or apparent institutional conflict of interest.
- The principal investigator of this study is qualified to serve as P.I. and has the support of the hospital for this research project.

YNHH HSPA Name (PRINT) and Signature

Date

	For HIC Use Only	
Date Approved	Human Investigation Committee Signature	
This protocol is valid throug	h	

References

- ALBRECHT, J. S., GRUBER-BALDINI, A. L., HIRSHON, J. M., BROWN, C. H., GOLDBERG,
 R., ROSENBERG, J. H., COMER, A. C. & FURUNO, J. P. 2014. Depressive symptoms and hospital readmission in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 62, 495-9.
- ANTONOVSKY, A. 1979. *Health, Stress, and Coping,* San Francisco, Jossey-Bass. ANTONOVSKY, A. 1987. *Unraveling the Mystery of Health,* San Franciso, Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- BJORVATN, A. 2013. Hospital readmission among elderly patients. *Eur J Health Econ*, 14, 809-20.
- BOGAISKY, M. & DEZIECK, L. 2015. Early Hospital Readmission of Nursing Home Residents and Community-Dwelling Elderly Adults Discharged from the Geriatrics Service of an Urban Teaching Hospital: Patterns and Risk Factors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63, 548-552 5p.
- CABRE, M., SERRA-PRAT, M., FORCE, L., ALMIRALL, J., PALOMERA, E. & CLAVE, P.
 2014. Oropharyngeal dysphagia is a risk factor for readmission for pneumonia in the very elderly persons: observational prospective study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 69, 330-7.
- CMS. 2016. Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP) [Online]. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, United States Government. Available: https://www.cms.gov/medicare/medicare-fee-for-servicepayment/acuteinpatientpps/readmissions-reduction-program.html [Accessed February 24, 2016 2016].

- FISHER, S. R., KUO, Y. F., SHARMA, G., RAJI, M. A., KUMAR, A., GOODWIN, J. S., OSTIR,G. V. & OTTENBACHER, K. J. 2013. Mobility after hospital discharge as a marker for30-day readmission. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 68, 805-10.
- GARCIA-PEREZ, L., LINERTOVA, R., LORENZO-RIERA, A., VAZQUEZ-DIAZ, J. R., DUQUE-GONZALEZ, B. & SARRIA-SANTAMERA, A. 2011. Risk factors for hospital readmissions in elderly patients: a systematic review. *QJM*, 104, 639-51.
- GOLDENHEIM, A., OATES, D., PARKER, V., RUSSELL, M., WINTER, M. & SILLIMAN, R.
 A. 2014. Rehospitalization of older adults discharged to home hospice care. *J Palliat Med*, 17, 841-4.
- HAIN, D. J., TAPPEN, R., DIAZ, S. & OUSLANDER, J. G. 2012. Characteristics of older adults rehospitalized within 7 and 30 days of discharge: implications for nursing practice. J Gerontol Nurs, 38, 32-44.
- ISLAM, T., O'CONNELL, B. & HAWKINS, M. 2014. Factors associated with transfers from healthcare facilities among readmitted older adults with chronic illness. *Aust Health Rev*, 38, 354-62.
- KNICKMAN, J. R. 2002. The 2030 Problem: Caring for Aging Baby Boomers. *Health Servies Research*, 37, 849-884.
- MEIER, D. E. 2015. Measuring Quality of Care for the Sickest Patients. *Harvard Business Review*. MORANDI, A., BELLELLI, G., VASILEVSKIS, E. E., TURCO, R., GUERINI, F.,
- TORPILLIESI, T., SPECIALE, S., EMILIANI, V., GENTILE, S., SCHNELLE, J. & TRABUCCHI, M. 2013. Predictors of rehospitalization among elderly patients admitted to a rehabilitation hospital: the role of polypharmacy, functional status, and length of stay. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*, 14, 761-7.

- NAVARRO, A. E., ENGUIDANOS, S. & WILBER, K. H. 2012. Identifying risk of hospital readmission among Medicare aged patients: an approach using routinely collected data. *Home Health Care Serv Q*, 31, 181-95.
- PAVON, J. M., ZHAO, Y., MCCONNELL, E. & HASTINGS, S. N. 2014. Identifying Risk of Readmission in Hospitalized Elderly Adults Through Inpatient Medication Exposure. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62, 1116-1121 6p.
- PUGH, J. A., WANG, C.-P., ESPINOZA, S. E., NOËL, P. H., BOLLINGER, M., AMUAN, M.,
 FINLEY, E. & PUGH, M. J. 2014. Influence of Frailty-Related Diagnoses, High-Risk
 Prescribing in Elderly Adults, and Primary Care Use on Readmissions in Fewer than 30
 Days for Veterans Aged 65 and Older. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62, 291-298 8p.
- ROBINSON, T. & KERSE, N. 2012. Medical readmissions amongst older New Zealanders: a descriptive analysis. *N Z Med J*, 125, 24-34.
- SIEDMAN, I. 2013. Interviewing as Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Sciences, Columbia University, New York, Teacher's College Press.
- SILVERMAN, D. 2010. Doing Qualitative Research, London, Sage Publications Ltd.
- THORNE, S. 2008. Interpretive Description, Walnut Creek, California, Left Coast Press, Inc.
- THORNE, S., KIRKHAM, S.R., O'FLYNN-MAGEE, K. 2004. The Analytic Challenge in Interpretive Description. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 3, 1-11.
- THORNE, S. S. 1997. Interpretive description: a noncategorical qualitative alternative for developing nursing knowledge. *Research in nursing & health*, 20, 169-177.

YOO, J. W., JABEEN, S., BAJWA, T., JR., KIM, S. J., LEANDER, D., HASAN, L., PUNKE, J., SORYAL, S. & KHAN, A. 2015. Hospital readmission of skilled nursing facility residents: a systematic review. *Res Gerontol Nurs*, 8, 148-56.

Appendices

- Appendix 1: Assessment of Capacity to Consent
- Appendix 2: Participant and Information Sheet
- Appendix 3: Consent for Participation in a Research Project/Audiotaping/HIPAA
- Appendix 4: Demographic Pro Forma
- Appendix 5: Interview Guide
Appendix 14: Yale Letter of Approval

Yale University	Institutional Review Board	Telephone: 203-785-4688
	150 Munson St 3rd Floor	Fax: 203-785-2847
	P.O. Box 208327	
	New Haven CT, 06520-8327	http://www.yale.edu/hrpp

То:	Rebecca Gagne Henderson	
From:	Yale University Institutional Review Board	
Date:	09/23/2016	
HIC/HSC Protocol#:	1608018304	
Study Title:	Making Sense of 30-Day Readmissions: Experiences of Older Adults	
Submission Type:	Response to Revisions Requested for Initial Protocol Approval	
IRB Action	Expedited Approval	
Approval Date:	09/23/2016	
Expiration Date:	09/22/2017	

The IRB has reviewed your response to the specific minor revisions requested of you via expedited review for the above mentioned amendment.

The IRB has determined that these revisions satisfy the request and therefore approves this research protocol. This review meets approval criteria set forth in 45 CFR 46.111. The approval of this protocol is considered valid through the Expiration Date noted above.

Review Comments:

- The HSC has determined that this protocol presents minimal risk to subjects.
- The Committee finds that informed consent can be waived for this study for recruitment purposes only per federal regulation 45 CFR 46.116(d). This part of the regulations states that 1) this research involves no more than minimal risk to the subjects, 2) the waiver or alteration will not adversely affect the rights and welfare of the subjects, 3) the research could not practicably be carried out without the waiver and 4) whenever appropriate the subjects will be provided with additional pertinent information after participation.
- A HIPAA waiver has been approved via expedited IRB review for [access to and] use of PHI listed in the enclosed application for recruitment purposes only. The IRB finds that the use or disclosure of protected health information involves no more than a minimal risk to the privacy of individuals, based on (1) an adequate plan to protect the identifiers from improper use and disclosure; (2) an adequate plan to destroy the identifiers at the earliest opportunity consistent with conduct of the research, unless there is a health or research justification for retaining the identifiers or such retention is otherwise required by law; and (3) adequate written assurances that the protected health information will not be reused or disclosed to any other person or entity, except as required by law, for authorized oversight of the research study, or for other research for which the use or disclosure of protected health information would be permitted by this subpart; The IRB also finds that the research could not practicably be conducted without access to and use or the protected health information. HIPAA regulations require that accounting logs be maintained when researchers access

patient records under a waiver of authorization including those approved for recruitment purposes. You are thereby reminded of your obligation to create the log. For further information on maintaining logs and on the accounting of disclosures, please see hipaa.yale.edu.

- Please be advised that Yale-New Haven Hospital and Yale Medical Group have implemented a new reporting request process. Requests for medical records should be made through JDAT as described at http://medicine.yale.edu/ycci/oncore/availableservices/datarequests/datarequests.aspx.
 YNHH and Yale University consider it a violation of patient privacy for research personnel to review medical records of patients who have opted out of research use of their records. All record review requests should therefore be through JDAT.
- The HSC acknowledges that IRB approval is being sought at University of Lancaster. The PI is reminded to submit a copy of the IRB approval to the Yale HSC once received.
- The HSC acknowledges receipt of and approves the following documents: HSC protocol application, informed consent form, HIPAA Research Authorization Form and information sheet.
- The HSC acknowledges receipt and review of the following documents: Demographic Pro Forma, interview guide, research proposal, scanned signature pages (2) and training certificates for PI (7).

<u>Amendments:</u> If you wish to change any aspect of this study, such as the study procedures or processes, the informed consent document(s), recruitment activities, or wish to add or remove investigators or key study personnel, you must communicate your requested changes to the IRB using the appropriate form located at http://www.yale.edu/hrpp. Any changes must be approved by the IRB prior to implementation.

<u>Request for Reapproval:</u> It is the investigator's responsibility to obtain reapproval of ongoing research prior to the Expiration Date. Please submit the request for reapproval form at least two months prior to the expiration date to allow for reapproval processing and review.

*Should the research activities no longer involve human participants and you are only conducting data analysis of de-identified data (with no link to identifiers), IRB approval is no longer required. However, the IRB does require notification via submission of a closure form.

<u>Request to Close:</u> When the study procedures and the data analysis of identifiable data are fully complete, the Request to Close form must be completed and sent to the IRB requesting that the study be closed. Investigators should attach a copy of the study findings. Abstracts or publications satisfy this findings requirement.

<u>Adverse Events/UPIRSOs:</u> Serious, unanticipated, and related adverse events, and unanticipated problems involving risk to subjects or others must be reported generally within 5 days of the PI becoming aware of the event (see Policy 710: <u>Reporting Unanticipated Problems Involving Risks</u> to Subjects or Others, including Adverse Events).

Please keep this memo with your copy of the approved protocol documents.

278

Appendix 15: FHMREC Letter of Approval



Applicant: Rebecca Gagne Henderson

Supervisor: Catherine Walshe

Department: Health Research

FHMREC Reference: FHMREC16

17 October 2016

Dear Rebecca

Re: Making Sense of 30-Day Readmissions: Experiences of Older Adults

Thank you for submitting your research ethics application for the above project for review by the **Faculty of Health and Medicine Research Ethics Committee (FHMREC)**. The application was recommended for approval by FHMREC, and on behalf of the Chair of the Committee, I can confirm that approval has been granted for this research project.

As principal investigator your responsibilities include:

- ensuring that (where applicable) all the necessary legal and regulatory requirements in order to conduct the research are met, and the necessary licenses and approvals have been obtained;

- reporting any ethics-related issues that occur during the course of the research or arising from the research to the Research Ethics Officer at the email address below (e.g. unforeseen ethical issues, complaints about the conduct of the research, adverse reactions such as extreme distress);
- submitting details of proposed substantive amendments to the protocol to the Research Ethics Officer for approval.

Please contact me if you have any queries or require further information.

Tel:- 01542 592838

Email:- fhmresearchsupport@lancaster.ac.uk

Yours sincerely,

Jone Hanis

Dr Diane Hopkins

Research Integrity and Governance Officer, Secretary to FHMREC.

Appendix 16: Full List of Codes

ATLAS.ti Report

Older Adults and 30 day readmissions

Codes

Report created by Joseph Henderson on Jan 19, 2020

\circ 30-day readmission

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ acceptance

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Active Life Style

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ activities of daily living

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ acute illness

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• adding resources

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

o adequate resources

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ adherence

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

• adjusting

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

• ADL

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ advocate

Created: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ after discharge

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ after life

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ alone sometimes

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

o ama

Created: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ ambulance

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ ambulation

Created: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ amputation

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

o anger

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

o anguish

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

o anticipatory loss

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ artificial life support

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

o assisted living

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ attitude

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ avoidable

Created: 3/27/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/27/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ avoidance

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/24/19 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ bad choices

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ baseline change

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ bed ridden

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Being Cared for/Support

Created: 4/20/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

• bereavement

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

• better care

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• big picture comprehension

Created: 5/20/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/20/19 by Joseph Henderson

• Big Picture Conversation, unclear

Created: 2/4/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/19 by Joseph Henderson

• Blame/Guilt

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ blessed

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ bravado

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Burden to others

Created: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Burdent to me

Created: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ can't remember

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

caregiver illness

Created: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Caregiving

Created: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Caring/supporting others

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

• changing provider

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Changing Treatments

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ choices

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ clinical relationship/trust

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• CNA

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ code status

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ comfort

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Communication in health care system

Created: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

• communication with nurses - inadequate.

Created: 3/24/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/24/18 by Joseph Henderson

o communication with provider - inadequate

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• comp vs incomp

Created: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ companionship

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

Comprehensibility

Created: 4/20/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

8-1-18 I had coded any thing regarding the patient's understanding of their circumstances as comprehensibility. After analyzing for awhile began to notice that this code needed to be divided into Comprehensibility and Incomprehensibility.

While some may describe their functionality they have little to no insight of what this means in the big picture.

• Comprehensibility vs incomprehensibility

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Condition Changes/Set Back

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

Researcher could have listened more, allowed patient to expand upon "that's enough for me"

\circ confusion/delerium

Created: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ conservatorship

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ continuity in message

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ continuity of care

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ control

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ coping

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

Comment: One day at a time

• Coping Mechanisms

Created: 1/4/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/4/19 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ crisis

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o culture

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Death/Dying

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ decline

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

• dehydration

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ Denial

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Dependence

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Depression/Apathy

Created: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Destiny

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ diagnosed

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ diet restrictions

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

• dignity

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

o disappointment

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 $\circ \, \text{discomfort}$

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ disoriented

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ distrust of health care

Created: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

• dizzy

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Doing what I can

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ don't wait

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Driving

Created: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ dual coverage

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

o dysphagia

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ education/knowledge

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ effect on lifestyle

Created: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

Health decline has not affected lifestyle

\circ emergent

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ emotional

Created: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ empathy

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• EMR Dictates Care

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Encounter w/Healthcare Transistions

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Encounter w/Healthcare Transistions - good

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ endurance

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ ESRD

Created: 3/27/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/27/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ expectations

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ experience

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ falls

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

o family not near

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ family strife

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Fatigue/weakness

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Fear

Created: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson

• feeling alone

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ feeling sick

Created: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ felt good

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ fever

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ fight the disease/illness

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

Financial Security

Created: 4/20/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

• First hospitalization

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

• forgeting

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ fracture

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Frailty

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• frequent flyer

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

• frequent hospitalizations

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ frequent infections

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ frequent intervention

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• frequent surgeries

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ friendly

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ friends

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ frustration

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Functionality

Created: 5/24/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/24/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Functionality returning

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ fungal infection

Created: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Future

Created: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson

• get to you

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Getting along

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Getting Better

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Getting Old

Created: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Getting Sick/Weaker

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/19/20 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Goals

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

○ God/Fate/Luck

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Going Home

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

○ good doctors/medicine

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ good life

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Grateful

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

o grief

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ grooming

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

• happier dead

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

o hard/difficult

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

• healing

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

• healthcare literacy

Created: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson

• helping others

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ home alone

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Home Services

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson

o homeostasis, no

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Hope

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

• hospitalizations in one year

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

Comment: 5 x in 6 mos

 \circ house calls

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ humor

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• hygiene

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

∘ ICU

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ important

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ in the moment/no life review

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o inability to participate in usual activities

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ inadequate resources

Created: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Incomprehensibility

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

it is true that patient has HIV, but this is under control, and she is likely to die from her ESRD and CHF.

• Independence

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Independence vs. Dependence

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ ineffective coping

Created: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ infection

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ injury

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o inomprehensibility

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

o insight

Created: 8/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ Insurance

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Intellectualization

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ irreverent

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Joy/Pleasure

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

◦ keep your boots on

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ kelly

Created: 2/26/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/26/19 by Joseph Henderson

\circ lack of communication

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ lack of improvement

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ lack of indepence

Created: 1/2/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/2/19 by Joseph Henderson

○ lack of Independence

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

o lack of insight

Created: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/23/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ lack of trust

Created: 3/22/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/22/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Length of Hospital Stay

Created: 5/24/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/24/17 by Joseph Henderson

Length of Illness

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ length of rehab stay

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Length of time at home

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ letting go

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ life fleeting

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ life review

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

• life threatening

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ likeable

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Limitations of Medicine

Created: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ lives with family

Created: 3/24/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/24/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ living

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

• living alone

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

• living will

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ living with family

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ long term care

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ longevity of marriage

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Loss

Created: 5/11/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ loss of appetite

Created: 11/27/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/27/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ loss of interest

Created: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ loss track of time

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ love/relations

Created: 11/30/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/30/17 by Joseph Henderson

o love/relations/family

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Low Health Literacy

Created: 5/26/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/26/19 by Joseph Henderson

Manageability

Created: 5/13/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

Manageability undertermined by unknown.

Fear r/t unknown and

but wife caring and advocating

many appointments with provider

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• marriage/life partner

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• medical history

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ medical van

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ medicare

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• medication affordability

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Medication Management

Created: 11/27/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/27/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ medication side effect

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ meeting needs

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ memories

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ misdiagnosed

Created: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

o mistakes perceived

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

• more energy

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• mortality

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• most of my life

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ moving

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

• multiple hospitalizations

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• my time

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ nausea

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ neuro

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

• never considered mortality

Created: 9/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

• no changing treatment

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ no control

Created: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson

o no family

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ no interest

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

• no reconciliation/no forgiveness

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• no rehospitalization

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ No support

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 7/13/19 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ non-adherence

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ not able to do what I did before

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ not an option

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ not elective

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Not getting better

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ not home bound

Created: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson

• not manageing

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

• not managing

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

• not understanding Limitations

Created: 5/26/19 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/26/19 by Joseph Henderson

• not working

Created: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ not worried/anxious

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ nursing assistant

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• nursing care

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Nursing Home/Rehab

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ nutrition

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ obligation to others

Created: 3/19/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/19/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ oblivious in youth

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

o oxygen dependent

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

o past

Created: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/2/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ patient centered care

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ peace

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

o pets

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ pharmacist

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ physical therapist

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• placating?

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Place of death

Created: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ plan of care

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ planning

Created: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Pneumonia

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

o polypharmacy

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• potential crisis

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

powerless

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

o prayer

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o prepared

Created: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/21/18 by Joseph Henderson

• prevention of rehospitalization

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Pride

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• priorities

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

• Privacy

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

• private pay

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ procedure

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ procedure side effect

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ procedures

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ prognosis

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ progression of disease

Created: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Projected incomprehensibility

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ provider

Created: 10/1/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/5/19 by Joseph Henderson

o quality of life

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

readmissions

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o ready

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ ready or not

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• recovering from depression

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ recovering from surgery

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ recurrence infection

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ recurrence of ischemic colitis

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ refusing resources

Created: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ regrets

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o rehospitalization

Created: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/25/17 by Joseph Henderson

• rejecting resources

Created: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/17/18 by Joseph Henderson

o religion/faith

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ remission/cure

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ resolving grief

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Resources

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ retirement

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ return within days

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ risks and benefits

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ ritual

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ role change

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ sadness

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ sale home

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• same diagnosis

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ self care

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ senior living

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ sepsis

Created: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ seriously ill

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

o sexuality

Created: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/13/18 by Joseph Henderson

o shakey

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ shame/embarassed

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ signs of exacerbation

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ Snow Bird

Created: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/18/18 by Joseph Henderson

• so drugged

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• social worker

Created: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

• societal changes

Created: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ something to live for

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ specialist

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• spirituality

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/29/19 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

Fear without understanding Meaningfullness

no forgiveness - no comprehensibility = not understanding the urgency for reconciliation

Merged comment from Meaning on 9/5/18, 11:16 AM

Patient is unable to make meaning due to incomprehensibility. While he is able to articulate each problem individually, he is unable to discern the severity of his prognosis. He has yet to have someone with knowledge and experience illustrate the big picture meaning of his situation.

• spirtuality/God

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Status Quo

Created: 12/3/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 12/3/17 by Joseph Henderson
• staying home

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ stop eating

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

• stopping treatment

Created: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ suicide

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o surgery

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ susceptible

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

o sx

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

Symptoms

Created: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/12/17 by Joseph Henderson

• System inadequacies

Created: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

• telling her story

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o testing/diagnosing

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ tired

Created: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/14/18 by Joseph Henderson

• too sick

Created: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/7/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ tradition

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• treatment

Created: 12/13/16 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/2/19 by Joseph Henderson

Comment:

Health issues which complicate wellness. Insight that even in the inmcomprehensibility that outcomes may have been better if earlier attention at tiem of dx

○ treatment failure

Created: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/29/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ treatment successful

Created: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/28/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ treatments

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• trial/experimental

Created: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ trials

Created: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/29/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ turn for the worse

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

○ unavoidable

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

o unaware

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

unexpected

Created: 11/30/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 11/30/17 by Joseph Henderson

$\circ \ Unknown$

Created: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/15/17 by Joseph Henderson

o unmanageable

Created: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson

o unsure

Created: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

o urgency

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

Usefullness/Work

Created: 4/20/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

• vague communication

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ value of health care

Created: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/4/18 by Joseph Henderson

• Very ill

Created: 4/20/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 4/23/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ veteran

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

• visiting nurse

Created: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ vulnerable

Created: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/5/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ waiting for death

Created: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/12/18 by Joseph Henderson

• wake up call

Created: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 8/16/18 by Joseph Henderson

 \circ weight loss

Created: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 3/6/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Wheelchair

Created: 9/20/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 9/20/18 by Joseph Henderson

• will power

Created: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/31/18 by Joseph Henderson

\circ Wish

Created: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 5/16/17 by Joseph Henderson

\circ wonders of medicine

Created: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 2/3/18 by Joseph Henderson

◦ worry

Created: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson, Modified: 1/30/18 by Joseph Henderson

Glossary

The definitions of terminology used in this thesis are presented in this glossary. The following are definitions of healthcare policy about early readmissions followed by definitions of concepts found within the theoretical framework of this thesis:

- 30-Day Readmission A readmission to any acute care hospital within 30 days of discharge from an acute care hospital.
- 2. Affordable Care Act (ACA) –Health reform act passed by the 111th Congress and signed into law by President Barack Obama in March 2010. Provisions included expanding coverage to health insurance through mandated purchase, implementation of measures to improve quality and decrease the cost of healthcare and to eliminate denial of health coverage due to "pre-existing conditions" (Healthcare.gov, 2018).
- 3. Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Service (CMS) Medicare is the U.S. government healthcare benefit for people over the age of 65, and the disabled, or those who have End Stage Renal Disease. The benefit was established in 1964 and is funded through payroll taxes and federal funding. Medicaid was added to this benefit in 1965 for those who live at 133% of the poverty level (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2017a).
- 4. **Frailty Syndrome** the presence of three of the five following phenotype criteria demonstrating compromised energetics which according to Fried et al include: low grip strength, low energy, slowed walking speed, low physical activity, and/or unintentional weight loss (Fried et al., 2001). It is important to know that there are other concepts and definitions which describe frailty as a phenomenon. This definition was chosen as it is the working definition for the phenomenon at the hospital at which the study was conducted.

- 5. Older Adult An Adult aged 65 years or older. There is no definitive age which qualifies one as an older adult. Some articles say 60 years or older and others define it at 65 years or older (Harvey et al., 2013). Sixty-five was chosen as it is the age at which Americans are eligible for Medicare Insurance (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2017a). There will be further discussion of this choice in the following chapter.
- 6. Rehospitalization Reduction Program (HRRP) The Affordable Care Act (ACA) established the Hospital Readmission Reduction Program (HRRP) in 2012. Under this program, hospitals are financially penalized if they have higher than expected risk-standardized 30-day readmission rates for acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, and pneumonia. It has since expanded the number of conditions which are penalized for a 30-day readmission. A hospital can be denied reimbursement for a 30-day readmission as well as a loss of up to 3% of annual reimbursement for exceeding a predetermined limit of readmission events (McIlvennan et al., 2015).

This thesis will adopt Antonovsky's construct of Sense of Coherence as the theoretical framework and its concepts of Comprehensibility, Manageability, and Meaningfulness from his Theory of Salutogenesis (Antonovsky, 1979, 1987). The definitions of the construct and concepts within this framework are defined below:

- Salutogenesis Antonovsky describes Salutogenesis as holistic well-being. He rejects the concept of health being the "absence of disease" and sees this concept as a description of the relationship between health, stress and coping (Antonovsky, 1979).
- 2. Sense of Coherence Antonovsky defines Sense of Coherence as the global orientation that expresses the extent to which one has a pervasive, enduring though dynamic feeling of confidence that (1) the stimuli deriving from one's internal and external environments

in the course of living are structured, predictable, and explicable; (2) the resources are available to one to meet the demands posed by these stimuli; and (3) these demands are challenges, worthy of investment and engagement (Antonovsky, 1987).

- 3. **Comprehensibility** the extent to which one perceives the stimuli that confront deriving from the internal and external environments, as making cognitive sense, as information that is ordered, consistent, structured, and clear, rather than as noise—chaotic, disordered, random, accidental, and inexplicable (Antonovsky, 1979).
- Manageability the extent to which one perceives that resources that are at one's disposal are adequate to meet the demand posed by the stimuli that are encountered (Antonovsky, 1987).
- 5. **Meaningfulness** the extent to which one feels that life makes sense emotionally, that at least some of the problems and demands posed by living are worth investing energy in, are worthy of commitment and engagement and are welcomed challenges, rather than burdens that one would much rather do without (Antonovsky, 1979).
- General Resistance Resources Antonovky defines General Resistance Resources as all social supports, genetic disposition and experiential events which impact the way an individual responds to a crisis (Antonovsky, 1979).